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RESULTS

Revenues

Gross profit/(loss)
Operating loss

(Loss)/profit attributable to:

(i) Owners of the Company
(i) Non-controlling interests
Loss per share — Basic (RMB)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total debt
Total liabilities
Equity attributable to:
(i) Owners of the Company

(if) Non-controlling interests

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND SUMMARY

LON
£/ (£8)
REBR
ATEBEERS (BR),/
a7l -
(i)  AREMEE
(i) FrHERER
sRER
—HEKX(ARE)

BEE
BER
‘el
NTEEEERER:
(i  AREREE
(i) FFERES

2018
—B-N\F

RMB'000
AR®TR

55,016
18,495
(156,578)

(164,403)
(194)

(0.0790)

2018
—2-)N\F
RMB’000
AR®TR

477,201
177,061
289,239

175,282
12,680

£

MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t+-HLEFE

2017 2016 2015 2014
“2—+F ZE-RF ZE-RF C—ET-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AR®ETFRT ARETR
43,428 57,759 66,972 183,556
11,956 9,725 (5,849) 46,352
(58,999) (44,461) (159,294) (252,746)
(56,493) (57,129) (163,792) (304,174)
162 737 (3,388) (2,930)
(0.0390) (0.0439) (0.1755) (0.3621)
EERAE
As at 31 December
R+t=A=+-H
2017 2016 2015 2014
—2—+F ZE-R F ZE-RF C—E—NF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
312,323 367,427 227,070 307,040
9.113 11,350 13,579 -
64,716 67,508 81,352 100,709
239,638 294,227 140,763 211,207
7,969 5,692 4,955 (4,876)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND SUMMARY

MBERERME

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross profits margins:
(i) Overall
(ii) Newspaper advertising
(i)~ Marketing, consulting
and printing services
(iv) Online services
(v) Television and radio advertising
(vi) Others
Operating margins
Net margins
Return on equity "
Return on assets @
Trade receivables turnover (days)
Trade payables turnover (days)
Gearing ratio

Notes:

2018
—E-N\F
ERE:

(i) 2 33.6%
(i) WEEE 57.1%

(i)  EH FAK
EN il B 7% 30.7%
(v BERE -
v BRRERESL -
vy Hift 24.3%
BENBE (284.7%)
FREE (299.3%)
RAREED (87.6%)
BEEHERQ (34.5%)
BORWFEAER (B) 46
BOENFBEABEX(H) 404
EEBRBILX 37.1%

(1) Return on equity is calculated based on (loss)/profit for the year

divided by total equity.

(2)  Return on assets is calculated based on (loss)/profit for the year

divided by total assets.
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For the year ended 31 December
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2017
—T—tF

27.7%
40.9%

24.9%

(135.9%)
(129.7%)
(22.8%)
(18.0%)
54

609
2.9%

B & -

2016
—E—RF

16.8%
(5.4%)

26.2%

77.0%
97.6%
18.8%
15.3%
52
464
3.1%

o~ o~ =~ —

2015
—Z-hF

(8.7%)
(25.1%)

7.9%
80.3%

(237.9%)
(249.6%)
(114.7%)
(73.6%)
148
241
6.0%

2014
—E-mF

25.3%
27.8%

16.8%
46.8%
51.3%

137.7%
167.3%
148.8%
100.0%
90
66
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2018, despite the increasingly complex domestic and
international political and economic environment, the Chinese
economy remained stable as the global economy recovered.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the
gross domestic product (GDP) of China reached RMB90 trillion
in 2018, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.6%. From the
perspective of industrial structure, the primary, secondary and
tertiary industries all continued to grow, with the primary industry
growing slowest and tertiary industry quickest. Risk factors and
uncertainties such as the tightening monetary policy, the US-China
trade war and the “hard Brexit” of the UK have heightened the
downward pressure on the global economy. The pace of economic
growth of China also slowed down during the year, barely

achieving the GDP growth target of 6.5%.

With the rapid development of new media and information
technology, China’s advertising industry has evolved into the era
of digital advertising. Statistics from CVSC — TNS Research (CTR)
showed that the total media advertising expenditure increased
by 9.3% year-on-year in the first half of the year, grew slower in
the second half and finally achieved a 2.9% growth rate for the
year, falling short of the 4.3% growth rate for the previous year.
With the competition of new media advertising, traditional media
including newspapers, magazines and outdoor media continued
to record negative growth, down by 30.3%, 8.6% and 14.2%,

respectively.

In contrast, new media advertising distributed through
elevator screens, movie and the Internet continued to boom.
Telecommunications, beverages, pharmaceuticals, food, and
commercial and service industries are the top five industries for
advertising expenditure, with the beverage industry recording the

highest year-on-year growth of 3.8% in advertising expenditure.
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“E-N\F BE@YHABEENEAIEE
REFE TEREREZ2HEEERERS
FREERZ RETPEBERGHBNBER
N ZE-N\FEALERLEBEGDP)EARRE
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MBR-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWEDH

In 2018, the Chinese film industry grew rapidly to become the
second largest in the world in terms of market size. According to
the statistics of the China Film Administration as of 31 December
2018, the movie box office of China for the year reached
RMB60.9 billion, representing an increase of 9.06% as compared
to last year. The total box office of domestically produced films
exceeded RMB37.9 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of

25.89% and accounting for 62.15% of the entire film market.

With the rising competitiveness of domestic productions, many
film and television companies in China sought to combine
their film and cultural content and diversified into tourism and
integrated developments, with the view to strengthening brand
images, establishing real-life experience of film viewers and
creating value and profit for the content providers to achieve

sustainable growth of the enterprise.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the twelve months ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded revenue from the principal businesses of RMB55.0
million,

gross profit for the year was RMB18.5 million (2017: RMB12.0

representing a year-on-year increase of 26.7%. The

million). During the year, the Group implemented cost-control
measures and increased the profit margin from 27.6% in 2017
to 33.6% in 2018. During the year, the net loss after taxation
was approximately RMB164.6 million (2017: RMB56.3 million),
primarily attributable to (a) higher professional fees arising from
project acquisitions; (b) increase in provision for an onerous
operating lease; and (c) fair value loss on financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NEWSPAPER ADVERTISING

The business environment remained challenging in the print media
market as the market was hit by new online media. With the
competition from new media and the Internet, the daily circulation
and the number of printed pages of Southeast Express operated
by the Group remained unsatisfactory, resulting in a decrease of
the advertising revenue from the newspaper to RMB7.0 million for
2018 (2017: RMB7.2 million). However, with the implementation
of cost control measures by the management to enhance
operational efficiency, the gross profit margin for 2018 reached
57.1% (2017: 40.9%), representing an increase of 16.2% as

compared with the previous year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERE WD

MARKETING, CONSULTING AND PRINTING
SERVICES

In 2018, many cities in China continued to adopt policies to
stabilize property price. Amidst such macro operating environment
and the consequential reduction of marketing budget by property
developers, the Group’s marketing and printing services division
managed to maintain a similar level of business volume as last
year, principally due to the solid foundation established by its
long-term experience and expertise, its professional team, its

brand recognition and reputation.

During the twelve months ended 31 December 2018, the Group's
revenue from marketing, consulting and printing services was
approximately RMB44.3 million (2017: RMB36.2 million), while the
gross profit margin was 30.7% (2017: 24.9%).

CnaTw
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Total revenue increased by 26.7% from RMB43.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB55.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, primarily due to the increased revenue
from marketing and consulting services. Revenue from newspaper
advertising slightly decreased from RMB7.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to RMB7.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. Revenue from marketing and consulting
services increased from RMB31.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to RMB39.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. Revenue from printing services increased slightly
from RMB4.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to
RMB4.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by 54.2% from RMB12.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB18.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. Gross profit margin improved
from 27.5% in 2017 to 33.6% in 2018, which was primarily
attributable to the successful implementation of cost control

measures.

Other income

Other income increased by 50.0% from RMBO0.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to RMBO0.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, mainly due to the increase of RMBO0.5
million in customer compensation income for the year, but
partially offset by the decrease of RMBO0.2 million in government

subsidy.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by 38.2% from
RMB5.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB3.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2018, mainly due to the
successful implementation of cost control measures during the

year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERE WD

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by 33.3%
from RMB66.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2017
to RMB88.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2018,
mainly due to the higher professional fees arising from project
acquisitions and increase in provision for an onerous operating

lease.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the higher professional fees, increase in provision
for an onerous operating lease and the fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loss before income tax
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was RMB163.9 million,
representing an increase of 194.8% as compared to loss before
income tax of RMB55.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Income tax expense
Income tax expenses were RMBO0.7 million for the year ended 31

December 2017 and 2018, respectively.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss for the year of RMB164.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018, mainly attributable to the
higher professional fees, an increase in provision for an onerous
operating lease and the fair value loss on financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss.

(Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling interests
As a result of the above factors, profit attributable to non-
controlling interests decreased from profit of RMBO0.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 to loss of RMB0.2 million for

the year ended 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the above factors, loss attributable to owners of
the Company increased from RMB56.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to RMB164.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group's management monitors current and expected liquidity
requirements regularly to ensure the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet its future obligations as and when they fall due.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a
net loss of RMB164.6 million and a net cash outflow of RMB27.9
million. The management closely monitors the Group's liquidity
position and is implementing measures to improve the Group's

cash flow.

EEEWmED T

KA EERLEE

HREMER ARARMAEERGEEHE
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Year ended 31 December

BE+t-B=+—HLHFE

2018 2017

—E-)N\EF —E—tF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREF T

Net cash used in operating activities KETEHFAE ST (58,291) (34,687)

Net cash used in investing activities BEEEFAR S FRE (86,219) (80,477)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMEFBE(FTA)

financing activities He T8 116,635 (122)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekHeEEEE

R (27,875) (115,286)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#HIHE & MBS ZEEAR 60,178 182,833
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and RekHeEEEEN

cash equivalents HNE Uz, (B518) 1,577 (7,369)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRORSRRESFMEIAE 33,880 60,178
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERE WD

Cash flows used in operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash used in operating
activities amounted to RMB58.3 million, primarily attributable
to the net loss for the year amounted to RMB164.6 million and
partially offset by non-cash items, which primarily included (i) net
fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to RMB84.5 million; (ii) provision for an onerous
operating lease of RMB9.0 million; and (iii) depreciation and

amortisation of RMB8.4 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB86.2 million, resulted primarily from
final payment of cash consideration for acquiring the entire equity
interest in Supreme Glory of RMB55.6 million and payment for

property, plant and equipment of RMB21.8 million.

Cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB116.6 million, mainly
attributable to the drawdown of a loan facility from a related
party in the amount of RMB80.1 million, plus the net proceeds

from issuance of ordinary shares of RMB33.3 million.

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures incurred during the year are mainly for
the purchase or construction costs related to properties, plant
and equipment. Capital expenditures were RMB0.9 million and
RMB39.6 million for the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2018, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade receivables — net

The following table sets out the aging analysis of the Group's

BEEWED

BESREWRNE-FH

TREIIRHARARAEEE 5 RN

trade receivables at the dates indicated: B AT -
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+-—-8
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
Aging analysis of trade receivables B S EWRRIENIRER DT AR TR ARBTT
1 - 30 days 1230H 3,942 1,133
31 - 60 days 31£60H 780 252
61 — 90 days 61£90H 470 417
91 — 180 days 91£180H 954 1,755
181 — 365 days 181%£365H 1,800 272
Over 1 year —F L E 2,385 15,991
Total et 10,331 19,820
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables  J& - 2 5 & W 3R IR Bl (B B 5 (2,473) (13,752)
Total trade receivables — net BT GG —F5 7,858 6,068

Trade receivables increased by 29.5% from RMB6.1 million as at
31 December 2017 to RMB7.9 million as at 31 December 2018.

Such increase was mainly attributable to more revenue generated

near year end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWETN

Properties held for sale

RFEHEWR

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETF T
Properties held for sale BrELEWE 24,622 34,519

The properties in the PRC were received in exchange of advertising
services to real estate developers in the PRC. The Group's
intention is to sell these properties and, accordingly, such rights
are recognised as properties held for sale upon the completion of
the advertising sales transaction if the related properties are ready

to be sold.

Management assessed the fair value less costs to sell of the
properties with reference to their market value with the assistance
of an independent property valuer. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the management compared the carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell of the properties and made further
impairment provision of RMB4,252,000 (2017: Nil).
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Trade payables

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREwED T

B2 ENFR

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
Trade payables EZENRENRRD T AR®T T ARETF T
1 - 30 days 1£230H 641 547
31 - 90 days 31£290H 406 598
Over 90 days 90H M k£ 3,550 3,368
Total wEt 4,597 4,513

Trade payables increased slightly from RMB4.5 million as at 31 B HEMNRIEHRZ

December 2017 to RMB4.6 million as at 31 December 2018.
Trade payables turnover days decreased from 609 days for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to 404 days for the year ended 31

December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWEDH

Indebtedness
Indebtedness consists of obligations to lenders, including

commercial banks and certain related parties and companies.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group obtained
mortgage loans amounting to RMB15,470,000 to finance the
Group's acquisition of properties. Transaction costs directly
attributable to mortgage loans amounted to RMB35,000. The
mortgage loans were drawn on 27 February 2015 and a further
prepayment of RMB15,470,000 was made by the Group to
Xiamen Information Group Ltd. for the properties. The mortgage
loans are secured by the ownership rights of the properties and
the personal guarantees of Zheng Bai Ling and Zhang Hui, a
key management and the spouse of a key management of a
subsidiary of the Group respectively. Total consideration for the
properties is RMB22,164,000, of which the initial down payment
of RMB6,694,000 was paid by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2018, the mortgage loans were classified as
current liabilities due to the related loan agreements containing a
repayment on demand clause which gives the bank unconditional
right to call the loans at any time. The mortgage terms are 7 years
and are denominated in RMB. The mortgage loans are carried at
quarterly adjusted floating interest of 1.15 times the benchmark
loan interest as prescribed by the People’'s Bank of China for loans
of a similar length. The effective interest rate for the year was

5.71% per annum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group obtained
a loan facility from a related party, TopBig International
Development Limited (“TopBig”), amounting to RMB87,132,000.
The loan balance is unsecured, carries interest at 5.0% per
annum and repayable in two years from the date of drawdown.
The maximum amount that can be drawn down by the Group
from TopBig is HK$100 million, as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 May 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group obtained a
loan amounting to RMB1,500,000 from a third party. The balance
is unsecured, carries an interest rate at 6.0% per annum with
a term of 2 years, and is repayable on demand. The balance is

denominated in RMB.

Gearing ratio, being the proportion of the Group’s total
borrowings to total assets,
ended 31 December 2017 to 37.1% for the year ended 31
December 2018.

increased from 2.9% for the year

On 14 March 2018, the Group obtained a banking facility with
a facility limit of RMB100,000,000 and a facility period from 14
March 2018 to 13 March 2019. The facility has expired on 13
March 2019 and since then, the Group does not have any banking

facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWETN

Commitments

I

(a) Operating lease commitments — as a lessee (a)

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

REeHEARE-FRAEEA
THREKEMOMN B RKERENK
REIT

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREF T
Not later than 1 year —FUT 5,232 12,952
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FUAERAFNUT 3,870 3,351
9,102 16,303

Provision for an onerous operating lease of RMB2,902,000

as at 31 December 2018 is made for the abovementioned

operating lease commitments.

(b) Operating lease commitments — as a lessor (b)

The future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

RZE—N\F+_A=1+—H KEBH
i EHEREEDNBEESEHE
2 BB B AR 52,902,0007T °

REHERE-FREEA
THRELEMEN B RKEBAENK
mEMT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREF T

Not later than 1 year —FLT 2,000 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FUERFEFNAT 6,000 -
8,000 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

(c) Capital commitments (c) BEAXREIE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of RMEBRRDTNERAERBAGBZE
the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as REXRXAZWAT:
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment W BE kFEE 7,930 -
Contingent liabilities FEAE

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no material

contingent liabilities.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 236 full-time employees
(2017: 218). Total staff costs including directors’ remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2018 were RMB46.1 million (2017:
RMB43.5 million).

The remuneration of the directors is evaluated by the
remuneration committee, which also makes recommendations to
the Board. In addition, the remuneration committee reviews the
performance, and determines the remuneration structure, of the

Group's senior management.

The Company operates an employee share option scheme, the
purpose of which is to incentivise or reward eligible individuals
who provide services to the Company for their contributions and
their continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company,
and for other purposes as the Board may approve from time to

time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENmED T

Events after the reporting period HREIR
On 24 January 2019, the Company entered into the ) RZE-—NAF-—AZ+THMB KA AEHE

convertible bond subscription agreement with TopBig
International Development Limited (the “Subscriber”), a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi, the Executive
Director and a shareholder of the Company, pursuant to
which the Company conditionally agreed to issue, and
the Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the
3% convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$250,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB215,750,000).

The initial conversion price of the Convertible Bonds
is HK$0.24 per conversion share following the Capital
Reorganisation (equivalent to HK$0.06 per share prior to
the Capital Reorganisation), subject to adjustment. The
Convertible Bond matures at the day falling on the third
anniversary of the date of issue of the convertible bonds
and the conversion period covers the period commencing on
the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds and ending on

maturity date.

Assuming full conversion of the Convertible Bonds at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.24 per conversion following
the Capital Reorganisation, the Convertible Bonds will be
convertible into up to 1,041,666,666 shares (on the basis
of the consolidated shares after the Capital Reorganisation

becoming effective).

The Convertible Bonds and the new Shares to be
issued upon conversion of the Convertible Bonds (the
“Conversion Shares”) shall be allotted and issued by the
Company pursuant to the specific mandate granted by the
independent shareholders of the Company to the Directors
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 8 March 2019.
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(i)

(iii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 15 November 2018, a 60%-owned subsidiary of the
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
certain sellers to acquire 71.43% equity interest in Zhang
Ping Nong Bo Hui New Specialized Farmers’ Cooperative (the
“Target Company”) at a consideration of RMB3,000,000.
The conditions precedent to the acquisition are not fully
fulfilled and the acquisition has not been completed as at 31

December 2018 and up to the date of this report.

On 1 February 2019, the Board of Directors proposed to
implement a capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation”)

which involves:

(@) the share consolidation of every four issued and
unissued existing shares of HK$0.10 each into one
consolidated share of HK$0.40 each;

(b) the capital reduction such that the nominal value
of each issued consolidated share be reduced from
HK$0.40 to HK$0.01; and

(c) the share subdivision of each unissued consolidated
share of HK$0.40 each into forty new shares of
HK$0.01 each.

The Capital Reorganisation is subject to the fulfilment of
conditions, and the expected effective date of the Capital
Reorganisation is 10 April 2019. Upon completion of the
Capital Reorganisation (including the four-to-one share
consolidation), the weighted average number of shares in
issue shall be adjusted for the effect of share consolidation.
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for
all years presented will also be adjusted retrospectively.
However, for the purposes of this Report, all references to
share numbers and price per share refer to the status of share
capital prior to the Capital Reorganisation, unless otherwise

stated or the context otherwise requires.

(i)

(iii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWETN

Prospects

In 2019, we expect the economy worldwide and in China will
continue to face challenges. China lowered its GDP growth target
to 6%-6.5% for 2019. Amidst the challenging macro-environment,
the Company is well-positioned to tackle the challenges ahead due
to the laying of solid foundation in the past two years through

acquisitions and fund-raisings.

Driven by various favorable factors such as increased per capita
income, consumption upgrades, the growing demand for
entertainment and culture, the on-going improvement of the film-
viewing infrastructure, and the advanced Internet that enables
online platforms to boost box office, it is expected that China’s

film industry will see another round of growth in the long run.

In addition, the rise of webcast and online TV dramas will
continuously add value to the film and television culture industry.
The Group will continue to identify development and investment
opportunities with the view to capitalising on its established
experience in advertising, marketing and media industry in China
and seizing the opportunities in the film industry of Mainland
China through proactively rolling out quality productions in due

course.

In support of the 13th Five-Year Plan of the state and the central
government’s plan to build 1,000 “distinctive towns” in China
by 2020 to promote the integrated development of the primary,
secondary and tertiary industries in rural areas, the Group actively
leverages its experience and resources in the advertising, film,
culture and media industries to develop integrated projects on
the theme of film or media. The Group has used its efforts to
identify suitable locations to participate in integrated development
projects with industry positioning, cultural heritage, tourism
features, entertainment and community functions such as health
and wellness, so as to form synergies with existing businesses and

create value for shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2018, the Company acquired Supreme Glory Limited,
which through its subsidiaries operate a project site covering
a measurable usable area of approximately 4,022 Chinese mu
(equivalent to approximately 2,681,347 square meters) located
in Hebei Town, Fangshan District, Beijing under a 50-year lease
which expires in December 2058. The Group intends to develop
the project into a unique natural and cultural scenic spot
integrating media, resort, and eco-cultural tourism. The Fangshan
project is expected to contribute to the Group’s revenue and

business development in the long run.

In addition, to further consolidate the Group's integrated project
development business, broaden its revenue sources and reduce
its reliance on the print media business, the Group entered into
a framework agreement with the government of Yongtai County,
Fuzhou City, Fujian Province to invest in a project named “Yongtai
Kungfu Distinctive Town", covering an area of 15.6 square
kilometers in Yongtai County. The Company intends to join force
with asset management companies and other interested investors
to jointly invest RMB500 million in the first stage of the project,
with the aim of re-establishing the Longchuan-Longmen Canyon
Scenic Area as a 4A scenic spot. The Group has the 40-years’
exclusive operation right of the project covering the development,
construction, management and operation of commercial
activities such as tourism, sightseeing, resort, culture, sports and

entertainment.

Looking ahead, the Group will proactively explore and expand
business opportunities for investment, production, management
and content distribution of films and TV dramas. Leveraging the
Group's track record and experience in advertising, marketing and
integrated project development, the Group will continue to strive
to find suitable industry partners and investment and production
projects, and continuously promote the management of film
and television projects to capture opportunities arising from the
growing market of China’s film and television culture industry and

the new media transformation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENEREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming Siuming, aged 65, is an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Group. He is a famous film
director and producer in China and Hong Kong. He is the founder
and the president of Hong Kong Televisioners Association, was
awarded in 2013 “World Outstanding Chinese” by the World
Chinese Business Investment Foundation. Mr. Tsui holds a Master
degree from Jinan University and an honorary doctorate from
Northern University of the USA. Mr. Tsui entered film as a child
actor at the age of 5, and has been working in the film and TV
industry for more than 59 years. He has extensive experience in
operations management, and has served as senior vice president
of Asia Television Limited, chief executive officer of the Emperor
Motion Pictures Group, executive director of i-Cable Entertainment
Limited, chief operating officer of i-Cable Satellite Television
Limited and president of Sundream Motion Pictures Limited. His
film and television works have won many awards. Mr. Tsui was
appointed as an executive director of the Group on 6 December
2015 and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the

Group on 29 January 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Chen Zhi, aged 53, is an executive Director. He is a qualified
accountant as conferred by the Ministry of Finance. Mr. Chen
was a cadre of the Fuzhou Minhou Tax Bureau from 1982 to
1989 (during which he was granted leave from 1985 to 1988
to pursue his studies at Fujian Radio and Television University),
deputy section chief of the Fuzhou Economic and Technology
Development Area Tax Bureau from 1989 to 1993, and
subsequently the section chief from 1993 to 2002. He joined our
Group in 2003 and pioneered our distinctive business model of
cooperating with newspaper partners to provide integrated print
media services to advertisers, undertook the main decision-making
role in the management of our overall operations and oversaw
the strategic development of our Group. He was appointed as the
chairman, chief executive officer and an executive Director of our
Company on 9 December 2009, resigned as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 29 January 2016 and resigned as the
chairman of the Company on 25 February 2016. Mr. Chen has
accumulated more than ten years of relevant experience from
developing the business of our Group and possesses a deep
understanding of the PRC print media and advertising industries.
Mr. Chen graduated from Fujian Radio and Television University
in 1988 with a diploma in financial economics. Mr. Chen is one
of our controlling shareholders. He is also a director of TopBig
International Development Limited (“TopBig International”). Mr.
Chen is the brother of Ms. Chen Min, a non-executive Director of

the Company.
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EENGREEEBE

Mr. Yu Shi Quan, aged 43, is an executive Director and the chief
financial officer. He is a qualified accountant as conferred by the
Ministry of Finance. Mr. Yu was an accountant at Fujian Lan Tian
Tax Accounting Co., Ltd. from 1996 to 1997, the finance director
of Fujian Huanyu Investment Development Co., Ltd from 1997 to
1998 and the finance director of Fujian ShiFang Investment Co.
Ltd. (“Fujian ShiFang”) from 1998 to 2000. He joined our Group
in 2000 and was head of finance of Fujian ShiFang until 2008
when he became the head of finance of Olympia Media, and,
subsequently, vice president of finance of China TopReach Inc.
in 2009, and was appointed as Director of our Company on 20
December 2011. He graduated from Fujian Radio and Television
University in 1996 with a diploma in finance and accounting.
Mr. Yu has gained significant management experience from his
work with the overall financial operations of our Group and was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Group on 9 June
2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Wei Dong, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. He
was appointed as our Director on 1 April 2015. He is currently
served as the managing director of Xiamen Siruite Business
Consulting Co., Ltd. (EFIETSHEE B HRBER AR,
with effective since January 1 2014. From January 2010 to

a position

October 2017, he served as the managing director of Shenzhen
China Science & Kingwin Venture Capital Co., Ltd. He served as
the deputy director of business of Shenzhen China Science &
Merchants Capital Management Group Co., Ltd., from January
2003 to December 2009. From March 1996 to December 2012,
Mr. Chen held the position as an assistant general manager of &
FIZERI B 2 AR A Al (Xiamen Huamin Packaging Co., Ltd.). From
December 2013 to November 2018, He has served as the general
manager of China Science & Kingwin Investment Management
Limited. In addition, he also had approximately six years of
experience working in the Local Taxation Bureau of Pingyu County,
Henan Province. Mr. Chen received his Bachelor’s degree from the
College of Online Education (now known as College of Continuing
Education) of the Xiamen University in China in 2006, and has
been enrolled in the Executive Master of Business Administration
programme of School of Management of the Xiamen University
since September 2009.
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Ms. Chen Min, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. She
graduated from the Faculty of Arts, Fujian Normal University with
a bachelor’s degree in arts in June 1993 and a master’'s degree
in arts specialising in contemporary Chinese drama in June 2002.
She also obtained a doctorate degree in arts specialising in
theatrical aesthetics from the Central Academy of Drama in June
2006. Ms. Chen had taken up various academic teaching posts
at the College of Chinese Language and Literature Fujian Normal
University between September 1993 and May 2007 and has been
an associate professor of drama literature at the Central Academy
of Drama since May 2007. Ms. Chen has also served as a secretary
and a member of council of the China Branch of The International
Association of Theatre Critics and a member of the expert panel
of academic degrees and graduate education of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC since May 2007. She was appointed as our
Director on 20 December 2011. Ms. Chen is the sister of Mr. Chen

Zhi, an executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren, aged 71,

Director. He was appointed as our Director on 8 November 2010,

is an independent non-executive

and is a qualified senior economist as conferred by the Fujian
Provincial Department of Personnel. Mr. Zhou was appointed as
the chairman of the Qingliu Country Party Committee in 1990.
He was engaged in the newspaper industry in the PRC and held
several positions including the deputy bureau chief and editorial
board member of Fujian Daily from 1996 to 2002, and the general
manager, senior economist and Party Committee deputy secretary
of the Fujian Daily Newspaper Group from 2002 to 2008. In
addition, Mr. Zhou was the vice chairman, and later chairman,
of the Fujian Province Newspaper Industry Association during
the same periods, before retiring in 2008. He graduated from
Fujian Provincial Party School of the CPC in 1986 with a diploma
in politics. Mr. Zhou has extensive print media experience and
expertise with particular knowledge of the Fujian newspaper

industry.
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EENEREEERE

Mr. Wong Heung Ming Henry, aged 49, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as our Director on 8
November 2010. Mr. Wong took some senior positions, by serving
as the finance directors and the internal audit director, for some
multinationals, including United States and Hong Kong listed
companies engaged in fast-moving consumables, real estates,
shopping malls operation and media industry. Prior to that,
Mr. Wong had worked for two international accounting firms,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr.
Wong graduated from City University in Hong Kong in 1993 with
a bachelor’s degree in accountancy and also obtained a master’s
degree in electronic commerce from the Open University of
Hong Kong in 2003. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants as well as a certified internal auditor.
Mr. Wong has accumulated more than 25 years in financing,

internal controls and corporate governance experience.

Mr. Cai Jian Quan, aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as our Director on 20 December 2011.
He graduated from the Anhui University of Finance Economics
with a bachelor’s degree in financial accounting in July 1984. Mr.
Cai was a finance manager of the finance department of Shanghai
Baihuo Headquarters Watches and Glasses Branch between July
1984 and June 1992. He was the general manager of the sales
department of Shenyin & Wanguo Securities Co. Ltd. between
June 1992 and June 2002. He has also been the chairman of the
board of directors of Shanghai Guantong Investment Co. Ltd.

since September 2002.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ching Yi, aged 44, is our company secretary. She

is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy and has accumulated more than 20 years of financial
and auditing experience. She is currently the company secretary of
Xinjiang Tianye Water Saving Irrigation System Company Limited
(stock code: 840), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Ms. Chan joined our Group in August 2010.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHRE

The directors (the “Directors”) of ShiFang Holding Limited (the
“Company”) present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the

"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the business of publishing and
advertising (the “Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Group has been
focusing on restructuring its publishing and advertising businesses
by consolidating with cultural media and film media businesses in
PRC.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income on pages 99 to 100.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 and proposed that

loss for the year be retained.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’'s future business development and
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of

this annual report.
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The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated

financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the “Financial
Highlights and Summary” section on pages 5 to 6 of this annual

report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 22
May, 2019 to 24 May, 2019, both days inclusive, during which
no transfer of shares will be registered. To determine eligibility
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road

East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 May, 2019.
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Placing of 289,666,000 shares at HK$0.145 between
December 2017 and January 2018

As announced by the Company on 19 December 2017, the
Company entered into a placing agreement dated 19 December
2017 with a placing agent in relation to the placing of
289,666,000 ordinary shares of the Company at the placing price
of HK$0.145. The placing was carried out under the general
mandate approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual
general meeting held on 25 May 2017. Completion of the placing
took place on 25 January 2018, with 289,666,000 ordinary
shares of the Company allotted and issued to not less than six

independent placees procured by the placing agent.

The gross and net proceeds from the placing were approximately

HK$42 million and HK$41 million, respectively. It was the
intention of the Company to apply the net proceeds from the
placing for general working capital of the Group. As at 31
December 2018, approximately HK$41 million was utilized for
general working capital of the Group as intended, including

salaries and emoluments and rental expenses.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year of 2018, the Group had acquired property, plant

and equipment of approximately RMB59.9 million.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year of 2018 are set out in

note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association or the bye-laws of the Company (the “Articles” or the
"Bye-laws"), or the laws of the Cayman Islands or Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis

to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company has no reserve available

for distribution to the Shareholders.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations have been made by the Group

during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year of 2018, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's five largest customers comprised approximately 33.9% of
the Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group's
largest customer were approximately 8.8% of the Group’s total

sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year of 2018 attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 19.7% of
the Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier were approximately 7.6% of the Group's

total purchases.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group's establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC. During the Year, the Group has complied, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, with the relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

EJ-{/ i 5 Iﬁﬁﬁ
RZE—NE+ZA=+—H AQRWLEA
Mﬁv;)f& TREBFEE -

B
AEBFALBELEERAMBR-

TEEFRHER

R-ZB—N\FE FAEBRAEFEEHER
BIEAEEBHEEN33.9%  MAEBHA
EFEGHERES R BAHERNS 8% -

RZZB-\FE AEETAHEBEGE
ERBLAEBABERNT% MAKHE
%K{#fﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁf%ﬁ{ﬁzﬁﬁlﬁ@ﬁﬁ
7.6% °

&k

BFEERZER

AEBMEBEERADFANTENBAFE
7 AUt A EENRT REBEFA T EAH
FRRER - BEFHRL AEEREARED
HAYAEBEEAFENERERER -



DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were as follows:

Executive directors:
Mr. Siuming Tsui, chief executive officer
(appointed as a Director on 6 December 2015)
Mr. Chen Zhi
(appointed as a Director on 9 December 2009)
Mr. Yu Shi Quan
(appointed on 20 December 2011)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chen Wei Dong
(appointed on 1 April 2015)
Ms. Chen Min
(appointed on 20 December 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren
(appointed on 8 November 2010)
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry
(appointed on 8 November 2010)
Mr. Cai Jian Quan
(appointed on 20 December 2011)

In accordance with the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election, at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Moreover,
the Directors appointed during the year will hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and will be

eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 31.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS'
CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Chang Ren, Mr. Wong
Heung Ming, Henry, and Mr. Cai Jian Quan a confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of its independent non-executive Directors

are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors (save for Mr. Siuming Tsui) and the
non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than six months’ (in case of executive Directors) and
by not less than one month’s (in case of non-executive Directors)
notice in writing served by either party on the other. Mr. Siuming
Tsui has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years, which may be terminated by (i) the director giving
to the Company not less than six months’ written notice between
1 October 2016 and 30 September 2019, or not less than three
months’ written notice thereafter, or (i) the Company giving not
less than twelve months’ written notice between 1 October 2016
and 30 September 2019, or not less than three months’ written
notice thereafter. Each of the independent non-executive Director
has been appointed by the Company for a term of three years
and shall be terminable by either party by giving not less than one

month prior notice in writing.

During the year, none of the Directors had a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members of the Group was based on their individual performance
as well as market trends and practices. In addition, each of the
executive Directors and the non-executive Directors is entitled
to a discretionary bonus provided that the aggregate amount of
the bonuses payable to all the executive Directors at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Company. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 38 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The emoluments paid to the senior management (excluding the
Directors) during the year ended 31 December 2018 were within

the following bands:
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Nil to HK$500,000
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Total: et

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN
OR DEBT SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Other than the pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) adopted by written resolutions
of its shareholders on 26 February 2010 and the post-IPO share
option scheme of the Company (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the written resolutions of its shareholders
on 8 November 2010, at no time during the year of 2018 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including

debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or

fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by the shareholders
of the Company on 8 November 2010, the Company adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to (i) any full-time
or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any Directors (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or (iii) any advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or

any subsidiaries (each an “Eligible Person”).

The Board may, at any time within 10 years after the date of
approval of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, make an offer
to grant options to any Eligible Person. The Scheme will remain
in force for a period of 10 years commencing on 8 November
2010 up to 7 November 2020. The subscription price for shares
granted pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall be at

least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer;
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(ii) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date on

which such offer is made; or

(iii) ~ the nominal value of a Share.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date, 73,216,512 Shares, without prior approval from the
shareholders of the Company. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted, and yet to be exercised, under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme to each Eligible Person (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company. Any further grant of share options in excess of

this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, if shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to a participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
any of their associates, in any 12-month period (i) represent in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue,
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant of option must be approved by

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is RMB1.00. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years from the date
of grant of the relevant option. There is no minimum period for
which an option must be held before the exercise of the option

except otherwise imposed by the Board.

Up to 31 December 2018, no share option had been granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this
report, the number of shares available under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme is 73,216,512 shares, representing approximately

3.2% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS SUBSCRIPTION

On 24 January 2019, the Company entered into the convertible
bond subscription agreement with TopBig International
Development Limited (the “Subscriber”), a wholly owned
company by Mr. Chen Zhi, the Executive Director and a
shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, the 3% convertible bonds (the
“Convertible Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of

HK$250,000,000 (equivalent to RMB215,750,000).

The initial conversion price of the Convertible Bonds is HK$0.24
per conversion share (equivalent to HK$0.06 per share prior to the
Capital Reorganisation), subject to adjustment. The Convertible
Bond matures at the day falling on the third anniversary of
the date of issue of the convertible bonds and the conversion
period covers the period commencing on the date of issue of the

Convertible Bonds and ending on maturity date.

Assuming full conversion of the Convertible Bonds at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.24 per conversion share, the Convertible
Bonds will be convertible into up to 1,041,666,666 shares (on
the basis of consolidated shares after the Capital Reorganisation

becoming effective).

The Convertible Bonds and the new Shares to be issued upon
conversion of the Convertible Bonds (The “Conversion Shares”)
shall be allotted and issued by the Company pursuant to the
specific mandate granted by the independent shareholders of the
Company to the Directors at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 8 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares (the
“Share(s)") of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers, were set out as follows:

EERKRM R EE RO ER KK

B

R-B-N\FT-A=+t—B EFRAERA
SEMBBZEE (TR REBSRPEGRAIFEXV
2B A R AR (TR |) R BEA R 8
REBSFMAEERIEI2RARRAFTEDN
B ZRELTBTAEZTETESRS
MR ZEST R A& AN B Ko Bt 52 P B9 # 28 FOR
BEIWT

(i) Long position in the Company (i) REQXTNHEE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest
EEnR By, REEME ROBE RHEHLOBIL
Mr. Chen Zhi Interest in controlled corporation 166,394,696 7.27%
and beneficial owner (Note 1)
BRESLE REZEHEENEa N ESMEE (M5E1)
Mr. Yu Shi Quan Beneficial Owner 892,196 0.04%
RETERE EHBEE
Notes: Bt 5

(1) Mr. Chen Zhi (an executive director of the Company) was
deemed to be interested in 166,394,696 Shares, comprising
(i) 7,032,655 Shares directly held by him; and (ii) 159,362,041
Shares held by TopBig International Development Limited
("TopBig International”), a controlled corporation which is

wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi.

(2) The percentage interests are calculated on the basis of
2,287,996,121 issued Shares of the Company as at 31
December 2018.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in Shares: RBROBER:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest
ESHE B REEMtE BREEA EREAEDL
Shi Jianxiang Beneficial Owner 186,850,000 8.17%
By EmfiE®E
TopBig International Beneficial Owner (Note 1) 159,362,041 6.97%
1 B R BEHEAE (M)
Chen Rong Interest of controlled corporation 157,340,018 6.88%
(Note 2)
PR AR REESEE N #ER (ME2)
Happy Day Development Ltd. Beneficial owner (Note 2) 157,340,018 6.88%
Happy Day Development Ltd. EmEA A (MiF2)
Wang Fucai Interest of controlled corporation 132,084,068 5.77%
(Note 3)
T R B REZESEE N #E S (MEE3)
Rich Land Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 132,084,068 5.77%
Rich Land Limited Emma A (MEE3)
Chen Rui Interest of controlled corporation 130,807,645 5.72%
(Note 4)
BR 5 REESEE R (HEE4)
Chung Tai Limited Beneficial owner (Note 4) 130,807,645 5.72%
MEEER AT EnBEE A (zE4)
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Notes:

TopBig International is a company incorporated under the laws of
the BVI, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen, the executive director

of the Company.

Happy Day Development Ltd. is a controlled corporation wholly-

owned by Chen Rong.

Rich Land Limited is a controlled corporation wholly-owned by

Wang Fucai.

Chung Tai Limited is a controlled corporation wholly-owned by
Chen Rui.

The percentage interests are calculated on the basis of
2,287,996,121 issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December
2018.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has not been notified of

any other person (other than a Director or a chief executive of the

Company) who had an interest or a short position in the shares

and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 December 2018.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out below
which will be regarded as continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules and subject to the disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise defined,
capitalised terms below has the same meanings as those defined

in the Prospectus.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Structure Contracts

Background

Fuzhou ShiFangCe Culture Media Co., Ltd. (“Original WFOE"),
which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company prior
to 24 December 2015, entered into (a) structured contracts
(the “Internet Structured Contracts”) to enable the Group to
capture the economic benefits of and obtain the effective control
over Beijing BaiChuanDuKe Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Internet Opco” or “Beijing BaiChuanDuKe") and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Internet Opco Group”); and (b) structured
contracts (the “Publishing Structured Contracts”) to enable
the Group to capture the economic benefits of and obtain the
effective control over Beijing HongXinTu Culture Communication
Co., Ltd ("Publishing Opco” or “Beijing HongXinTu”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Publishing Opco Group”).
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Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign
Investment jointly promulgated by the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC and the Ministry of Commerce
of the PRC on 31 October 2007 (last updated on 10 April
2015), foreign investors are (i) prohibited from investing in news
websites and online publication services; and (ii) restricted from
investing in more than 50% controlling stake in value-added
telecommunication and printing of publications. At the time of
the entering into of the Internet Structured Contracts and the
Publishing Structured Contracts, the Company could not directly
acquire the equity interest in Internet Opco and the controlling
equity interest in Publishing Opco. Therefore, the Company
entered into the Internet Structured Contracts and the Publishing
Structured Contracts to capture the economic benefits of and
obtain the effective control over the Internet Opco and the

Publishing Opco.

On 17 December 2015, in anticipation of the imminent disposal
of Original WFOE by the Group to an independent third party,
the Internet Structured Contracts were novated from Original
WFOE to another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Fuzhou DingCe Culture Communication Co. Ltd. (“New WFOE" or
“Fuzhou DingCe"”). With the disposal by the Group of its equity
interests in Original WFOE, the Group ceased to be interested in
the Publishing Structured Contracts or the Publishing Opco Group.
With the novation of the Internet Structured Contracts to New
WFOE, the Group continues to consolidate the financial results of
the Internet Opco Group through the contractual arrangements

under the Internet Structured Contracts.
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Internet Opco and Internet Opco Shareholders

Internet Opco is a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC with a registered capital of RMB1 million
and principally engaged in value-added telecommunication
business, news websites, online publication services and printing
of publications. Internet Opco Group holds a Permit for Internet
Publication ( B B 48 tH ik #F A] 7% ) , an Operation Permit for Value-
added Telecommunication Business (3 {HE 5 ¥/ E &7 0] &)
and an Operation Permit for News Publication Printing ( ¥7 & i i
) EN Rl 4% & 7 7] 38

The registered capital of Internet Opco is registered as to 60%
in the name of Zheng Bo Ling (“Zheng”) and 40% in the name
of Xu Kai Ning (“Xu”, and together with Zheng, collectively the

“Internet Opco Shareholders”).

Reasons for the entering into of the Internet Structured
Contracts

The principal reasons for the entering into of the Internet
Structured Contracts were (a) to establish a contractual position
which allows the economic benefits of the businesses and
operations of the Internet Opco Group to flow to the Group; (b)
through the control of the right of nomination of directors of
Internet Opco, to monitor, supervise and effectively control the
business, operations and financial policies of the Internet Opco
Group which in turn ensure due implementation of the Internet
Structured Contracts; (c) to prevent any possible leakage of assets
to the Internet Opco Shareholders; and (d) to enable the Group to
acquire the equity interest of the Internet Opco at an agreed price,
which was fixed as a matter of relatively nominal sums and being

the lowest prices permissible under PRC law.

Save for the foreign investment restrictions described above, the
contractual arrangements under the Internet Structured Contracts

are not related to any other regulations or requirements.
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Key terms of the Internet Structured Contracts EBPEARBENNEEMRTK
In the summary table below, we set out the current status and the ~ TR EHAERBE LB AL R EZ K
key terms of the Internet Structured Contracts: K

Loan Agreement

e

Equity Pledge
Agreement

I A R
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Date: 17 December 2015
BE:—2—hF+_-_A++tH

Parties: New Wfoe (as lender), Zheng and Xu (as borrowers)

R HNEBELE (ERERA)  BRFF ((EREHRA)

Loan sum: RMB600,000 (for Zheng) and RMB400,000 (for Xu)
B35 AR¥600,0007T (#5) & A R#400,0007T (7F)

Term: 10 years, automatically renewable for successive periods of 5 years unless terminated
by notice by New Wfoe
FH0F BRIFWFIABECEZFLBARIE TRIEBEHETRCF

No early repayment: Each of Zheng and Xu is not permitted to repay any loan without prior
written consent of New Wfoe.

TREFER BRAITNCGEREHI BRELCEFTLEARE TEEEMER-

Date: 17 December 2015
B —Z—hF+_-_A++tH

Parties: Zheng and Xu (as pledgors), New Wfoe (as pledgee), Internet Opco
A BRI (EAESRA) FIBBEBELE (EAERBA) BHELSERNR

Pledged assets: 60% equity interest in Internet Opco (by Zheng), 40% equity interest in
Internet Opco (by Xu)
EWEE BBMBLELNF0%KE (REEM) BHEEEDFI0%KRE (HFTEH)

Guaranteed obligations: To guarantee the repayment of the loans under the Loan Agreement
and the payment of the service fees under the Service Agreement.
BREEC BEREEEFRHZE THERLIMNRG HETHREGE -

Dividends: Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, New Wfoe is entitled to all of the
benefits arising from the pledged equity interests including dividends.

BB RBBREER DS I BBECEXARNGHACERBRBEENNE (BRERE) -



Voting Right Proxy
Agreement

SRARZEHR

Exclusive Purchase
Option Agreement
BRREREENS
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Date: 17 December 2015
BE:—2—hAF+_-_A++H

Parties: Zheng and Xu (as appointers), New Wfoe (as appointee), Internet Opco

IR BEF (ERREAN) FIINEABELE (FRAEZREAN) ERELELRT

Power granted: Each of Zheng and Xu granted to New Wfoe and its designee(s) the power to
exercise all relevant voting rights in Internet Opco including but not limited to those relating
to: (i) the amendment of company constitution; (ii) the appointment, election or dismissal

of the directors, supervisors or senior management; (iii) the transfer or disposal of all or part
of the equity interest in Internet Opco; (iv) the increase or reduction of capital, other capital
reorganization, dissolution or liquidation of Internet Opco: and (v) the right to inspect all
documents and information of Internet Opco.

N BRAZERAFIEBEECERARKERLTEERELEQRMEHEBRE
BN BREMRRENXTHBHERE: VBFTARER: (IZT ERAHEREFT B
FHAERERE: (NEENEELBMBEEERRMAHIDRE: (v)IEINAR B E S E
NAWER  HMIRAEAE BAZBEE: RVWVEREBRBEERRMAX M REROET -

Restriction on equity transfer: None of Zheng nor Xu may transfer all or any part of their
equity interest in Internet Opco without the prior written consent of New Wfoe.
BREEZERT: BXAITREALIINBECXEFLEARS TERRENERELE
N A 2 BP SAEAAT B D AR

Date: 17 December 2015
B —F2—haF+_-_A++tH

Parties: Zheng and Xu (as grantors), New Wfoe (as grantee), Internet Opco

IR EBRE (EREEN) HINBBELE (FRARA) EBEZERNT

Option: Each of Zheng and Xu irrevocably granted to New Wfoe or its designee(s) an
exclusive option to purchase, at any time if and when permitted under PRC laws, all or part
of their equity interests in Internet Opco at the agreed price, being the higher of (i) RMB1
million; and (ii) the lowest price permissible under PRC laws.

EBEE EBRFZE TR A EEECESHEERER LB EZBEER  URF
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Service Agreement

B 7% 155 =

Date: 17 December 2015
BE:—2—hAF+_-_A++tH

Parties: New Wfoe (as consultant) and Internet Opco (as appointer)

ARG HINEBERE (ERER) RERBEERT (EREMEAN)

Term: 10 years, automatically renewable for successive periods of 5 years unless terminated
by notice by New Wfoe
FH0F RIFFFIMNABECERHBAKRLE TRIEHERERSF

Scope of services: New Wfoe agreed to provide to Internet Opco consulting services including
(i) market research; (ii) business development and market consultation; (iii) consulting services
in respect of labor matters; (iv) construction and maintenance of information networks and
network security; (v) technical support for software and technology; and (vi) other services in
relation to its business operations.

RBEE: FIHINABECXRAEMEMELSEQRRMBARE  BFEOTHHRE: ()EFE
K5 (i)B MBS BN ERARE: (WVEXLGEEEAEBLBERL R VI REHR
ik RviyEEEBMBLERREBL LN HMRE -

Service fees: The service fees are according to the nature of the service content and time
spent based on market price.

REE: REBRRREARTEERAMERBKRMEFTE-

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts BEEBEN

The Internet Structured Contract has not been unwound up HEAHZEOH DHAEES DT REH
to the date of this report. The Company does not intend to H-BRIENEZTHOHNPNEERRRENES
unwind any Internet Structured Contract unless and until the — EBBIRINEIRER FIW A T RIARQ FE
foreign investment restriction relating to ownership of the equity ERHOBEEBEEN - WEIEIRERS
interest in Internet Opcos is lifted. When the foreign investment — il KRB AEBTEERNBRE T%ﬁﬁ,ﬁgﬁ%

restriction is lifted, the

Company intends to exercise its exclusive & FHBFEEZEEER WEIHEZEQT

purchase right under the Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement B2 B AR AE - BUE AR R AIRE B B E R R A
to acquire the entire equity interest in Internet Opco, so that FEMIELBMARBEOES EBEEERTE
the Company can control the Internet Opco Group through the °

direct shareholding relationship rather than through the Internet

Structured Contracts.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Accounting policies and financial information

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
information of the Company, its subsidiaries, and structured entity
where the Company is deemed the primary beneficiary. Fuzhou
DingCe (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
the Internet Structured Contracts with Beijing BaiChuanDuKe,
whereby Fuzhou DingCe provides consulting services to Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe and is entitled to (1) receive a substantial portion
of the economic benefits from Beijing BaiChuanDuKe; (2) exercise
effective control over Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, and (3) have an
exclusive option to purchase all or part of the equity interests
in Beijing BaiChuanDuKe when and to the extent permitted by
the PRC laws. By virtue of the contractual arrangements under
the Internet Structured Contracts, Beijing BaiChuanDuKe is a
structured entity and deemed as a subsidiary of the Company
under the requirements of IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial

statements”.

When assessing whether to combine a structured entity, the
Group evaluates a range of factors, including whether (1) the
activities of the structured entity are being conducted on behalf
of the Group according to its specific business needs so that the
Group obtains the benefits from the structured entity’s operations,
(2) the Group has decision-making powers to obtain the majority
of the benefits, (3) the Group obtains the majority of the benefits
of the activities of the structured entity, and (4) the Group retains
the majority of the residual ownership risks related to the assets
in order to obtain the benefits from its activities. The Group
consolidates a structured entity if an assessment of the relevant
factors indicates that it controls the structured entity. Based on the
contractual arrangements under the Internet Structured Contracts,
the Company consolidated the results, assets and liabilities of
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe in the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.
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PRC laws strictly prohibits foreign investment in, and ownership
of, companies engaging in news websites and online publication
services, and place significant restrictions on foreign investment
in, and ownership of, companies engaging in the value-added
telecommunication business (Chinese parties as controlling
shareholders) and printing of publications (Chinese parties as
controlling shareholders). The Company is considered as a foreign-
invested enterprise, and is required to comply with the PRC laws
and regulations applicable to foreign-invested enterprises. Due
to such restrictions, the Company are not permitted to have
and does not have direct ownership of any interest in Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe as Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, together with its
subsidiaries, holds a Permit for Internet Publication ( & B 48 - iR &F
A]# ), an Operation Permit for Value-added Telecommunication
Business (2B B {5 ¥ 54L& 57 7] & ) and an Operation Permit for
News Publication Printing (TR AR ENRI 48 & 25 0] 55 ) . Instead,
the Company conducts the above operations in China principally
through contractual arrangements among its subsidiary Fuzhou
DingCe on the one hand, and Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and its
shareholders, on the other. These contractual arrangements permit
the financial results of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to be consolidated
with and effectively all of the economic benefits of its business to
be transferred to Fuzhou DingCe. The contractual arrangement is
not related to any regulations other than the restriction on foreign

investment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue generated
from the printing and online services businesses through Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe was RMB4.8 million and nil (2017: RMB4.6 million
and nil) respectively, which accounted for 8.7% and 0% of
total revenue (2017: 10.5% and 0%) of the total revenue; and
the assets of Beijing BaiChuanDuke and the relevant businesses
amounted to RMB30.7 million (2017: RMB34.7 million). As
Beijing BaiChuanDuke and the relevant businesses have not
contributed any significant profit to the Group in the past, Beijing
BaiChuanDuke and the relevant businesses were insignificant
to the Group respectively, of total revenue. The Company relied
on and expects to continue to rely on contractual arrangements
with Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and its shareholders to operate the
printing and online services business components in China. The
PRC legal advisor has advised the Company that the contractual
arrangements are in compliance with and enforceable under the
relevant PRC laws. However, there exist uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations
regarding the performance and enforcement of such contractual
arrangements. As such, there can be no assurance that the
relevant PRC regulatory authorities will not, in the future,
determine that the contractual arrangements are in breach of
applicable PRC laws. If the contractual arrangements are found
to be in breach of any existing or future PRC laws, the relevant
PRC regulatory authorities would have broad discretion in
dealing with such violations, including revoking the business and
operating licenses held by Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, restricting or
prohibiting any transactions between the Company and Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe, imposing penalties or other requirements with
which the Company may not be able to comply, or requiring
the Company to restructure the relevant ownership, control or
operating structure of the Company or its business. The imposition
of any of these penalties or requirements could result in a material
and adverse effect on its business, and could even result in us
being required to cease the printing and online services businesses

completely.
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In addition to the possibility of administrative penalties or other
requirements being imposed upon us due to the relationships
with Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and its shareholders, the Company
may not be able to effectively enforce such contractual
relationships in a cost-effective manner or at all. Under the current
contractual arrangements, if Beijing BaiChuanDuKe or any of
their shareholders fails to perform their respective obligations
under these contractual arrangements, or are required to incur
substantial costs to do so, the Company may be forced to incur
substantial costs and resources to enforce such arrangements
or to rely on PRC law to obtain remedies, including specific
performance or damages, and we may not be successful in
obtaining such remedies or obtaining such remedies might be cost
prohibitive. In the event the Company is unable to enforce these
contractual arrangements, its business, financial condition and

results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Fuzhou ShiFang Printing Co., Ltd., Kunming HanDing Printing
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. and Guizhou ShiFang Printing
Co., Ltd, which are subsidiaries of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe,
currently hold Operation Permits for News Publication Printing (7
B L B 40 ED il 48 & 5F AT
& Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Beijing BaiChuanDuKe,
currently holds a Permit for Internet Publication ( & B 48 H i & 7]
#&) and a Operation Permit for Value-added Telecommunication

Business (MR EEEEBHL TR &) for the operation of www.

. Xiamen DuKe Information Science

duk.cn. Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (5N #% & & % #58 H #%) jointly promulgated
by NDRC and MOFCOM on 31 October 2007 (with subsequent
revisions, the latest being the version that came into effect on
10 April 2015), news websites and online publication services are
classified as industries in which foreign investors are prohibited
from investing, and value-added telecommunication business
(Chinese parties as controlling shareholders) and printing of
publications (Chinese parties as controlling shareholders) is
classified as an industry in which foreign investors are restricted
from investing. These views have been confirmed by our PRC legal

advisor.
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The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe's financial results are consolidated into
the Company’s financial statements as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the flow of economic benefits from its business to
the Company, places the Group in a special position in relation
to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Structure Contracts
technically constitute continuing connected transactions for
the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable
and would impose unnecessary administrative costs on us to be
subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, in relation to the transactions
regarding Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, the Company has applied
for and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict
compliance with the reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval, annual cap and agreements with fixed
term of no more than three years requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected
transactions under the Structure Contracts for so long as the

Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

In accordance with the relevant Structured Contracts, no dividends
or other distributions has been made by Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to

their shareholders.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Structure Contracts and the above continuing connected

transactions.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive

Directors:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the continuing connected transactions carried out during
the year are in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Structure Contracts so that
the revenue generated by Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and the
subsidiaries of the Company have been mainly retained by

the Group;

the continuing connected transactions were entered into
either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there
is no available comparison, on terms that are no less
favourable to the Group than terms to or from independent

third parties;

no dividends or other distributions have been made by
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to their shareholders; and

any new Structure Contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between Beijing BaiChuanDuKe and the
Company during the relevant financial period are fair and
reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Company are
concerned and in the interests of our shareholders as a

whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction which

needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with

the requirements of the Listing Rules during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2018.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company, to report
on the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has reported the results and their work
to the Board, confirming that the transaction has received the
approval of the Directors, has been entered into in accordance
with the relevant Structured Contracts and that no dividends or
other distributions has been made by Beijing BaiChuanDuKe to its

shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at

the date of this report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDER

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders including
customers, suppliers and employees. Through regular stakeholder
engagement via different channels, the stakeholders are
encouraged to give their opinions regarding the environmental,

social and governance policies of the Group.

This includes providing quality services to customers, developing
effective and mutual beneficial working relationships with its
suppliers, and offering competitive remuneration package with

safety working environments to employees.
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The details of environmental, social and governance policies
and performance of the Group will be disclosed in a standalone
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which is available
on the Company’s website (www.shifangholding.com) and on the

website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Siuming Tsui

Executive Director (Chief Executive Officer)

Hong Kong
28 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognises the importance and value of achieving
high standards of corporate governance practices. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is an essential element
in maintaining and promoting shareholder value and investor

confidence.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with the
former and revised code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of

“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules

Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance since the date of the listing of the shares
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 3
December, 2010, which shall also be revised from time to time
in accordance with the Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed below,
the Board considers the Company has complied with the code

provisions as set out in the CG Code.

Apart from the corporate governance aspect, which will be further
discussed in this report below, the Company has prepared and
published its first environmental, social and governance report
(the "ESG Report”) in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), which sets out
information regarding the period from 1 January to 31 December
2018, which is available on the Company's website (www.
shifangholding.com) and on the website of the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk).

Set out below the corporate governance principles and the
practices adopted and observed by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018
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Code Provision A.2.1
Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.

The Board met regularly to consider and review the major and
appropriate issues which may affect the operations of the
Company arising from the overlap of chairman and CEO and/
or the vacancy of chairmanship. As such, the Board considers
that the sufficient measures had been taken, and that either the
overlap of chairman and CEO and/or the vacancy of chairmanship
should not impair the balance of power and authority between

the Board and the management.

Code Provision E.1.2
Under code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the

Board should attend the annual general meeting.

The Board has invited Mr. Chen Zhi, an executive director and ex-
chairman of the Company to act as the chairman of the annual
general meeting of the Company which was held on 25 May
2018, as the position of the chairman of the Company has been
vacated since 1 April 2016. The Board considered that Mr. Chen
Zhi was the appropriate person to answer questions, if any, from

shareholders at the annual general meeting.
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THE BOARD

The Board provides effective and responsible leadership for the
Company in setting the strategic decision and overseeing the
Company's overall operations. The Board meets regularly and each
Director has to make decisions objectively in the best interests of

the Company and its shareholders.

Board Composition

At the date of this report, the Board comprises 8 Directors, 3 of
whom are executive Directors and 2 of whom are non-executive
Directors and 3 of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
The Composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having extensive knowledge, experience and expertise relevant
to the business operations and development of the Group. The
biographies of all Directors are set out on pages 26 to 31 of this
annual report. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the
Directors has any other financial, business, family or other material

or relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2014. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board of the Company which includes but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee made an annual review on the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, made
recommendations on changes to the Board that are relevant to the

Company’s business growth.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Under Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and

should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chen Zhi acted as the chairman and chief executive officer
(CEQ) of the Company until (a) Mr. Siuming Tsui was appointed
as the CEO of the Company on 29 January 2016; and (b) Mr. Shi
Jianxiang was appointed as the chairman of the Company on 25
February 2016. Subsequently, on 1 April 2016, Mr. Shi Jianxiang
resigned as the chairman and a director of the Company and since
then the position of the chairman of the Company was vacated.
The Company is identifying suitable candidate to fill the vacancy

of chairman.

The Board met regularly to consider and review the major and
appropriate issues which may affect the operations of the
Company arising from the overlap of Chairman and CEO and/or
the vacancy of chairmanship. As such, the Board considers that
the sufficient measures had been taken and that either the overlap
of chairman and CEO and/or the vacancy of chairmanship should
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board

and the management.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. The Company has
received from each of its independent non-executive Directors
the written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, based on such confirmation,

considers all independent non-executive Directors independent.
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Board Proceedings

The Company will hold at least four board meetings at
approximately quarterly intervals and will also meet at such other
times when necessary. Formal agenda of all Board meetings are
distributed to the Directors for comments and approval, generally,
at least 14 days before the meetings. Adequate time and sufficient
resources will be provided to all Directors to discharge their duties
at which the Directors actively participate and hold informed
discussions. All minutes of Board meetings will be recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and decisions

reached.

During the period under review, the Board convened 4
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shareholders’ general meetings, 5 board meetings, 4 Audit Aié"é}?% s
Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting and //Z%ﬁ@ﬂ? BEgemk— AREZEECE =&
1 Nomination Committee meeting respectively. The attendance ERBRERGURESEE EZEZET b
of individual Directors at general meetings and meetings of ZE@NRLZESKEFNHFERUNT:
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee is as follows:
Meeting attended/held
HE/ BTEERE
Shareholders’

general Audit Remuneration Nomination

meeting Board Committee Committee Committee

BRAE Ezg ENZES yHzES REZES
Executive Directors BTES
Siuming Tsui (Chief Executive Officer) #)H(1TREH) 4 5 NAT A 1 1
Chen Zhi R 4 5 N/AZ i A NIATE B N/AT i
Yu Shi Quan (Chief Financial Officer) RVE(EETEE) 4 5 NAT B NATER NATER
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Chen Wei Dong RER - 5 NATE A NATE R NATE R
Chen Min R& - 5 NAT NATE /AT @
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHTES
Wong Heung Ming, Henry ERH 4 5 4 1 1
Zhou Chang Ren CE - 5 4 1 NARER
Cai Jian Quan 2R - 5 4 NATE R 1
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All the Directors have access to relevant and timely information.
They also have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company, who is responsible for providing the
Directors with Board papers and related materials. Where queries
are raised by the Directors, prompt and full responses will be given

if possible.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial
shareholder of the Company or a Director arise, the matter will be
discussed in a physical Board meeting, as opposed to being dealt
with by a written resolution. Independent Non-Executive Directors
with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings dealing

with such conflict issues.

Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. An
updated list of the Directors identifying the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and the roles and functions of the Directors is
maintained on the website of the Company and the website of

the Stock Exchange.

Roles and responsibilities of the Board
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success and
interest of the Group through its leadership and supervision. The

principal tasks of the Board are to:

(i) provide entrepreneurial leadership for the Company with a
framework of prudent and effective controls which enables
risks to be assessed and managed,

(ii) set the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the

necessary financial and human resources are in place

for the Company to meet its objectives and review its

management performance; and

(iii)  set the Company’s values and standards and ensure that its
obligations to its shareholders and others are understood

and met.
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No event or condition of material uncertainties was found
that may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern during the period under review. The
Directors were responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of the financial statements of the Company, in
all material respects, in accordance with applicable regulatory

requirements.

Skills, knowledge, experience and attributes of Directors

All Directors of the Board served in office during the period
under review. Every Director commits to give sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. The Directors also
demonstrate their understanding and commit to high standards
of corporate governance. The Executive Director brings his
perspectives to the Board through his deep understanding of
the Group’s business. The Non-Executive Directors and the
Independent Non-Executive Directors contribute their own skills
and experience, understanding of local and global economies,
and knowledge of capital markets to the Group’s business.
The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
continuous professional development programmes for all Directors

to hone and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Induction and training

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is
required to undertake an induction program to ensure that he
has a proper understanding of his duties and responsibilities.
The induction program includes an overview of the Group's
business operation and governance policies, the Board meetings’
procedures, matters reserved to the Board, an introduction of
the Board committees, the Directors’ responsibilities and duties,
relevant regulatory requirements, review(s) of minutes of the
Board and Board committees in the past 12 months, and briefings

with senior officers of the Group and site visits (if necessary).
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Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
During the year, all Directors had participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by ways of
attending training and/or reading materials relevant to the
Company's business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
In addition, all Directors have been updated on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. A summary of
training recovered by Directors for the year ended 31 December

2018 according to the records provided by the Directors is as

REBEXEARTARTAERXAGS FAIEES
E2EFEEXER BRI FMETABEK
e UHEREEABE2EEMARIGHMBENE
MATHEESELER -AFERN MEES
BEEB2MEN R LBEEBEAR B EK L
EERANEENMH2EEENSETXEHR

FIRE - Lo A ESERREHEN EMRA
REMBREERENRHERER  UER
%?&}Eﬂﬁi‘Tﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%/éﬁ%ﬁﬂ’\]?w%ﬂ°
RREFRHUNESR EERBE_FT—\F
T-A=1+—HLEE fﬁﬁ‘\]iﬁ\l*ﬁ%xﬁﬂ?:

follow:
Training on
corporate
governance,
regulatory
development and
other relevant topics
BRALEER.
EERER
Director == H AR ENEI
Executive: 1T
Siuming Tsui, CEO WA (7TIABEL) 4
Chen Zzhi RS v
Yu Shi Quan AR v
Non-executive: AT
Chen Wei Dong PR 18 3R v
Chen Min PR &% v/
Independent Non-executive: BIEHIT:
Wong Heung Ming, Henry AL 4
Zhon Chang Ren B&frC v
Cai Jian Quan R v
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions
against the Directors. Throughout 2018 no claim had been made

against the Directors and the officers of the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors (save for Mr. Siuming Tsui) and
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than six months’ (in case of executive Directors) and
by not less than one month’s (in case of non-executive Directors)
notice in writing served by either party on the other. Mr. Siuming
Tsui has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years, which may be terminated by (i) the director giving
to the Company not less than six months’ written notice between
1 October 2016 and 30 September 2019, or not less than three
months’ written notice thereafter, or (i) the Company giving not
less than twelve months’ written notice between 1 October 2016
and 30 September 2019, or not less than three months’ written
notice thereafter. The independent non-executive Directors have
been appointed for a term of three years and shall be terminable
by either party giving not less than one month prior notice in
writing. The Directors have power at any time and from time to
time to appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director
so appointed shall hold office only until the next annual general
meeting of our Company and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. In accordance with the Articles of the Company,
at every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being or, if the number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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Relationships and associations among the Directors

Ms. Chen Min is the sister of Mr. Chen Zhi. Save as disclosed,
there was no relationship between members of the Board
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationship(s)).

Company secretary

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping detailed minutes of each
meeting of the Board or the Board committees including any
dissenting views expressed by the Directors, which should
be made available to all Directors for inspection. She is also
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures comply with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and advising the Board on
corporate governance matters. All agenda, relevant materials and
document are required to be sent out at least 3 days prior to the
intended dates of the Board meetings or meetings of the Board
committees. It is the responsibility of the Company Secretary to
send the draft minutes of the meetings of the Board or the Board
committees to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after the aforesaid meetings. Final versions of minutes of meetings
of the Board or the Board committees are also required to be sent
to all Directors for record. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board

procedures and all applicable laws are followed.

Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all
Directors updated on the Listing Rules, regulatory requirements, as

well as internal codes of conduct of the Company.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had confirmed that she

had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by the Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set forth in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealing in securities by the directors of the Company.
Specific enquiries have been made with all the incumbent
directors of the Company and all of them confirmed and declared
that they have complied with the required standards as set out in

the Model Code during the year ended to 31 December 2018.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established on 8 November, 2010 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, all are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (Chairman), Mr.

Zhou Chang Ren and Mr. Cai Jianquan.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are:

- To make recommendations to the Board on (i) the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors; (ii) the audit fee and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and (iii) any questions of resignation or

dismissal of that auditor

- To review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards
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- To monitor the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual report and
accounts, interim report and quarterly financial highlights,
and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements

contained in those reports

- To review the adequacy and monitor the effectiveness of
the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control

and risk management systems.

- To review the financial reporting system, risk management

and internal control system.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management in
conjunction with the external auditor, the annual results and
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December,
2018, including the accounting policies and practice adopted by
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee
had performed their primary duties to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control procedures of
the Company. The Audit Committee has also held meeting with
the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC") without the presence of executive Directors and
management, to discuss matters arising from the auditing
and report to the Board on material issues, if any, and make

recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the website of the Company and the

website of the Stock Exchange.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr.
Zhou Chang Ren (Chairman), Mr. Siuming Tsui and Mr. Wong
Heung Ming, Henry, the majority of which are independent non-
executive Directors. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to evaluate and make recommendations to the
Board regarding the remuneration packages to the Directors and
senior management which will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market

trends and practices.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are more specifically set out in its latest
terms of reference, details of which can be viewed on the website

of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the

Remuneration Committee during the period under review:

(a) formulating and recommending the policy and structure of
the remuneration of the Directors and senior officers of the

Group to the Board;

(b) assessing individual performance of the Directors and

senior officers of the Group;

() reviewing specific remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior officers of the Group with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives as well as individual

performances; and

(d) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on

compensation-related issues.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cai Jian Quan (Chairman), Mr. Siuming Tsui, and
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, the majority of which are independent
non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee selects
and recommends the candidates for directorship shall base on
the criterion including professional knowledge, competence,

experience, independence and integrity.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. The current duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee are more specifically set out in its latest
terms of reference, details of which can be viewed on the website

of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2014. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board of the Company which include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional experience. The
Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board that are relevant to the

Company’s business growth.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the

Nomination Committee during the period under review:

(a) reviewing and evaluating the composition of the Board
with reference to certain criteria. These criteria included
qualifications required under the Listing Rules or any other
relevant laws regarding characteristics and skills of the
Directors, professional ethics and integrity, appropriate

professional knowledge and industry experience, as well as

ability to devote sufficient time to the work of the Board
and its committees and to participate in all Board meetings

and shareholders’ meetings;

(b) reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of the
retiring Directors for re-election at the previous general

meeting; and

(c) assessing independence of the Independent Non-Executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee had performed their primary duties to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board, including its diversity, based on a
range of perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and requirements, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills,

Committee considered that the current composition of the Board

knowledge and regional experience. The Nomination

is balanced in terms of diversity and is able to meet the objectives
of the Board.
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S I'A\Aiﬁtl:

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company and the Group and in compliance with relevant
law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is
responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-
sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required

under the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed PwC as the Group’s external auditor. The
statement by PwC regarding their reporting responsibility to the
shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82

to 96 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration
paid or payable to PwC for audit services and non-audit services
amounted to RMB3,437,000 (2017: RMB2,960,000) and
RMB1,142,000 (2017: RMB715,000) respectively.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing their
design, operational adequacy, and effectiveness on an ongoing
basis to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the assets
of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group through the Audit
Committee. The Board engaged an internal audit team which
carries out the analysis and independent assessment of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems and reports to the Board. Review of
the Group's internal controls cover major financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management functions of
different systems has been done on a systematic basis based on
the risk assessments of the operations and controls. The scope
of review for the year had been determined and approved by the
Audit Committee. Saved as disclosed below, no major issues but
areas for improvement have been identified. The Board and the
Audit Committee considered that the key areas of the Group's

internal control systems are reasonably implemented.

The Company recognises that the vacancy of chairmanship may
affect the operations of the Company. The Board has met regularly
to consider and review the major and appropriate issues. As such,
the Board considers that the sufficient measures had been taken
and the vacancy of chairmanship should not impair the balance of

power and authority between the Board and the management.
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Corporate governance functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate

governance duties as required under the CG Code:

(a) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices

on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior

officers of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct

applicable to employees and the Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code

and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the period under review, the Board considered the

following corporate governance matters:
(i) review of the compliance with the CG Code; and
(ii) review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and

risk management systems of the Group through the Audit

Committee.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with shareholders and continues to act in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Company keeps shareholders
and investors informed of its business performance and strategies
by adopting a transparent and timely disclosure policy which
complies with the Listing Rules and provides all shareholders
equal access to such information. The Company also publishes all
documents on the Company's website at www.shifangholding.

com.

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") also
provides a forum for the Board to dialogue and interact with the
Shareholders directly. The Directors and the committee members

are available to answer questions during the AGM.

Notice of AGM, annual report, financial statements and related
papers were posted to shareholders of the Company for their
consideration at least 20 clear business days prior to the AGM.
AGM proceedings of the Company are continually reviewed in the

light of corporate governance best practices.

Shareholders’ rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders
of the Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirements under Paragraph O of the CG
Code which is effective from 1 April 2012.
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5 lﬁq\Aiﬁﬂ:

Convening of general meeting on requisition by
shareholders

General meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any one or more members of the Company
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that
such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting

at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting to be held within further 2 months of the deposit
of such requisites, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to

them by the Company.
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(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at a
Shareholders’ meeting
There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 or the bye-laws of the Company.
However, Shareholders who wish to put forward a resolution
may request the Company to convene an special general

meeting following the procedures set out above.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the Company's

website.

(c) Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the

enquiries.

Constitutional documents
During the period under review, there had been no significant

change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AEE RS

=
pwc

To the Shareholders of ShiFang Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of ShiFang Holding Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on

pages 97 to 252, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then

ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:

o Purchase price allocation for the acquisition of Supreme

Glory Limited
o Impairment assessment of goodwill

o Valuation of the Group’s properties held for sale
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Key Audit Matter
BEETSER

Purchase price allocation for the acquisition of
Supreme Glory Limited
WEERERANAZEEESE

Refer to note 2.4 (Accounting policies), note 4(a) (Critical
accounting estimates and assumptions), note 8 (Intangible
assets) and note 33 (Business combination) to the
consolidated financial statements

B2 MM BRRMT2.4(FFER)  Witda) (RS
FHbET RRF)  WE8(MILE E) KM E33(XHBE 5)

The Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity
interest of Supreme Glory Limited at a consideration
of HK$275,334,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB223,339,000) on 8 May 2018, date of acquisition (“date
of acquisition”).

EEERKERH-_Z-NFLANR ([WERH])TK
Wi 1R A R AR 2 AR - B /R275,334,000/8 T (1%
R #) AR #223,339,0007T) ©
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESNTEEERETSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
judgements used to estimate the fair values of
identifiable assets and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date included:

I E IR B A LA IR B B A BRI & A NPT A
ERENLAENHEMBREFERE:

(i)  Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
objectivity, capability and competency to
perform the valuation;

(i) FHEBMINEHERMEES ZE - Ao RBE
HEITEE
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Key Audit Matter
RREETER

Purchase price allocation for the acquisition of
Supreme Glory Limited (Continued)
WEESEERAGZEEES (&)

The Group is required to determine the fair values of
identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Supreme
Glory Limited as at the date of acquisition. Management
engaged an independent external valuer assist them to
perform the fair valuation using appropriate valuation
methodologies. The purchase price was allocated to the
identified assets and liabilities assumed and the Group
recognised identifiable net assets of RMB157,281,000 and
goodwill of RMB66,058,000 at date of acquisition. The
identifiable net assets mainly comprised the right to a land
lease and property, plant and equipment.
EEERETERERARMEEBAIBNEELAAEAE
RRE R Z A fE - B E R B IR E R 1 B i 5
ERBEGRENEETATHE- BEEIKEAURAIEE
KA EaE - ESENWERNRRAAENEEFE
AR#157,281,0007C & 8 A R #66,058,0007T ° AJ 3 5l &
EFETERRIHEERUARDE BEMRE-

R CE: S

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMHETNMEERRRTEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iv)

(iv)

Assessing the appropriateness of
valuation methodologies adopted and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions used
in the valuation with the involvement of our
internal valuation expert;

B ABEEZRK2 BT EPARNEET A
MEEERGEMAIERRNGIEL:
Evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the
independent external valuer based on our
industry knowledge and relevant market
practice; and
ERBRANTEMNELABTISED G
MHNER R ERTPTARMER EREHEE K

35

Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the valuation by
comparing these assumptions against relevant
market data and industry information.
BEHLEZEBRREBETSHERITERE
BathEEMREEREAEEAE:
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Key Audit Matter
BEETSER

Purchase price allocation for the acquisition of
Supreme Glory Limited (Continued)
KBEBERAFZEEESN (&)

The key assumptions included market rental yield rate and
adjusted land unit rate used to determine the fair values of
the right to a land lease and property, plant and equipment.
FERIEEAEEC I HBEERARYE BEERRER
AREZTSHESREERKAR L EMER-

We focused on this area due to the significant
management’s judgements involved in determining the
valuation methodologies and assumptions used in the
valuation of purchase price allocation.

AT EBRAREEBEE O RMEEMABZHBETE
KMBRRE Y R EXNE R EH -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESNTEEERETSE

Based on the above, we found management’s
judgements involved in the valuation methodologies
and assumptions used in the valuation of the
purchase price allocation were supported by

available evidence.

ERNEXFrt BABREREHEH P RNBEE
DEBEMBEETERBRRBABERESF-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
RREETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB A I

Refer to note 2.9 (Accounting policies), note 4(e) (Critical
accounting estimates and assumptions) and note 8
(Intangible assets) to the consolidated financial statements
F2HEMBEmAMT2.9(FFTEHE)  Mitde) (HEE
FHEET RRF) R F8(EEEE)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had goodwill arising
from the acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited amounting to
RMB66,058,000. Management has identified Supreme Glory
Limited and its subsidiaries (together as “Supreme Glory”) as
a cash generating unit (“CGU").
RZE-NF+ZA=+—H  ESERELZEERAA
EEXZHESERARE66,058,0007T IR ECHRER
ERARIKEMBLAR (B 2ZR])RREELE -

The Group tests annually or whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate an indicator of impairment of
goodwill arisen from business combinations.
ESXEEERAEBEHELECHBRE SINELEEHK
BRAEBHBERERSHELDERERET-

R CE: S

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMHETNMEERRRTEE

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessment included:

BAIFREEERENENIEFEIE:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(iv)

Evaluating the independent external valuer's
objectivity, capability and competency to
perform the valuation;
AHEBINBEEMES T et RBE
HITHE:

Evaluating management’s assessment on
identification of CGU;
AEEREHEBNREEEEMIEL 2T
fis

Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology adopted and the reasonableness
of key assumptions used in determining the
fair value less costs of disposal amount with
the involvement of our internal valuation
expert;

BB AEEZERS BN EEE R AER D
ERASEAARAEESTENEE KR PA(ER
I2RRNAEMN:

Considering the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the
independent external valuer based on our
industry knowledge and relevant market
practice;
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Key Audit Matter
BEETSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

R ER G (8)

Management engaged an independent external valuer to
appraise the fair value less costs of disposal of the Supreme
Glory CGU to support the impairment assessment. The key
assumptions used in the valuation including, discount rate,
revenue generated from operation, revenue growth rate and
terminal growth rate.
ERBEEBYINIEEMFGERRECEMAABERLE
B DUEITRER G - HEMAEIERJEFBURE L&
EEZWE WHEBREMKABREK -

We focused on this area due to the significant
management’s judgements involved in the assumptions used
in the impairment assessment of goodwill.

BT ERRENHERETEMBRRSRERER
8 I -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESNTEEERETSE

(vi)

(vi)

Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the valuation by
comparing these assumptions such as
discount rate, revenue generated from
operation, revenue growth rate and terminal
growth rate against the approved budget,
latest development of Supreme Glory, relevant
market data and industry information; and
BBHARR KEELA NG  WRERE
FMKABREREZEBRREKLIETRE ik
BT EAE RMN HEATISRERITEER
EEEMAIEZERREESEE:

Considering management’s sensitivity analysis
with respect to variations of key assumptions
adopted, to evaluate the extent to which
reasonably possible changes, both individually
and in aggregate, would result in material
changes in the assessment on goodwill
impairment.

ZREEERUMKMAWIEBRRETNHRE
DA AFHEER IR ERNM A 28 (ER &
Bt ) AR H R B REN M EKNERES-

Based on the above, we found management’s

judgements and assumptions involved in the

goodwill impairment assessment were supported by

available evidence.
ER Xl ZEMEREEETHRERES X
MHEEREBUERELF-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
RREETER

Valuation of the Group's properties held for sale

BERERFELENERNGHE

Refer to note 2.10 (Accounting policies), note 4(c) (Critical
accounting estimates and assumptions) and note 11
(Properties held for sale) to the consolidated financial
statements

B2H AN BHRERMT2.10(E 5 BE) - Mista(o) (BRI
T RBRER) M1 (FELE W)

The Group owns certain properties held for sale which are
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. The net carrying value of the Group's properties
held for sale was RMB24,622,000 as at 31 December 2018.
EEERAETHELENR ZEVEREREERLE
MEHERAREEIER BEEE/RELEVER_ZT-N
FT-A=1T—BNREFERAR24,622,0007T

Management engaged an independent external valuer to
appraise the value of the properties held for sale using the
direct market comparable approach and income approach.
Management assessed the appropriateness of methodologies
and assumptions underlying the valuations performed by the
independent external valuer.

E IR [E L HE B L SN AR 4 (B AT A B T 45 L BUE R ARG 5
ELEYMENEE - BREED T EB I EMETRE
FEHEETERBRERAE-

R CE: S

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMHETNMEERRRTEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
judgement and estimates used to determine the
fair value less costs to sell of the Group’s properties
held for sale included:

B ERERAEE EEEFRELEMENR
SAER I E KA E IR B HE R AE PR B

(i)  Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
objectivity, capability and competency to
perform the valuation;

(i) FHEBEIIBEEMMESEEE Al kBT
EATIHIE
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Key Audit Matter
BEETSER

Valuation of the Group's properties held for sale (Continued)

BERERFELEMENGEE (B)

We focused on this area due to the significant management
judgement and estimates used to determine the fair value
less costs to sell and, consequentially, the provision for loss
for the Group's properties held for sale.
BHABILSRERENEEY SEEEFIEFLENENRAE
BMHEXRRNRERSHOERRERREREANEIEE HE
K flgte
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWESNTEEERETSE

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iv)

(iv)

Considering the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the
independent external valuer with reference
to the nature and purposes of the Group’s
properties and relevant market practice;

2R BEEBMEZUHERBAGEUARIEH
51

W

%
AN

.
CERBIINBEERMABGESTERS

T

v
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=i

il

np
E

Discussing with management the
appropriateness of the selection criteria of
comparable properties and the adjusting
factors used in the independent external
valuer’s valuation under market comparable
approach having regard to the location, size
and nature of the properties;

B IR E 5 i F) L B A PR HE R K 9B 7 Hh
HEEMBETSLBERMELE NN R
MEMANHARRZENAE:

Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the valuation under
income approach, including expected rental
income, growth rate and discount rate,
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry and comparing with relevant market
data;
REXRMEEBRENITROMB FEHRE
WAEETHRERMMANBERRR (RERY
HeWA BRELFEXR)ZTEEE  WHEE
BT IS BB EIT R
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Key Audit Matter
RREETER

Valuation of the Group's properties held for sale (Continued)

BERERFELEMENGEE (B)

R CE: S

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMHETNMEERRRTEE

(v)  Comparing the independent external valuer’s
valuation results, on a sample basis, with
recent market transaction data of similar
properties; and

(v)  BAHRERTS =X L B8 S AN R (B Bl 6 ik (B AE R B
BLUMERERT ISR HEE &

(vi) inspecting the physical conditions, on a
sample basis, of the Group's properties
held for sale to evaluate management’s
consideration of changes in the properties’
conditions that would have a material impact
to the valuation results.

(vi) RHEITAER EEERELEDENER
AM - A EIREE B R MR EE)
AIREHhEARENERTE -

Based on the above, we found management’s
judgement and estimates used to determine the
fair value less costs to sell of the Group's properties
held for sale to be supported by available evidence.
ERNEXt - BMNEREBEANEE E5H
B 1E B W R B D A E R B B B B R Ak T
BRAIBERBE -

THERERAR
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

R CE: S
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

R CE: S
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We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Leung Chi Hang, Benson.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
SHEERRER

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
R-ZF-NF+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F e — 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARET T ARETFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 7 67,426 14,707
Intangible assets mEE 8 283,912 532
Interests in an associate REE RAINER 1,635 -
Available-for-sale financial asset At ESRERE - 84,726
Prepayments, deposits and other BERFRIE ek
receivables b e W SRR 9 37,689 105,826
___39%0.662 205791
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 5B 10 1,420 1,224
Properties held for sale FIELEME 11 24,662 34,519
Financial assets at fair value through NABELEEREAERY
profit or loss TREE 12 6,173 -
Trade receivables — net B 5 EIE —F 5 13 7,858 6,068
Contract assets — net EHEE—FE 5 2,173 -
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE ke Rk
receivables E 1 pE g 3008 9 9,593 3,803
Amounts due from related parties B E A TR 32(c) 820 740
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEIER 14 33,880 60,178
_____ 86,539 % 106,532
Total assets BEE 477,201 312,323
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of KRRIFBEEEGRER
the Company
Share capital % S 15 191,994 123,919
Share premium I 17 %= 8 15 851,682 816,907
Other reserves H b 16 53,914 48,904
Accumulated deficits 2T Al (922,308) (750,092)
175,282 239,638
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR R 17(a) 12,680 7,969
Total equity BT 187,962 247,607
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

EHEERER

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
R=F—)NNF+=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARBTR ARET T

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Promissory notes
Deferred income tax liabilities
Loans from a related party

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accrued expenses
Borrowings
Current income tax liabilities
Amounts due to related parties

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

=i

*kRBEE
ST
ELEFMSH AR
BB 5 {8 3K

REBAE

B 5 B RA

H A FE 5 SRR K BT R X2
&

B S B A E
FERTREE A LR

maE

BERAEAR

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2019 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Siuming Tsui

/) B8

Director

EF

81,552 =

18 51,723 120
32(c) 87,132 =
220,407 120

19 4,597 4,513
19 34,046 30,464
20 8,377 9,113
21,184 20,031

32(c) 628 475
68,832 64,596

289,239 64,716

477,201 312,323

REFGN _ZE-NF=ZA-+/\BHELK
BT WHETHNEEREREFGES:

Yu Shi Quan
E=

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BtEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
B2 _F—\F+-_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARET T ARETFIT
Revenue WA 5 55,016 43,428
Cost of sales 5 AR 23 (36,521) (31,472)
Gross profit EF 18,495 11,956
Selling and marketing expenses HE RZEHEMET 23 (3,439) (5,476)
General and administrative expenses —mREITHAX 23 (88,053) (66,066)
Net fair value loss on financial assets NAEEEZRARD
at fair value through profit or loss PRMEENNALBEEEFE 12 (84,498) -
Other income H AU A 22 917 587
Operating loss REEBER ___(156,578)  (58,999)
Finance income B 75 U A 26 111 3,381
Finance costs 8 75 B AN 26 (7,260) -
Finance (costs)/income — net B (RA) WA — 55 26 (7,149) 3,381
Share of losses of an associate JE{R B2 N B E 18 I ) -
Loss before income tax BRET BB AT B 18 (163,892) (55,618)
Income tax expense T8 &2 27 (705) (713)
Loss for the year FREE (164,597) (56,331)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THEE RS (BE),S8H:
— Owners of the Company S WNE ) (164,403) (56,493)
— Non-controlling interests —FEIER (194) 162
(164,597) (56,331)
THERERA A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

aOtEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
BE-FE—\FT=-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR T AR¥T T
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Ht2mE (FE) WH
Items that may be reclassified to A]EF 72 18 R A E B
profit or loss
Currency translation differences BEMBmEEE (2,571) 1,904
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMEME (FHE), W
for theyear (_2_,§Z1_) ______ 1,904
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRAEBEERZHEEIEEAE
for the year (167,168) (54,427)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive T5IE H Eh (BE) B R
(loss)/income attributable to: 2w (B8) WSE5HE:
— Owners of the Company —AKRRBAEE (166,974) (54,589)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (194) 162
(167,168) (54,427)
Loss per share for loss attributable ZAATEEEGEEEN
to owners of the Company BREE
— Basic (RMB per share) —HEEX(BRARE) 28 (0.0790) (0.0390)
— Diluted (RMB per share) —#E (BRARE) 28 (0.0790) (0.0390)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income Ll Aot m R /A EBEN i — OrEIE -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
B ERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
—NF+ZA=1—HIFE

BHEr—_=F

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREEES
Available-for-
sale financial Capital Non-
Share Share  assetfair  redemption Capital  Exchange  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
Capital premium  value reserve reserve reserves reserves Reserves deficits Total interests equity
AHHE
SHEEY
BE  RHEE AAERE RAMERE  BARRE EXRRE  EERE  2HE4 #i  FEREE  REEE
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
e ARMTr  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR%TR  ARETr  ARMTR  AR®TR  ARMTr  AR¥TR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZ-\F-A-BHER 123919 816,907 (7,063) 997 41,297 1,209 12,464 (750,092) 239,638 7,969 247,607
Changes in accounting policies EHRKET 2 - - 7,063 - - - - (7,295) 232 - (232)
Restated total equity as at 1 January 2018 RZF-N\§-A-ANEENGES 123919 816,907 - 997 4,297 1,209 12,464 (757,387) 239,406 7,969 247315
Comprehensive income 2ERE
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (163,403) (164,403) (194) (164,597)
Other comprehensive income Et2ENE
Currency translation differences EEREZE - - - - - (25M) - - (2.571) - (2.571)
Total comprehensive income FENEEE - - - - - 251) - (163,403)  (166,974) (194)  (167,168)
Transactions with owners REEANRS
Appropriation to statutory reserves BRTEERE - - - - - - 518 (518) - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares BEER 15(¢) 23,461 9,792 - - - - - - 33,253 - 33,253
Issuance of ordinary shares as consideration for &7 ERREANEHRAAZRE
acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired B FMEES 15(d) 44,614 24,983 - - - - - - 69,597 - 69,597
Capital injection from non-controlling RE-BHBRA-GEERRENTE
shareholders of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 4,005 4,005
Acquisition of a subsidiary hE-EHEAR k) - - - - - - - - - 900 900
Total transactions with owners BEEANRSLE 68,075 34,775 - - - - 518 (518) 102,850 4,905 107,755
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+ZA=t-BH&H 191,994 851,682 - 997 4,297 (1,362) 12,982 (922,308) 175,282 12,680 187,962
Attributable to owners of the Company
TRAMEEER
Avalable-for-
sale financial Capital Non-
Share Share asset fair ~ redemption Capital Exchange Statutory ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  value reserve reserve reserves reserves reserves deficits Total interests equity
qhtte
B
BE RAEE AAERR RAEEEE  AfRE  EXRE  ARRE EHER B FEREs 148
Note RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB‘000
Wi ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR#TR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZF-t5-A-ANER 123919 816,907 (7,063) 997 41,297 (695) 12,444 (693,579) 294,227 5,692 299,919
Comprehensive income 2EYE
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (56,493) (56,493) 162 (56,331)
Other comprehensive income Af2ERE
Currency translation differences ERAEER - - - - - 1904 - - 1,904 - 1904
Total comprehensive income - - - - = 1,904 = (56,493) (54,589) 162 (54,427)
Transactions with owners
Appropriation to statutory reserves - - - - - - 20 (20) = = =
Capital injection from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 2115 2115
Total transactions with owners BREEANRHEE - - - - - - 20 (20) - 2115 2115
Balance at 31 December 2017 F-+E+-f=+-BHER 123919 816,907 (7,063) 997 4,297 1,200 12460 (50000 239638 7,969 247,607

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B RERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
BE-FE—\FT=-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
=B-N\F —E—LF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5% ARET T ARBT T
Cash flows from operating activities & EFHFIERERE
Cash used in operations KEEEAR® 30(a) (57,423) (34,504)
Interest received &S 26 111 430
Interest paid EERRAPS (459) (585)
Income tax paid BEFTER (520) (28)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEB ARG F5 (58,291) (34,687)
Cash flows from investing activities REZFHFESESRE
Prepayment for acquisition of a subsidiary W8 — &M & A 7 2 T~ 58 9 (3.000) -
Deposit paid for the proposed EEWE B AR XA
acquisition of a subsidiary L& 9(ii) = (29,945)
Payments for property, plant and Y BB REE TR
equipment (21,767) (881)
Additions of intangible assets REEFEE 8 (12) i
Deposit for township development NEIEHAENERS 9(jii) = (28,000)
Prepayment for township operation right /NETH B 48 & & 1 T8 1+ 308 9(iii) = (22,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BWE R
plant and equipment HAEFTIE IR 30(b) 1 349
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, 43 B R & 2 3
net of cash acquired OB PTUR ENIR & 33 (55,551) -
Investment in an associate g /N (1,800) -
Acquisition of assets through acquisition i ¥8 U i — I F B A 7] K IE & &=
of a subsidiary 34 (4,100) -
Net cash used in investing activities WEFESFTARE TR (86,219) (80,477)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZBFESESHE
Capital injection from non-controlling & —MEMBRF Z
shareholders of a subsidiary FEERIRREFE 4,005 2,115
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITER (2,236) (2,237)
Net proceeds from issuance of BT LB PTISRIA R
ordinary shares 15(c) 33,253 -
Drawdown of loans from a related party 2 ERESHE 5 &5 80,113 -
Proceeds from other borrowing H 18 KT 15 58 1,500 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEEEBE (FTA)BLFE
financing activities 116,635 (122)
Net decrease in cash ReRkRBReEHEEBEARLOFE
and cash equivalents (27,875) (115,286)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYHRE RS EFEEE
beginning of the year 14 60,178 182,833
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and RekBReEFEER W
cash equivalent SNEUW S (B51E) 1,577 (7,369)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRNRERRELEEEE
end of the year 14 33,880 60,178
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in A GBS G E R EERENIM E — AR o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

ShiFang Holding Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the business of publishing and
advertising (the “Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group has
been focusing on restructuring its publishing and advertising
businesses by consolidating with cultural media and film

media business in PRC.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands
on 9 December 2009 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (2009 Revision
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified) of the

Cayman Islands.

The Company announced on 18 January 2019 that
the Company proposed to change the domicile of the
Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of
discontinuation in the Cayman Islands and continuation
as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda. The
change has been effective on 18 March 2019 (Bermuda

time).

The address of its registered office has been changed
to Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda with effect from the change of domicile becoming

effective.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Renminbi (RMB'000), unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of ShiFang
Holding Limited have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4. The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

()  Amendments to standards effective in 2018

Amendment to IFRS 1 First time adoption of IFRS

Amendment to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions

Amendment to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 financial
instruments with IFRS 4

insurance contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amendments to standards effective in 2018
(Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

Amendment to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15

Amendment to IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint
ventures

Amendment to IAS 40 Transfers of investment property

IFRIC 22 Foreign currency transactions and

advance consideration

The Group had to change its accounting policies
and make certain retrospective adjustments on
the opening consolidated balance sheet on 1
January 2018 following the adoption of IFRS 9
and IFRS 15. The adoption of other amendments
to standards did not have any material impact
on the consolidated financial statements for the

current year or any prior years.

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the

Group

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative
compensation’

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined benefit plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement!

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term interests in associates

and joint ventures'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases'
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax
treatment!

Annual improvements  Annual Improvements
project 2015-2017 Cycle'

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business?

Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of material?
and IAS 8

Conceptual framework  Revised conceptual framework for
for financial reporting  financial reporting?
2018

IFRS 17 Insurance contract?

Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or contribution of assets
and IAS 28 between an investor and its
associate or joint venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2021

4 Effective date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

A number of new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019 and have not been applied in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. None
of these is expected to have a significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group, except the following set out below:

IFRS 16 Leases

The standard provides new provisions for the
accounting treatment of leases which no longer
allows lessees to recognise leases outside of the
consolidated balance sheet. Instead, all leases
must be recognised in the form of assets (for
the right of use) and financial liabilities (for the
payment obligations) in the consolidated balance
sheet. Short-term leases of less than twelve
months and leases of low-value assets are exempt

from such reporting obligation.

The Group is a lessee of certain office spaces
which are currently classified as operating
leases. The Group's current accounting policy
for such leases is to record the rental expenses
in the Group’s consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the year with the
related operating lease commitments being

separately disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The new standard will therefore result in an
increase in assets and financial liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet. As for the impact
on financial performance in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, operating
lease charges will decrease, and amortisation and

interest expense will increase.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
RMB9,102,000 (Note 31). Of these commitments,
approximately RMB579,000 relate to short-term
leases and RMB15,000 to low value leases which
will both be recognised on a straight-line basis as

expense in profit or loss.

For the remaining lease commitments the
Group expects to recognise right-of-use assets
of approximately RMB5,401,000 on 1 January
2019, lease liabilities of RMB5,924,000 (after
adjustments for prepayments and accrued lease
payments recognised as at 31 December 2018)
and deferred income tax assets of RMB103,000.
Overall net assets will be approximately
RMB420,000 lower, and net current assets will be
RMB 1,999,000 lower due to the presentation of a

portion of the liability as a current liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group expects that net profit after tax will
decrease by approximately RMB175,000 for the
year ending 31 December 2019 as a result of
adopting the new rules. Operating cash flows will
increase and financing cash flows will decrease
by approximately RMB1,658,000 as repayment of
the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be

classified as cash flows from financing activities.

The Group’s activities as a lessor are not material
and hence the Group does not expect any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements. However, some additional disclosures

will be required from next year.

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The
Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
Right-of-use assets for property leases will be
measured on transition as if the new rules had
always been applied. All other right-of-use assets
will be measured at the amount of the lease
liabilities on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or

accrued lease expenses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15, “
from Contracts with Customers” on the Group's
consolidated financial statements and also discloses
the new accounting policies that have been applied
from 1 January 2018, where they are different to
those applied in prior periods. Certain of the Group's

accounting policies have been changed to comply with

the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15.

(a) Impact on the consolidated financial

statements

As a result of the changes in the entity's
accounting policies, prior year consolidated
financial statements had to be restated. As
explained in Note 2.2(b) below, IFRS 9 was
generally adopted by the Group without restating
comparative information. The reclassifications and
the adjustments arising from the new impairment
rules are therefore not reflected in the restated
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2017, but are recognised in the opening

consolidated balance sheet on 1 January 2018.

The following tables show the adjustments
recognised for each individual line item. Line
items that were not affected by the changes have

not been included. The adjustments are explained

in more details by standard below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EXESTTBRESE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 B BER2EE (&)
(a) Impact on the financial information (o) HUBERZZE (&)

(Continued)

As originally
presented Restated
Consolidated balance EHEERER 31 December 1 January
sheet (extract) (HEEE) 2017 IFRS 15 IFRS 9 2018
KA
—E2-tF
+=A —E-N\E
=t-H ERBBHRE BEEMBRS —-A—H
25  ERIE155% HERISE95R mER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTT ARBTT ARETR

Non-current assets ERBEE
Financial assets at fair value R AELEBERARN

through profit or loss THEE - - 84,726 84,726
Available-for-sale AHLESRERE

financial asset 84,726 - (84,726) =
Current assets RBEE
Contract assets BHEE - 1,000 (26) 974
Trade receivables - net B oW TIE—FH 6,068 (1,000) (206) 4,862
Equity attributable to ERREEBA

owners of the Company  ME{E X
Available-for-sale financial ~ At HEESHEE

asset fair value reserve NRERFKE (7,063) - 7,063 =
Accumulated deficits Rt B4 (750,092) - (7,295) (757,387)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 BEXRESTTHEBE (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of
adoption

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that
relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge

accounting.

The adoption of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”
from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The new accounting policies are set
out in Note 2.11 below. In accordance with the
transitional provisions in IFRS 9, comparative

figures have not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 BEARSEHHEME (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 B BER2EE (&)
(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of (b) B BR B 5 3R &5 2 R S99
adoption (Continued) [€RTR| Rz
(#&)
The total impact on the Group's accumulated RZE-NF—-—A—AHAEE
deficits as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: ERFEA BT ENT
2018
—E2-N\F
Notes RMB’000

B A ARBT T

Closing accumulated deficits RZZE—+t5H
31 December 2017 t=-ZA=+—Rx2
AR RETE A (750,092)
Reclassify investments from EROAAHEEeRERE
available-for-sale to fair value ERNRELBEERAR
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") B & R B E (i) (7,063)
Increase in provision for trade receivables B3 REUWHREBEREHEE
and contract assets VERERC =R pill (i) (232)
Adjustment to accumulated deficits from #_-—ZT— N \F—H—H
adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 BR AN B B B 5 R 5 22 A
BREE Z RETEALED
Z B (7,295)
Opening accumulated deficits R=ZZFB—-NF—A—BzH
1 January 2018 DIES (757,387)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2 BEXRESTTHEBE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

22 BEBREXZE2® (&)

(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of (b) BB B 75 R 5 2E RIS 05
[EWMIA|-RpzwE

adoption (Continued)

(&)

(1)

Classification and measurement

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial
application of IFRS 9), the Group’s
management has assessed which business
models apply to the financial assets held
by the Group and has classified its financial
instruments into the appropriate IFRS 9
categories. The main effects resulting from

this reclassification are as follows:

(i)

¥ e P B R B 75
EAFRZAH) K
SEEEECHEAE
B AL REEEN
MEBEN AEHHE
EMTADEEBRRY
RS EFRPHEE 1R
AoRBHORELEZE

FEWT:

Available-
FVTPL for-sale
ARE
BHEFK
ANERHY e
SRMEE SRMEE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 AREET T ARETF T
Closing balance R=Z—+tF
31 December 2017 +=B=+—-B2
- 1AS 39 ARG 8R— ER
2R ERISE3955 - 84,726
Reclassify investments from B OBAIHEEHE
available-for-sale to FVTPL TREEEAAE
LRmKRARK
TREE (a) 84,726 (84,726)
Opening balance R=ZZB—-N\F
1 January 2018 —A—HZ
- IFRS 9 B8R — BB
B S8R 5 E R SR 95R 84,726 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(b) IFRS 9, ”

RO R MIEE

2 EXESTTBRESE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 B BER2EE (&)
Financial Instruments” — Impact of (b) BIFR B3 & ZE A SE O
adoption (Continued) [€RTR| Rz
(#&)
(i) Classification and measurement (Continued) () PDHEREFE(E)
The impact of these changes on the group’s ZEZHHERRERZ
equity is as follows: FEIT
Effect on
available-for
sale financial
asset fair Effect on
value accumulated
reserve deficits
HAfHE
TREE
ARERE YRt
8 Bz g
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fizr ARETFT AREF T
Closing balance R=B—tF
31 December 2017 +=BA=+-—H
- 1AS 39 Z AR iR — BB
BT ERIFE395% (7,063) (693,579)
Reclassify investments from BB AIHEE
available-for-sale to FVTPL CPRMEEZEANE
LiEm R AR
TREE (a) 7,063 (7,063)
Opening balance R=ZB—-N\F
1 January 2018 —HA—-B2
- IFRS 9 S 9 4 o — BB
B H 8 RSB 95K - (700,642)
THERAR

|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of

adoption (Continued)

(1)

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Reclassification from available-for-sale
to FVTPL

An investment in 55% of the income
right of a movie was reclassified from
available-for-sale to financial assets
at FVTPL (RMB84,726,000 as at 1
January 2018). They do not meet
the IFRS 9 criteria for classification at
amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, because
their cash flows do not represent
solely payments of principal and
interest.

Related fair value loss of
RMB7,063,000 were transferred from
the available-for-sale financial assets
fair value reserve to accumulated
deficits on 1 January 2018. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, net
fair value loss of RMB84,726,000
relating to this investment was

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

22 BEBREXzZE2® (&)

(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of (b) B BR B 5 3R &5 2 R S99
adoption (Continued) [€RTR| Rz
(%)
(i) Impairment of assets under IFRS 9 (i) BB R 2E R E 9%
BT ZEERE

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses (“ECL") rather
than only incurred credit losses as is the
case under IAS 39. The Group has three
types of assets that are subject to IFRS 9's

new expected credit loss model:

° Trade receivables

° Contract assets

° Financial assets at amortised cost,
including deposits and other
receivables, and amounts due from

related parties

The Group was required to revise its
impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for
each of these classes of assets. The impact
of the change in impairment methodology
on the Group’s accumulated deficits and

equity is disclosed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of

adoption (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of assets under IFRS 9
(Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The
contract assets relate to unbilled revenue
and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss
rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets. The Group applies the
simplified approach to measure expected
credit losses that uses a lifetime expected
credit loss for all trade receivables and

contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 BEARSEHHEME (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 B BER2EE (&)
(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of (b) B BR B 5 3R &5 2 R S99
adoption (Continued) [€RTR| Rz
(#&)
(i) Impairment of assets under IFRS 9 (ii)  BIERAI IR & 2E R E 9%
(Continued) BN EERE (&)
The provision for impairment of trade RZE—+tF+=H
receivables and contract assets as at 31 =+—HEZERKRFIE
December 2017 reconcile to the opening REeEHmBEERBERERE
provision for impairment on 1 January 2018 —E-NF—-—H—HBH
as follows: VIREREHRAT
Contract Trade
assets receivables
BREE HEIZEWRE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETT

At 31 December 2017 R-ZZE—+tHF
+t=RA=+—H
- calculated under IAS 39 —RIBEEBREER
E39REHE - 13,752
Amount restated through BRI R EBAEY 2
opening accumulated deficits k| 26 206
Opening provision for R=ZZB-NF
impairment as at —A—HAZ
1 January 2018 HA W00 1
- calculated under IFRS 9 —REERMBERE
ERFIRHE 26 13,958
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” — Impact of

adoption (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of assets under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery.

Impairment on other financial assets at
amortised cost are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. The
Group has concluded that the impact of
expected credit losses on the other financial

assets is insignificant as at 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” — Impact of adoption

The Group has adopted IFRS 15, “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”, from 1
January 2018, which resulted in changes in
accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. In accordance with the transition
provisions in IFRS 15, the Group has adopted
the new rules retrospectively. In summary, the
following adjustments were made to the amounts

recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at
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(c)

Bl PR B A 3R ERISE 1 55R
[BEFEHNWRE] KRz
&g

rEBEEBZT—N\F—A—
BB ER AN B B 1 s 2 A B
EEAR-S k=¥l & RN k)
B EHBREYHRAEFITE
WMENER 2 BB
IR IR BB B HS R o5 2 A1 25 1 557
2B AR BB B PR
MEER BT 2 HERX
ERBH(ZE—N\F—A—
BIREHEEBBERNER

the date of initial application (1 January 2018): LEEEHATHE:

IAS 18 IFRS 15
carrying carrying
amount Reclassification amount
G- BB BERE

ERIE185 HERIE 155

EHE ENNE R E

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETFT ARET T

Trade receivables — net S ENGE-FE () 6,068 (1,000) 5,068

Contract assets BWEBE () = 1,000 1,000
Other payables and accrued HiERFIERETHT

expenses — Receipts in advance — LW FIE () 6,245 (6,245) =
Other payables and accrued HiERFIE RETHX

expenses — Contract liabilities -GHEE () = 6,245 6,245
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c) IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts

with Customers” — Impact of adoption
(Continued)

The amounts above are before the adjustments

from the adoption of IFRS 9, including increases

in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables and contract assets (Note 2.2(b)).

()

Presentation of assets and liabilities related
to contracts with customers

The Group has also changed the
presentation of certain amounts in the
consolidated balance sheet to reflect the

terminology of IFRS 15:

o Contract assets recognised in relation
to the marketing and promotion
contracts were previously presented
as part of trade receivables — net
(amounted to RMB974,000 as at 1
January 2018, net of impairment

allowance)

o Contract liabilities recognised were
previously presented as part of other
payables and accrued expenses —
receipts in advance (amounted to
RMB6,245,000 as at 1 January 2018)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date

that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and

consolidated balance sheet respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to
its fair value at the date when control is lost,
with the change in carrying amount recognised
in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
It means the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements

of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Structured entity

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company,
its subsidiaries, and structured entity
where the Company is deemed the primary
beneficiary. Fuzhou DingCe Culture, one of
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
entered into contractual agreements with Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe (the “Structural Agreements”),
where Fuzhou DingCe Culture provides consulting
services to Beijing BaiChuanDuKe, and is entitled
to (1) receive a substantial portion of the
economic benefits from Beijing BaiChuanDuKe;
(2) exercise effective control over Beijing
BaiChuanDuKe, and (3) have an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe when and to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. By virtue of the
contractual arrangements, Beijing BaiChuanDuKe
is a structured entity and deemed as subsidiary of
the Company under the requirements of IFRS 10

"Consolidated financial statements”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Structured entity (Continued)

When assessing whether to combine a structured
entity, the Group evaluates a range of factors,
including whether (1) the activities of the
structured entity are being conducted on behalf
of the Group according to its specific business
needs so that the Group obtains the benefits
from the structured entity’s operations, (2) the
Group has decision-making powers to obtain the
majority of the benefits, (3) the Group obtains
the majority of the benefits of the activities of the
structured entity, and (4) the Group retains the
majority of the residual ownership risks related
to the assets in order to obtain the benefits from
its activities. The Group consolidates a structured
entity if an assessment of the relevant factors

indicates that it controls the structured entity.

Based on the contractual arrangements, the
Company consolidated Beijing BaiChuanDuKe's
results, assets and liabilities in its consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control,
generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is

accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is

reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
If this

is the case, the Group calculates the amount

investment in the associate is impaired.

of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to ‘share of losses of associates’
for using equity method in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principal of consolidation (Continued)

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

23 EOFARER (&)

(c) Associates (Continued)
Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

2.4 Business combination

The Group applies acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at

the acquisition date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Business combination (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-
company transactions that are recognised in assets
are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting

policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Board of Directors (the “Board”)

that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is
the Company’s functional and the Group's

presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within ‘general and

administrative expenses'.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(iy  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on

the dates of the transactions); and

(iiiy all resulting exchange differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

2.6 SR E (&)

(c) Group companies (Continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment
in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or

loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and

translated at the closing rate.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

2 BEXRESTTHEBE (&)

27 NE -BERHRE (&)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40 years
B¥ 404

Leasehold improvements

WE - BB RRENTERNERZE
At E R A ERFEHEKRAD
BEENBREE-BRAFHET:

5 — 10 years or the remaining term of any non-renewable

lease, whichever is shorter

HEWEEE SEI0FH A EBHENRTFH (UREERE)
Machinery 5-10 years

ez 5E10%

Fixture, furniture and equipment 5 years

KE HMMRE 54

Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

"= 5Z10F

Exhibition animals 5 years

RESY 54

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘General and administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Intangible assets

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

8 BVEE

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair

value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of

CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of

[GES
WHENBARMEEMNEE M
HEHEAE P UE T BT 3R
RiERZSERNEWETOEME
AT AR A ) I BB B R S (B BB P U B
AHRFEENRAABEHEE-

ARERNANS AXBHEHFER
MEEesEZRBMBXERE G
MipFRREN S EREEREESE
B -EokmEmMSEUxEE

the combination. Each unit or group of units to which BAEERAASANBEEERNME
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level AEETEENREED BER
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for REDHEDEE -

internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored

at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as

an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

Trademarks and licences

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown
at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks
and licences over their estimated useful lives of seven

years.

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three

years.

Computer software and web site

Costs associated with maintaining computer software
program and web site are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique computer software and web site controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when

the following criteria are met:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

Computer software and web site (Continued)

It is technically feasible to complete the computer
software and web site so that they will be

available for use;

Management intends to complete the computer

software and web site, and use or sell them;

There is an ability to use or sell the computer

software and web site;

It can be demonstrated how the computer
software and web site will generate probable

future economic benefits;

Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the computer software and web site are available;

and

The expenditure attributable to the computer
software and web site during their development

can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part

of the computer software and web site cost include

the software development employee costs. Other

development expenditures that do not meet these

criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Development costs previously recognised as an expense

are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

Computer software and web site (Continued)

Remaining computer software and web site costs
recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives and the terms of validity granted by

corresponding authorities, which are three years.

Right to a land lease

Right to a land lease represents the operating lease
with favourable terms relative to market terms as
acquired in a business combination that is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The right to a land
lease has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over the expected useful

life of 41 years.

Township operation right

Township operation right represents a 40-years’
exclusive operation right to develop, construct, manage
and operate commercial activities in the operation site.
The township operation right are shown at historical
cost. It has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over the expected useful

life of 40 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EXREHBEME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

29 FETRMEERE

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

2.10 Properties held for sale

Properties are classified as properties held for sale
when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than

through continuing use.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

Classification
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial

assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or

through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets

changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit

or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and

interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement

of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI:

contractual cash flows and for selling the

Assets that are held for collection of

financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other losses. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Net foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in general and administrative expenses
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within other

losses in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EXREHBEME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

2N RERAEMERMEE (F)

(Continued)
Impairment
From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the impairment as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as

lifetime expected credit losses.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues
to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s

previous accounting policy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and

receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The

classification depends on the purpose for which the

investments were acquired. Management determines

the classification of its investment at initial recognition.

See Note 3.3 for details about each type of financial

asset.

(a)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. If collection
of the amounts is expected in one year or less
they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise ‘Trade
receivables’, ‘Deposits and other receivables’,
‘Amounts due from related parties’ and 'Cash
and cash equivalents’ in the consolidated balance

sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

2N RERAEMERMEE (F)

(Continued)

Classification (Continued)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments are designated as available-for-
sale financial assets if they do not have fixed
maturities and fixed or determinable payments,
and management intends to hold them for the
medium to long-term. Financial assets that are
not classified into any of the other categories are
also included in the available-for-sale category.
The financial assets are presented as non-current
assets unless they mature, or management
intends to dispose of them within 12 months of

the end of the reporting period.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the group has transferred

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of

financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently
carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale

financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive

income.

Impairment

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(@ "loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows

of the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that
there is objective evidence of an impairment loss

include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

. The Group, for economic or legal reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
granting to the borrower a concession that

the lender would not otherwise consider;

o It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

° The disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

Observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of financial
assets since the initial recognition of those
assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets

in the portfolio, including:

(i)  adverse changes in the payment status

of borrowers in the portfolio; and

(i)  national or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on the

assets in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of
an instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
Impairment (Continued)

(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is

impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or
loss — is reclassified from equity and recognised
in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available for sale increases and the increase can
be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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B Or R R TR
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2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in

the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the

Company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EXREHBEME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Inventories 213 FE

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods comprises
of newsprint paper and printing consumables. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.

If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See Note 13 for further information about
the Group’s accounting for trade and other receivables
and Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s

impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits
held at call with banks with original maturities of three

months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current

liabilities.

Trade payable are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

RO R MIEE

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

218 BNIRIEREFRS % (&)

(a)

(b)

BN P & Bt

BIEIFTSH  H TH IR IR A 2 7]
RN PNCINE: L WNSIF S
ERELERRBTBANBERR
EE R D EME RBUREME
BOESTHE - B2 E T HARt#E A
B GROIHHIRBFRENER
FHEE R B LIS - B
JE & E 10 TE B S A B 75 14 R 48
MO SENEERELEE-

IEFEFR 1S B

A ZE
BIEFTSIH Ty ABE T EIR R
BEABNHREER S HHH
WRAMERE SR EAE
ENERZRER AM
BEXEHRBREREE LS
RimES A N ERIELEHR A
BE WEEAERE-—RX
5 (MIEXBAH)PNEE
SBRELNnERAMEL (M
FZERPERL EE R HE
RGN REEBEREE)
AT ERELERFRAR-E
PRI AREE R DM
HEARBRM AFEHRENE
BRI EEZRF RN
EEMBHRAESERERD
BE(RBE)ERE -

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH

153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a

net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current accrual and other payables in the

consolidated balance sheet.

Pension obligations

Full time employees of the PRC entities
participate in a government mandated
multiemployer defined contribution plan pursuant
to which certain pension benefits, medical care,
unemployment insurance, employee housing
fund and other welfare benefits are provided to
employees. Chinese labor regulations require the
Company to accrue for these benefits based on
certain percentages of the employees’ salaries.
Management believes full time employees who
have passed the probation period are entitled to

such benefits.

The Group contributes to Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF”) for eligible employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF are
held in a separate trustee administered fund.
The Company’s contributions to the MPF are

expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is

available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of

past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources

will be required to settle the obligation; and the

amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Provisions (Continued)

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

2.20 B (&)

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be

small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.

2.21 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over

the period of the facility to which it relates.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance
sheet when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income as

other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

2.22 Revenue recognition

The Group determined when to recognise revenue
and how much revenue to recognise through a 5-step
approach: (i) identify the contract(s) with customer; (ii)
identify separate performance obligations in a contract;
(iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate
transaction price to performance obligations; and (v)
recognise revenue when performance obligation is

satisfied.

(i) Newspaper advertising
The Group renders services for the creation,
production and placement of advertising
materials through certain newspaper publishers.
Revenue from providing the advertising services
are recognised at a point in time when the

services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Newspaper advertising (Continued)

The Group’s role in the provision of services
on newspaper advertising is that of a principal.
When deciding the most appropriate basis for
presenting revenue or costs of revenue, both
the legal form and substance of the agreement
between the Group and its business partners are
reviewed to determine each party’s respective
role in the transaction. Hence, revenue from

newspaper advertising services is recognised on a

gross basis when services are rendered.

Marketing and consulting services

Revenue from marketing services comprised of
(i) revenue from provision of marketing planning
and consulting services and (ii) commission from

sale of properties.

Revenue from marketing planning and consulting
services is recognised over time when the services
are rendered. Revenue are recognised over the

respective contract terms.

Commission from sale of properties is recognised
at a point in time when the services are rendered
and the customer (i.e. property developer) has
entered into the sales and purchase agreement

with the buyer.

RO R MIEE

2 BERESTHEBE (&)

2.22 W HER

(i)

(ii)

2 (&)
HAEES (&)
AEBEREREESRE S
ERENBAEZ - EETR
el R AR R 2 | B A
W AEEFEMHEEELKY
&%ﬂﬁ%#\%&%ﬁ&m
LEESEFERSHHF
1 CcHIt R BWMAESE R
#) W e P AR S s iR A BE A
MR o

SR EARY
KB = IR B e B AR ()3
TS SR 8 K o A AR 55 O M as

FVHEMEMGHEE -
REE RS KRR H U

AR AR B RERR o
BB HWHRRER

Wz m

HEMEMSAESRIBERE
NER BEXF (AmERE

BEEERFLEE W&

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH

159



160

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Marketing and consulting services
(Continued)

Customers are invoiced based on the payment
schedule. If the services rendered by the
Company exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services

rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

Printing services

Printing revenue is recognised at a point in time
when printing services are rendered and the
legal title of the newspaper is transferred to the

customers.

Others

Other revenue mainly includes rental income
and other miscellaneous income. Rental income
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the
respective lease terms. Other miscellaneous
income are recognised at a point in time when
the respective control on goods or services are

transferred to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EXREHBEME ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Government grants

2.23 BUF#Bh

Grants from the government are recognised at fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with

all attached conditions.

Government grants are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate. Government grants
relating to expenses are shown separately as other

income.

2.24 leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over

the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets are
included in the consolidated balance sheet based on

their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.25 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,

where appropriate.

2.26 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in

the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk,
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. The Group has not used any
derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk

exposures.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates principally in the PRC.
Majority of recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in RMB and majority of
transactions are settled in RMB. Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from cash
and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables balance, promissory notes and
loans from a related party denominated in
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD"). The Group does
not hold or issue any derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to

foreign currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, if HKD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year would
have been RMBS&,329,000 lower/higher
(2017:RMB3,212,000 higher/lower), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of HKD denominated cash
and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables balance, promissory notes and

loans from a related party.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
bank borrowings, other borrowings, loans
from a related party, promissory notes and
bank deposits. Bank borrowings obtained at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by

bank deposits held at variable rates.

Other borrowings, loans from a related
party and promissory notes carry a fixed
rate interest which expose the Group to fair

value interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rate risk on its variable rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the
balance sheet date and prepared assuming
the amount of bank borrowings and bank
deposits outstanding at each balance sheet

date was outstanding for the whole year.

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates
had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2018, would have been
RMB52,000 higher/lower (2017: RMB5,000
higher/lower), mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on the bank

borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BBERERE (&)

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEERER (&)
(b) Credit risk (b) EERE

The carrying amounts of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties, and bank balances included in
the consolidated financial statements represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to its financial assets. The objective of
the Group's measures to manage credit risk is

to control potential exposure to recoverability

problem.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
contract assets, other financial assets at
amortised cost (including deposits and other
receivables and amount due from related parties)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Management considers the Group has
limited credit risk with its banks which are
leading and reputable and are assessed as

having low credit risk. Majority of bank
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balances are deposited with reputable hREERBREIE - KEB
banks. The Group has not incurred DRITEBRTREER
significant loss from non-performance by FHEYIRTT - AEEBER

these parties in the past and management

does not expect so in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Since the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January
2018, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permit
the use of lifetime expected loss provision
for trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.
As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December
2018, the loss allowance provision for
trade receivables and contract assets was
determined as follows. The expected credit
losses below also incorporated forward
looking information. The Group has
identified the GDP of the countries in which
it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on the expected

changes in this forward-looking factor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3

(Continued)

(1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BRRKRERE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEERER (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERM (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets (i) EBBEKRZEARSIE
(Continued) E (4E)
0-30 31-60 61-90  91-180  181-365 Over 365
31 December 2018 Current days days days days days days Total
28
“E-N\E+ZA=1-H B 0308 31-608  61-90A 91-180F 181-365H 3650 @zt
Expected loss rate EHEELE 23% 5.3% 96%  132%  215%  92.3% 100%
Gross carrying amount REfQE
(RMB'000) (AREFT)
- Trade receivables -BSRUE 6,691 688 12 47 210 1,082 1177 10,331
- Contract assets -RNEE 2,224 - - = = = = 2,224
Loss allowance provision BIEENRE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) (205) (36) (1) (62) (45) (998)  (1,177)  (2,524)
0-30 31-60 61-90 91-180  181-365 Over 365
1 January 2018 Current days days days days days days Total
ikl
—2-\%-HF-H 0% 0308 31608  61-90A 91-180F 181-365H 3650 @t
Expected loss rate BAERLE 2.5% 61%  11.1%  125%  238%  75.0%  88.6%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB'000) (ARETFTT)
- Trade receivables -BARUE 3,637 198 54 16 172 1045 14,698 19,820
- Contract assets -RNBE 1,000 - - - - - - 1,000
Loss allowance provision BRENRE
(RMB'000) (AR®F) (117) (12) 6) 2 41) (784)  (13,022)  (13,984)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBERERE (&)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEERER (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERM (&)

(i) BB KA R Bt

(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised
costs, the Group considers the probability
of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis

throughout each reporting period.

Management makes periodic collective

assessments as well as individual assessment

LI AN BR 2 B
WEMEEMS  A%E
RN HEREERZ R
BRI B RN & W
THREERRESF

BRI -

ERERELEER
85 OBERRLAEEE
£t

on the recoverability of the balances TE BRI A eR ) AT R B
based on historical settlement records, 14 3 77 2L [ 7F 1k K2 & Bl
past experience and forward-looking S o

information.

To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of default as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-

looking information. Especially the following
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changes in business, financial or A5 B B B =k 78 A1

economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the

debtors” ability to meet its obligations
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

actual or expected significant changes

in the operating results of debtors

significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the

same debtor

significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of
debtors, including changes in the
payment status of the debtor in the
Group and changes in the operating

results of the debtor

Other financial assets at amortised cost

have low risk of default and it is not

expected any losses from non-performance

by the counterparties. As at 31 December

2018, the Group assessed that there is no

significant increase in credit risk for these

balances from initial recognition and the

expected credit loss rate for these financial

assets is immaterial under 12 months

expected credit losses model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

(iv)

(Continued)

The restatement of the loss allowance
for other financial assets at amortised
costs on transition to IFRS 9 as a result of
applying the expected credit risk model was

immaterial.

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

The Group is also exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt investments that are
measured at fair value through profit or
loss. The maximum exposure at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount

of these investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements for
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
Group invests surplus cash in time deposits
and money market deposits with appropriate
maturities. The Group reported net loss of
RMB164,597,000 and operating cash outflow
of RMB58,291,000 during the year ended
31 December 2018. As at the same date,
the Group held cash and cash equivalent of
RMB33,880,000 (2017: RMB60,178,000)
(Note 14), trade receivables of RMB7,858,000
(2017: RMB6,068,000) (Note 13) and undrawn
borrowing facilities of RMB102,629,000 that are
expected to readily generate cash inflows for
managing liquidity risk and to fund the Group's

operations.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has
mortgage loans with a repayable on demand
clause amounted to RMB6,877,000 (2017:
RMB9,113,000) to finance the Group’s
acquisition of properties. Details of the bank

borrowings are disclosed in Note 20(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has an other
borrowing amounted to RMB1,500,000. (2017:
Nil). The balance is unsecured, carries an interest
rate at 6% per annum with a term of 2 years,

and is repayable on demand.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet
date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as
the impact of discounting is not significant.
Specifically, for bank and other borrowings
which contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the discretion of the
counterparties, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the

entity can be required to pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

(Continued)

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BRRKRERE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEERER (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) c) RBESRRE (&)
Less than
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total
—ELRK —EME MERE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TRT ARETT AR®TR
At 31 December 2018 R-B-N§
+=RA=+-H
Trade and other payables &5 & E i B 2 H 18,768 - = 18,768
Bank borrowings PITER 6,896 - - 6,896
Other borrowing HAER 1,500 - - 1,500
Promissory notes ERRE 4,819 4,819 89,310 98,948
Loans from a related party ~ BREE 5 (& 5 - 93,491 - 93,491
Amounts due to JERBIEA T IR
related parties 628 - - 628
32,611 98,310 89,310 220,231
At 31 December 2017 i o3
+t=A=t+-H
Trade and other payables &5 R E B A 19,341 - - 19,341
Bank borrowings RITEXK 9,133 - - 9,133
Amounts due to JERTEAEA T 58
related parties 475 - - 475
28,949 - - 28,949



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

RO R MIEE

3 HHERERE (&)

3.1 MBERREE (&)
c) "RBEZ=RMR (&)

The Group's undrawn borrowing facilities were as REE R AREREREE W

follows:

T

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
R=B-N\§ R-_FT—tF
t+=A +=A
=+-—H =+—~H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Fixed rate — expiring within

Bl E M F -0 — F R EH

one year 2,629 -
Floating rate — expiring within FENAE - —FNE W
one year (Note(i)) (BFREG)) 100,000 =
102,629 -
Note (i): M REG) -
On 14 March 2018, the Group obtained a banking R-ZE-—NE=ZA+MB A%
facility with a facility limit of RMB100,000,000 and a EEGRITREREHEEARY
facility period from 14 March 2018 to 13 March 2019. 100,000,0007t - HEHR B =T
The facility has expired on 13 March 2019, since then, —N\F=ZATHEBE=Z—hLF
the Group does not hold any banking facilities. ZAT=ZB-ZERMEER=Z

—NFE=ZA+=BEHR Bt K
SEYEFEEMRITRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings
divided by total assets, as shown in the consolidated

balance sheet.

During the year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from 2017, was to maintain the gearing
ratio below 40%. Gearing ratio as at 31 December
2018 is 37.1% (2017: 2.9%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Financial instruments by category

RO R MIEE

3 HHERERE (&)

3.3 RERETNEMTA

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T R ARETT

Assets as per balance sheet
Available-for-sale financials asset
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Loans and receivables:

Trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables

Amount due from related parties

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

EEBBERFIINEE
AT EEREE = 84,726
ARELERRAERD
EMEE 6,173 -
B ERGE
BoRWFE ek
H A pE W R 17,608 61,255
fE UL B8 E A 708 820 740
HeMReSEER 33,880 60,178
BEt 58,481 206,899
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®T R ARET T

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Carried at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Promissory notes

Loans from a related party

Amounts due to related parties

Total

EEEBERMINERS

RN AT R

H 5 Kk E A BN FRIE 18,768 19,341
LN 8,377 9,113
ST 81,552 =
BT B 87,132 =
FEfTRAE A L 5K8 628 475
et 196,457 28,929
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.4

3.5

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the following financial assets
and financial liabilities approximate their fair values
as all of them are short-term in nature: cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings and amounts due to related
parties. The fair value of other financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments, unless the discounting effect is

insignificant.

As at 31 December 2018, there are certain deposit
and other receivables and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (31 December 2017: available-
for-sale financial asset) measured at value in use using
discounted cash flow method which approximate their
fair values. See Note 9 and Note 12 for disclosures
relevant to deposits and other receivables, and financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,
there are certain properties held for sale measured
at fair value less cost to sell using direct market
comparable approach and income approach which
are approximate to their fair values. See Note 11 for

disclosures relevant to properties held for sale.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

No disclosure of the offsetting of financial assets
and financial liabilities is made as there is no netting

arrangement in place during the year.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

Valuation of net identifiable assets arising from
business combination

The Group completed the acquisition of Supreme Glory
Limited on 8 May 2018. Management of the Group has
engaged an independent valuer to assist in performing
the purchase price allocation assessment on the fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at

the acquisition date.

Significant management judgements were involved
in the valuation methodologies and underlying
assumptions of the valuation of purchase price
allocation, including market rental yield rate and
adjusted land unit rate used to determine the fair
values of right to a land lease and property, plant and

equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Valuation of net identifiable assets arising from
business combination (Continued)

Had the Group used different inputs or assumptions,
right to a land lease, property, plant and equipment,
other identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and the goodwill recognised would be
different and thus cause impact to the consolidated
balance sheet. Details of the business combination are

disclosed in Note 33.

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

The Group owns an investment in a movie income
right and a network drama which have been classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The management performed an assessment on the fair
value of the balance based on discounted cash flow
model which required significant estimates, including
the streams of income which the Group is entitled,
determination of appropriate discount rate and
expected timing of settlement. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of the financial assets
at fair value in the period in which such estimate has

been changed.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Valuation of properties held for sale

The Group owns certain properties held for sale which
are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. In absence of current price in
an active market for similar properties which is the best
evidence of fair value, the management determined
the amount within a range of reasonable fair values
estimates. In making its estimates, the management
considers information from the valuations of properties
performed by external professional valuer by (i)
direct market comparable approach, including the
assumptions of the adjusting factors regarding to the
location, size and nature of the properties; and (ii)
income approach, including the assumptions of the
expected rent income, growth rate and discount rate to
determine the fair value. Had the Group used different
inputs or assumptions, the fair value of the properties
would be different and thus caused impact to the
consolidated income statement. Details of the valuation

of properties held for sale are disclosed in Note 11.

Impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets

The Group recognises impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses model. The model involves
the assessment on the probability of default on the
balances based on historical settlement records,
past experience and forward-looking information.
Impairment is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes. The identification of probability of
default requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Details of key assumptions and inputs used are

disclosed in Note 3.1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets” to determine when assets are impaired,
which requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration and extent to which the recoverable
amount of assets is less than their carrying balance,
including factors such as the industry performance
and changes in operational and financing cash flows.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest level for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (a CGU). The
recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on fair value less cost of disposal calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates,
including operating results, income and expenses of
the business, future economic conditions on growth

rates and future returns.

Management of the Group has performed goodwill
impairment review annually on 31 December 2018.
Details of goodwill impairment review are disclosed in
Note 8.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of the assets is based could
significantly affect the Group's financial position and

results of operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(f)

Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
income tax provision and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination

is made.

5 REVENUE

Revenue from external customers are mainly derived from

the provision of newspaper advertising services to advertisers

in the PRC, the provision of marketing and consulting

services and printing services. The total sales amount of the
Group’s five largest customers is RMB18,642,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB18,648,000). An
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analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: SEFEFRNKRASTAT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T
Newspaper advertising WEES 6,952 7,210
Marketing and consulting services & IH R R IR 39,498 31,668
Printing services E[1 !l AR 755 4,765 4,550
Others EAh 3,801 -
55,016 43,428
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

5

REVENUE (Continued) 5 WA(E&)
2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARETF T

Timing of revenue recognition e & 1 58 s ]

- At a point in time — 3 (B B 40,821 39,846
— Over time — [ B 14,195 3,582
55,016 43,428

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no customer of
the Group accounted for more than 10% of the Group's
revenue (2017: revenue derives from a customer of the
Group amounted to RMB5,633,000 which accounted for

more than 10% of the Group's revenue).

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with
customers
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities

related to contracts with customers:

REBE-Z—-N\F+-A=+—HBIHF
E BEREAEENEFLPHKARR
REBMBAI0% (ZT—+F KAXR
EE-—REPHWARARRS,633,000
T BBAEERARNI0%) o

HEFEHNHEBZEERAE

AEECHRBUATERTFPFANHEBEZE
ENBE:

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

RMB’‘000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Contract assets (Note (i) EHEE (WEG)) 2,224 -
Less: Provision for impairment (Note (ii)) R E B E (BT REGE) ) (51) -
Contract assets — net EHNEE—FE 2,173 -
Contract liabilities (Note (jii) and 19) EHalE (MsEGin&19) 5,649 -
Total contract liabilities EHBaERE 5,649 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Contract assets represent the Group’s right to consideration
in the exchange for services that the Group has transferred
to customer. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the right to bill the customer has established
and receipt of the consideration is conditional only on the

passage of time.

The Group expects that contract assets have the same risk

characteristics as trade receivables.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS from 1 January
2018 (Note 2.2). As at 31 December 2018, a provision of
RMB51,000 was made against the gross amount of contract
assets. The impairment of contract assets is disclosed in Note
2.11.

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance of non-

refundable payments made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue, which
was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the year, recognised during the year relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liability balance R EON

at the beginning of the year

RO R MIEE

5 WA (&)

M AT -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

FAFTNaNEERERZ

BHEERASBEEREREEETR
F R E R - 8 R E P YR
MEFNDEY BEREFEERFER
HMPE ANEEREEE S EEK
Ho

AEERHANEERE HBWFIAA
B R E R R R

AEBBE-Z— \F—HR REERH
BREEBEFEAECEILEREE
BB EE (HiE2.2) - R=ZT— N
F+ZA=+—H BRENEEBLEIE
HASBARES1,000TNEE -AHE
ERERME2 1A -

AREBEEENEPIELTRRERNK
AT U B B SRR ©
RENEERINKA
TRINTFAMEREAEESNBER
BHRASE (EFAFTANAERS
£2) -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT
1,092 1,179
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REVENUE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations

resulting from newspaper advertising services contracts:

WARE S IR

Newspaper advertising services

i As permitted under the transitional provisions in
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to (partially)
unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31 December

2017 is not disclosed.

Management expects the above unsatisfied (or partially
satisfied) contracts will be recognised as revenue

during the next reporting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Executive Directors have been identified as the CODM.
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by the CODM for the purposes

of allocating resources and assessing performance.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the
Group's advertising, marketing, consulting and printing
businesses from both geographic and product perspectives.
From a product perspective, management takes into
consideration of the economic benefits of abovementioned
businesses as a whole when executing a centralised
assessment of the performance as the CODM considers they
are mutually dependent and inseparable. Geographically,
management considers the Group’s businesses activities
are included in a single reportable segment in accordance
with IFRS 8 “Operating segments”. As such, no segment

information is presented.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 ME -BRERZE
Fixture,
Land and Leasehold furniture and Motor
buildings  improvement Machinery ~ equipment vehicles Total
RE GRAR
ThREF HENEERE W RE "E @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBT
At 1 January 2017 R-Z-t¥-A-AH
Cost A 4,681 7,940 32,123 8,439 8,064 61,247
Accumulated depreciation 2EME - (2,279) (26,820) (5,711) (4,614) (39,424)
Accumulated impairment losses RHREEE - - (1,730) - - (1,730)
Net carrying amount REE 4,681 5,661 3,573 2,728 3,450 20,093
Year ended 31 December 2017  HZE=F-t&
TZAZT-BLEE
Opening net carrying amount BOREFE 4,681 5,661 3,573 2,728 3,450 20,093
Additions hE - 499 - 382 - 881
Disposals e - - - - (571) (571)
Depreciation (Note 23) & (F323) (234) (2,334) (1,092) (589) (1,145) (5,394)
Currency translation differences HHREEE - (358) - 91 (35 (302)
Closing net carrying amount HRREFE 4,447 3,468 2,481 2,612 1,699 14,707
At 31 December 2017 R-E-tE+-A=t-H
Cost KR 4,681 8,104 32,123 8,770 6,720 60,398
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (234) (4,636) (27,912) (6,158) (5,021) (43,961)
Accumulated impairment losses ZEREEE - - (1,730) - = (1,730)
Net carrying amount REFHE 4,447 3,468 2,481 2,612 1,699 14,707
THEERAERAR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 YME -BERZME (&)
(Continued)
Fixture,
furniture
Land and Construction  Leasehold and Motor  Exhibition
buildings in progress improvement  Machinery  equipment vehicles animals Total
2B HRR
IHREF  ABIE HENEEE HE R RE  REBN @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZE-N\§
TZAZ+-HLEEE
Opening net carrying amount BNEmEE 4,447 = 3,468 2,481 2,612 1,699 = 14,707
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33)  WEEMB AR (H5H33) 16,900 = = = = = = 16,900
Acquisition of assets through ERNE-BHEAANEEE
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)  (MH5E34) = = = = 707 = 4293 5,000
Additions AE 24,567 7,597 1,737 - 452 220 - 34,573
Transfer #3 3,418 S = = = = - 3,418
Disposals LE - - - - () - - )
Depreciation (Note 23) & (M5k23) (675) - (1,732) (679) (455) (600) (143) (4,284)
Impairment A - - (1,207) (1,802) - - - (3,029)
Currency translation differences ERnEET - - 83 - 52 17 - 152
Closing net carrying amount BREETE 48,657 7,597 2,329 - 3,357 1336 4,150 67,426
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-NE+ZB=t-H
Cost KA 49,565 7,597 10,071 32,123 9,675 6,970 4,293 120,294
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (908) - (6,515) (28,591) (6318) (5,634) (183) (48,109)
Accumulated impairment losses ZHRERR - - (1,27) (3,532) - - - (4,759)
Net carrying amount FEFE 48,657 7,597 2,329 - 3,357 1,336 4,150 67,426
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain buildings
with net book value of RMB3,418,000 (2017: Nil) were

transferred from properties held for sale.

Depreciation of the Group's property, plant and equipment
has been charged to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

RO R MIEE

M- BERRE (&)

REE-_FT—-N\F+_A=+—HLF
BRI F R AR 3,418,000 (=&
—tFE)NETEFEABELED

it
il

AEEHNYE BEMRREBFEDE TS
AHAREHEE KSR

2018 2017

—E-[\fF —T £

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETF T

Cost of sales SHE A 1,192 1,194
General and administrative expenses —MBERITHEAX 3,092 4,200
Total #BET 4,284 5,394
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 EIEEE
Non-
Computer compete Customer
software  agreement Goodwill  relationships Trademark Web site Total
EREEA  THIHE HE EFB#% BE @ &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2017 R=Z-tf-Hf-A
Cost % 3,127 11,500 12,573 14,500 9,400 8,476 59,576
Accumulated amortisation RitEH (2,656) (11,500) - (14,500) (6,176) (8,476) (43,308)
Accumulated impairment losses 2t EIEFE (410) = (12,573) = (2,265) = (15,248)
Net carrying amount REFE 61 - - - 959 = 1,020
Year ended HE-E-t%
31 December 2017 +=A=+-A
L5E
Opening net carrying amount ~ EB#1ER A F 38 61 - - - 959 - 1,020
Amortisation (Note 23) 2 (f3) (9) = = = (479) = (488)
Closing net carrying amount SRR F & 52 = = = 480 = 532
At 31 December 2017 RZB-t&
+ZB=+-H
Cost KA 3,127 11,500 12,573 14,500 9,400 8,476 59,576
Accumulated amortisation ZitEH (2,665) (11,500) - (14,500) (6,655) (8,476) (43,796)
Accumulated impairment losses  ZiFEE B (410) - (12,573) - (2,265) - (15,248)
Net carrying amount FEFE 52 - - - 480 - 532
Non- Township
Computer compete Customer Righttoa  operation
software  agreement  Goodwill relationships  Trademark Website  land lease right Total
MEER
ElRlE  THIEE B8  EFER L] By tHEEE -7 @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZE-N%
TZAZt-BLEE
Opening net carrying amount BNEEEE 5 - - - 480 - - - 532
Additions RE 12 - - - - - - 28,000 28,012
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33)  WEEMB 2 A (fi&33) - - 66,058 - - - 193,439 - 259,497
Amortisation (Note 23) £ () 0 - - - (480) - 317 (471) (4,129
Closing net carrying amount BRERTE 57 - 66,058 - - - 190,268 27,529 283,912
At 31 December 2018 RZ§-NE+ZB=+-A
Cost Fi R 3,139 11,500 78,631 14,500 9,400 8,476 193,439 28,000 347,085
Accumulated amortisation it BH 2,672) (11,500) N (14,500) (7,135 (8,476) (3171) (47 (47,925)
Accumulated impairment losses 2 REER (10) - (12,573) - (2,265) - - - (15,248)
Net carrying amount FEFE 57 - 66,058 - - 190,268 27,529 283912



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
The amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to
“General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Due to the acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited on
8 May 2018, the Group recognised intangible assets
of RMB193,439,000, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB52,571,000 and goodwill of RMB66,058,000.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to a cash generating unit, Supreme Glory Limited
and its subsidiaries that operate the Beijing Shihua Caves
Niaoyulin Project. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the basis of determining the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit and the major underlying assumptions are

summarised below:

The recoverable amount has been determined based on fair
value less cost of disposal method. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the Directors covering a 5-year period, and at a post-tax
discount rate of 14.16%. The cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 3%

per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, management does
not foresee any significant change in the key assumptions
used in the fair value less cost of disposal calculations that
will cause the recoverable amount of goodwill to be less

than their carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

9

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 9 HEMNRE -BRERHMEKRK
RECEIVABLES by |
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBT T
Non-current portion EREBBD
Prepayment for acquisition of properties W B 1) 3£ HO T 18P 1B
(Note (i) E=EA0) - 24,211
Deposit for a proposed acquisition BRRBEENERS
(Note (ii)) (Bt = (Gii)) - 28,315
Deposit and prepayment for NEIBERENES R
; = Py
township development (Note (iii)) TE AT FRIE (B EE (i) 22,000 22.000
Prepayment for township operation NEIE B S R TR B
right (Note (iii) (B & (i) - 28,000
Long term prepayment (Note (iv)) REATEM A (M FEGv) - 138,000
Deposits to a newspaper publisher BT —RFALIREH
(Note (iv)) ®rE (M) - 30,000
Prepayment for property, W WE RFZEBNFKIE
plant and equipment 11,761 -
Prepayment for acquisition of a subsidiary U BE— R B A RFEN R IB 3,000 -
Rental deposits Hekse 428 3,300
Other deposits Hiviz e 500 -
37,689 273,826
Less: Provision for impairment (Note (iv)) RORE R (B EE V) - (168,000)
Prepayments, deposits and FERRIE -ZE R
other receivables — net H A FE W RIB-F 5B 37,689 105,826
Current portion mEBD
Prepayment to a newspaper publisher BT — A AR Ay
FE R RIR - 89,103
Other prepayments E b BT B 772 2,283
Rental deposit Meke 4,120 171
Deposits and other receivables e R E A B FRIE 4,701 15,535
9,593 107,092
Less: Provision for impairment (Note (iv)) R EREE (Y EE(v)) - (103,289)
Prepayments, deposits and FERRE -ZER
other receivables — net E b U Gk IE — F 5 9,593 3,803
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments, deposits

and other receivables are denominated in the following

SCRNE/SE]

RO R MIEE

BT R E MWK

H (&)
AEBEOBEN A RS R BRI
YRR T (B A T 51 B M 4

currencies:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
RMB AR® 43,405 77,023
HK$ AT 3,877 32,606
47,282 109,629

(i) Prepayment for acquisition of properties (i) WBYENRASRE

As at 31 December 2017, prepayment for acquisition
of properties represents the prepayment paid by the
Group to Xiamen Information Group Ltd. for the
purchase of certain commercial premises located
within Xiamen Software Park Ill. Total consideration
for the properties is RMB22,164,000, out of which
RMB15,470,000 were financed by mortgage loans
on the properties granted by a bank to the Group.
Details of the mortgage loans are disclosed in Note
20. During the year, the Group has capitalised
borrowing costs amounting to RMB356,000 (2017:
RMB585,000) on the prepayment. As at 31 December
2018, the prepayments amounted to RMB24,567,000
were utilised in the acquisition of properties and the
properties were recognised in the property, plant and

equipment upon transfer of ownership.

RZZE—+t&F+_A=+—8 'K
BYENENRBEANEERES
UREMBRER=ZHNE T
mMEmMMEFEEEEERA A
ERNERE - ZEMENERER
AR #22,164,0000L  Hh AR
15,470,0007T A —KRITRL ZF W)
ERAEERENRBEREN -
RIBERBOFBERM T208 5 - 5
N AEBEE RZBEMNRIEBERER
A AR AR #356,000T (=T —+
F: ANR#585,0007) BREEA-
RZE—NF+_A=+—H0" 7
~3IE A R#24,567,0007T F 1E IR
By MAEEDERTEEEER
BRYE - BERRENER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

9

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deposit for a proposed acquisition

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement signed on
8 May 2017, the Group conditionally agreed to
acquire and the sellers of Supreme Glory Limited
conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest
in Supreme Glory Limited for a consideration of
HK$340,000,000. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
paid HK$34,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB28,315,000) as a deposit for the acquisition.
The deposit is non-interest bearing and is refundable
if the acquisition is terminated. The deposit has
been subsequently utilised upon completion of the
acquisition on 8 May 2018 (Note 33).

Deposit and prepayment for township
development and prepayment for township
operation right

Pursuant to the framework agreement entered into by
the Group with Yongtai Government on 15 September
2017, Yongtai Government agreed to form a long-term
strategic cooperation with the Group regarding the
development and operation of the Township Project.
Under the framework agreement, the Group shall pay
a deposit of RMB50,000,000 to Yongtai Government,
which can be utilised for participating in open tender
auctions to be organised by the Yongtai Government
for land use rights, assets, grant of lease and/or

operation rights circulation within the project site.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

@ PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(iii) Deposit and prepayment for township

(iv)

development and prepayment for township
operation right (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
entered into an operation right agreement with the
Yongtai Government for the acquisition of a 40-years’
exclusive operation right to develop, construct, manage
and operate commercial activities such as tourism,
sightseeing, resort, culture, sports and entertainment
in the operation site at a consideration of
RMB28,000,000. The consideration of RMB28,000,000
is deducted from the RMB50,000,000 refundable
deposit placed by the Group with Yongtai Government
under the framework agreement. The prepayment of
RMB28,000,000 has been subsequently utilised upon
completion of the acquisition on 19 April 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the remaining deposit of
RMB22,000,000 is intended to be utilised for township
development and is classified as a prepayment for

township development.

Provision for impairment

As at 31 December 2017, certain prepayments and
deposits amounting to RMB271,289,000 were fully
impaired and provided for in prior years. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, these prepayments
and deposits amounting to RMB271,289,000 that have

been provided for in prior years have been written off.

9 BAXRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

10 INVENTORIES 10 #&
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARYT T ARBT T
Newsprint and printing consumables 7 AR K BRI #E 1,420 1,224

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in “Cost of sales” amounted to RMB3,621,000 (2017:
RMB2,018,000).

11 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale includes the following:

11

BRAERAIWHATHEREK] NFERK
N ANRE®S 621,000 (ZE —+4F:
AR#2,018,0007T) °

FELEY =
AEEMFEHENEBEUTHEA -

2018 2017

—E-N\#F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARETF T

Properties held for sale BELEWE 24,622 34,519

The properties in the PRC were received in exchange of
advertising services to real estate developers in the PRC. The
Group's intention is to sell these properties and, accordingly,
such rights are recognised as properties held for sale upon
the completion of the advertising sales transaction if the

related properties are ready to be sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

Management assessed the fair value less costs to sell of
the properties with reference to their market value with
the assistance of an independent property valuer. Valuation
methodologies used in the valuation included direct market
comparable approach and income approach which are within
Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy respectively.
For direct market comparable approach, observable inputs
other than quoted prices within Level 1 included market
price of comparable properties adjusted having regard to
the location, size and nature of the properties (Level 2). For
income approach, unobservable inputs included expected
rent income, growth rate and discount rate (Level 3). There
were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring
fair value measurements during the year. For the year ended
31 December 2018, the management compared the carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell of the properties and
made further impairment provision of RMB4,252,000 (2017:
Nil) (Note 23).

Cash flows associated with the disposal of properties held
for sale are presented under “Operating activities” in the
consolidated statement of cash flows. The gain or loss on
disposal and impairment loss of properties held for sale are
recorded in “General and administrative expenses” in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 12 PRAELKEZERARNEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E
Investment in Investment in
a movie a network
income right drama Total
-BHEY —HAEE
WRENRE WEENRE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT
(Note (i) (Note (ii)
(B =) (Bt & Gi))
As at 1 January 2018 RZZ-N\F—H—H - - -
Reclassification from available-for-sale BRIt EeREE
financial assets (Note 2.2(a)) B 5 (K5E2.2) 84,726 - 84,726
Restated on 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—A—HEET| 84,726 = 84,726
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WM B AR (FI5E33) - 5,945 5,945
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at A EKBZEE AR
fair value through profit or loss SREECRAAE
(B#R)/ W& (84,726) 228 (84,498)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+-A=+—R - 6,173 6,173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(i)

Investment in a movie income right

On 22 February 2016, the Group entered into a
movie investment agreement with Shanghai Hehe
Film Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Hehe"”), a movie
executive producer in China, pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to acquire 55% of the income right
of a movie, Ip Man 3, for 30 years. The purchase
consideration of HK$131,168,000 (equivalent to
RMB110,000,000) was paid on 23 February 2016.
Shanghai Hehe guaranteed to the Group that the
total income from the income right within 1 year
after the first release date will not be less than
RMB16,500,000. During the year ended 31 December
2016, Shanghai Hehe acknowledged that the Group
could, at minimum, receive RMB128,580,000 from
the investment, of which RMB10,000,000 was already
settled. The remaining balance was due on 3 January
2017 which was 10 months after the first PRC release
date of the movie. Shanghai Hehe has not yet settled
the balance up to the date of this report.

As at 31 December 2018, management has observed
objective evidence showing that there is a significant
deterioration in credit quality of the counterparty.
The Group has assessed the recoverability of the
investment in the movie income right, by evaluating
past settlement record, the Group’s communications
with Shanghai Hehe and credit profile of Shanghai
Hehe, and considered the fair value of the investment

in movie income right is close to zero.

A fair value loss of RMB84,726,000 relating to this
investment was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

12 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(ii)

Investment in a network drama

On 8 May 2018, the Group has acquired an investment
in a network drama through the acquisition of
subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 33. Pursuant to the
investment agreement on 22 May 2017, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Supreme Glory Limited has agreed
to acquired 20% of the income right in a network
drama for a consideration of RMB6,000,000.

The fair value estimation of the investment was based
on the cash flows discounted using a rate based on the
market interest rate and risk premium specific to the
investment. Significant unobservable inputs involved
in the fair value measurement included the expected
timing of settlement and discount rate, which are
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no
transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring fair
value measurements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, a fair value
gain of RMB228,000 relating to this investment
was recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET 13 ESEWFIE-FE
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Trade receivables Z 5 WA 10,331 19,820
Less: provision for impairment of trade B S EWRIBRE B

receivables (2,473) (13,752)
Trade receivables — net 2 S W RIE — 7,858 6,068
The payment terms with customers are mainly cash on BPEZREINIRRIAGERT T e
delivery and on credit. The credit periods range from 30 EFEEBENTIELHEBEHEEE A& RH%E30
days to 365 days after the end of the month in which the AZE365H TS - AEEWE 5 EWHIA
relevant sales occurred. Aging analysis of the Group's trade BEEZAHNKRKRI AT

receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

1 - 30 days 1£230H 3,942 1,133
31 - 60 days 31£260H 780 252
61 — 90 days 61£290H 470 417
91 - 180 days 912180H 954 1,755
181 — 365 days 181£2365H 1,800 272
Over 1 year —F Lk 2,385 15,991
10,331 19,820
Less: provision for impairment of trade B S EWGRIE R E R
receivables (2,473) (13,752)
Trade receivables — net B 5 W EIE — 55 7,858 6,068
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are AEEEFRKKRENREMEAARE
denominated in RMB. FT{E °

+AERERA T
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13 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET (Continued)

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract
assets. This resulted in an increase of the loss allowance
on 1 January 2018 by RMB206,000 for trade receivables.
Note 3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of the

allowance.

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of
RMB2,473,000 (2017: RMB13,752,000) were impaired
and provided for. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
the amounts of the reversal of provision credited to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income were
RMB607,000 (2017: provision charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income of RMB718,000).

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amounts are considered to be the same as their fair

value.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, trade receivables
of RMB10,878,000 (2017: Nil) were directly written-off to

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET (Continued)

13 EZRWRFR

—F# (#F)

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment on AEEEFRERWAERERENZE SN
trade receivables are as follows: T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥TR AREFIT

At 1 January w—H—H 13,752 14,045

Changes in accounting policies (Note 2.2(b))  &&FBURZ &) (HizF2.2(b)) 206 -
Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment on & 5 fE W FIERE (& @),/

trade receivables BEFE (607) 718

Receivables written back JE Wi 3 IA #E o) - (1,011)

Receivables written off JE Wi 3 IE i 8 (10,878) -

At 31 December R+ZH=+—H 2,473 13,752

The provision for and reversal of provision for trade

receivables have been included in

administrative expenses”

“General and

in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the allowance

account are generally written off, when there is no

expectation of recovering additional cash.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

14 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

The Group's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in

the following currencies:

14 RERBITHER

AEENASRASSEER AT
A

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand: RITRFHERE
Denominated in RMB UARESHE
Denominated in HKD LA TTEHE
Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE
Maximum exposure to credit risk BE=aEERR

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rate. The carrying amounts of the cash at

bank approximate their fair values.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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15,472 8,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RO R MIEE

15 SHARE CAPITAL 15 B
Nominal Equivalent
Number of value of nominal value
ordinary ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares shares premium Total
EERYE ERREE EZERIEAE RAEE At
HK$ RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at RZZ-\$-A—-BR
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2017 ZZ—+F+=A=1—H
(Note (a)) SREEVELHEER
(@) 2,000,000,000 0.1
Addition of authorised ordinary shares & EE L@ (HizE (b))
(Note (b)) 8,000,000,000 0.1
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\%
+=-A=f-8 10,000,000,000 0.1
Issued: BT
Ordinary shares at 31 December 2017~ RZT—+F+=A=+—H
and 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-F—-BH
Lak 1,448,330,121 144,833,012 123,919 816,907 940,826
Issuance of ordinary shares (Note (c)) BEALER () 289,666,000 28,966,600 23,461 9,792 33,253
Issuance of ordinary shares as BIEBBRERNE
consideration for acquisition of WEARZRE:
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired MRAKRE 2
(Note (d)) (FFE() 550,000,000 55,000,000 44,614 24,983 69,597
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\%
+-A=+-H 2,287,996,121 228,799,612 191,994 851,682 1,043,676
Notes: B aE

(@)  Prior to 19 April 2018, the Company had an authorised share
capital of HK$200 million divided into 2,000,000,000 shares

of HK$0.1 each.

(b) The Company's shareholders approved the increase
in the authorised share capital of the Company from
HK$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares to
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares by
creation of additional 8,000,000,000 shares through an

extraordinary general meeting on 19 April 2018.

@ RZF-—NAFEA+ABA AT
2 ¥ AN £5200,000,000% 7T - 55 4
2,000,000,000/% & A% T {E0. 178 JT HY i

,T/\ °

by ARAABRRMEELZIERAEA B
200,000,000 7t (% A2,000,000,000
P& A% 19 ) #% Z£1,000,000,0005%8 7t (9 A
10,000,000,000& /%15 ) * HHX BFER=
E-N\FOA+TNBHREFIASE
#£8,000,000,000 % f5 173 °

THERARDA

R
=N P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

15 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@]

The Company issued 289,666,000 shares at the placing price
of HK$0.145 per share on 26 January 2018 (representing
16.67% of the total issued ordinary shares of the Company as
enlarged by the issuance) to certain subscribers. The related
transaction costs of RMB765,000 have been netted off against

share premium.

The Company issued 550,000,000 shares by way of
consideration shares at the nominal issue price of HK$0.25
per share (but initially recognized at HK$0.156 per share,
being the closing price of the shares on the date of issue) on
8 May 2018 (representing 24.04% of the total issued ordinary
shares of the Company as enlarged by the issuance) as part
of the consideration to the sellers of Supreme Glory Limited
(Note 33).

16 RESERVES

The details of movement in the Group’s reserves are set out

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page

101:

(a)

(b)

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve relates to the
redemption and cancellation of the Company’s own

shares.

Capital reserves

Capital reserves primarily represent capital
contributions to certain subsidiaries of the Group
and the differences between the consideration
and proportionate carrying value of the subsidiary
disposed of where the Group still retains control of the

subsidiary.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

Statutory reserves

The statutory reserves represent reserves of the PRC
incorporated companies which are set aside for
future development purpose in accordance with the
regulations in the PRC. The allocation is based on
certain percentages of these companies’ profit for the

year, as reported in their statutory financial statements.

Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the companies’
respective Articles of Association, each of the Group
companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for
the year, as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to a statutory common reserve fund
until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group
company’s registered capital. The statutory common
reserve fund can be used to make good previous years’
losses, if any, and to issue new shares to shareholders
in proportion to their existing shareholdings or to
increase the par value of the shares currently held by
them, provided that the balance after such issue is not

less than 25% of the registered capital.

Each of the Group companies is also permitted to
transfer a certain percentage of its profit for the year
as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations,
to a discretionary common reserve fund. The transfer
to this reserve is subject to approval at shareholders’

meetings.

RO R MIEE

16 Rt (&)

(c)

EERE

ETE B ET BEMAZ AR AR
KERE B AR T BUE R RS AR
B RAERBIENRZFT RRAE
TR BRIV F s KR A
TEDLETER-

BEFBEIERRARZBENEABE
RAR AEEETERABARR
B & FTA AT T # F AR A /Y
WVRBAZELTEE BEEZ LR
TREHRBBAKEZE T QB
BARE50% EEAEE A AR
MAEFEBR(WAE)  TAR
BB I ) B 1T A T AR 4R
A0 P SRR B P 455 B ) B T ME - HE B
TERNERIATLOREMELRD
25% °

AEBEBETERANRAGZTES

AHEREENFRENONETA
DHBAEBRREE -ZEBNEA

REBCRA G

‘I'T:TT*HQEFE’D\E
—E-N\FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

17 SUBSIDIARIES 17 BB A =
TREBIWNARAR=_ZE—NE+_A
=t HHNEEWBAA:

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at 31 December 2018

Effective interest held

208

Place of incorporation and

Issued or registered/

Name kind of legal entity Principal activities paid up capital as at 31 December
28 BRI Y T IN-V:] TEXER BROGEM/BEARE RI-A=+-BRENEREZR
2018 2017
—B-N\F s
Directly owned subsidiary:
ERBENELR:
Dragon Soar Ltd. The British Virgin Islands, Investment holding UsD1 100% 100%
Limited liability company
EAERAA ERRRES BREALT REZR (Eo
Ysolde Group Limited Samoa, Investment holding USD50,000 100% 100%
) ) Limited liability company
THEREEERAR BEG BREEAT RERR 50,000% 7
Graceful Universe Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands, Investment holding UsD1 100% 100%
Limited liability company \
HEERBRAR RERABE BREMAT REER %7t
ShiFang Expert Company Limited Hong Kong, Human resources HKD1 100% 100%
Limited liability company
THETRERAR EE FREERA ANER BT
Glory Peace Limited Samoa, Limited liability company Investment holding UsD1 100% 100%
(Note a) (Note a)
REBRAF BEEZ EREELA REER (B 100% 100%
(Mizta) (Fizta)
Supreme Glory Limited Samoa, Limited liability company Investment holding USD43,521 100% -
(Note g)
SRERAA BEZ ERELLA REER 4351%T 100%
(KtzEg)
Indirectly owned subsidiaries:
BEEEREAR:
Fuzhou DingCe Culture Communication Co. Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of full- line ~ USD200,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company advertising agency
services
BMEF UL EEERAR HEEM BEREEAA RE2TUES 200,000% T
RIBR
Fuzhou ShiFang Printing Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of printing RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
- ) Limited liability company services .
BMTFEBERAR HEEM BEREEAA REEIRIRS AR 10,000,000
Fuzhou ShiFangYuan Advertisement Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of full- line  RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company advertising agency
services
BETHRESERAR HEEM BEREEAA RERTLES AR 5,000,000
RIERT
Fujian DaFang Advertisement Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of full-line RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company advertising services )
BEAFEEERAT REEN EREERA RE2HUESRE  ARKS5,000,0007T

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation and

17

MELR (&)

Issued or registered/

RO R MIEE

Effective interest held

Name kind of legal entity Principal activities paid up capital as at 31 December
£R BREAREYEIN-F:] TEEHR ERAAEM/BERET WA=+ -ARENERER
2018 2017
o e
Indirectly owned subiidiaries: (Continued)
BEREMEAR: (8)
Kunming HanDing Printing Technology Consulting  Kunming, the PRC, Provision of publishing  RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company and printing services
RAESHRIRMAAERAR PEER AREERHF REHRBERIRSE  ARR10,000,0007T
Xiamen DuKe Information Science & Technology Xiamen, the PRC, Provision of technology RMB11,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. ("Xiamen Duke") Limited liability company promotion and
consultancy services
EFEEEEMBEARAA (THFEE]) PEEM ARREAF REBMERR AR11,000,0007
& R
Fujian HaoBang Real Estate Consulting & Agency ~ Fuzhou, the PRC, Property marketing & ~ RMB10,000,000 51% 51%
_Co. Ltd. Limited liability company agency services
BRNAREERAREARLT REEN AREERF NEEHRRERSE  ARE10,000,0007
Fujian FangKe Network Technology Corporation Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of full-line RMB50,000,000 51% 51%
Limited liability company advertising services &
B _ Property marketing
BREEARMBRNERAR HEEM BEREEAA RE2FUEERSE  ARE50,000,0007
LES 3
Fujian ShiFang KaiTai Advertisement Technology Fuzhou, the PRC, Provision of technology RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company promotion and
consul;ancy services )
BETHEREEMBEARRA PERM BERELELR REFMRER AR ¥10,000,0007T
& IR
Tian Pu Commercial Management Co., Ltd. Hong Kong, Investment holding HKD100 51% 51%
Limited liability company (Note b) (Note b)
SERBREERARA BB ARELAH REZR 1007 51% 51%
(KizEb) (HfzED)
Fujian Tian Pu Commercial Management Co., Ltd.  Fuzhou, the PRC, Property marketing & ~ RMB10,000,000 51% 51%
Limited liability company agency services (Note ) (Note ¢)
BRATAERERERAA REEMN BREERT MREHRRERE  AKE10,000,0007 51% 51%
(BizEc) (BizEo)
Fujian ShiFang Real Estate Investment Consulting  Fuzhou, the PRC, Property investment RMB50,000,000 51% 51%
Co., Ltd Limited liability company consultancy services (Note d) (Note d)
BRETHHERAERERAR mEEMN ARRERT WEREEFARE  ARMS0,000,0007 51% 51%
(HfzEd) (HizEd)
Ningbo Expert Culture Communication Co., Ltd. Ningbo, the PRC, Human resources HKD7,000,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company (Note e) (Note €)
ERTREXLBEERARA PERER FREERA ANER 7,000,000/ 7T 100% 100%
GED)] (BizTe)
Fuzhou Kungfu Town Scenic Area Development Fuzhou, the PRC, Tourism and USD25,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. Limited liability company entertainment (Note f) (Note f)
BN EEEHEERA PEEN BEREERA MR R RE 25,000,000% ¢ 100% 100%
(B &Ef) (PER)
+Efﬁﬁmﬂﬂ

—E-N\FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17 WE AR (&)

Place of incorporation and Issued or registered/ Effective interest held

210

Name kind of legal entity Principal activities paid up capital as at 31 December
£8 BRI EIN-F:] TEXH BROGEM/BEARE RI-A=+-BRENEREZR
2018 2017
—B-0\% —E+F
Indirectly owned subsidiaries: (Continued)
BEREMEAR: (8)
Beijing Fanxing Travel Co., Ltd. Beijing, the PRC, Tourism and RMB5,000,000 100% -
Limited liability company entertainment (Note g)

FTRERKBARA PELR AREERF i R R% AR 5,000,007 100%

(MizEq)
Zhangpingshi Lianchuang Nongye Fazhan Co., Ltd. ~ Fuzhou, the PRC, Tourism and RMB10,000,000 60% =
- Limited liability company entertainment (Note h)
BYTHAERERERLA REEN FREERF R RE AR #10,000,0007T 60%

(KizEh)
Fuzhou Niaoyulin Youle Co., Ltd. Fuzhou, the PRC, Tourism and RMB5,000,000 82% -

Limited liability company entertainment (Note i)

BNRENRBEERAR HEEM BEREEAA RERIRE AR 5,000,000 82%

(&)
Special purpose entity:
KHRENER:
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe Science and Technology Beijing, the PRC, Provision of technology RMB1,000,000 100% 100%

Co., Ltd.

Limited liability company

promotion and
consultancy services

TRBEERHRERDA RELER BREAAA %E@%%WEE& AK1,000,0007T
E AR

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

Note f:

Note g:

Note h:

Note i:

the subsidiary was incorporated on 28 February 2017.

the subsidiary was incorporated on 17 March 2017.

the subsidiary was incorporated on 22 May 2017.

the subsidiary was incorporated on 24 May 2017.

the subsidiary was incorporated on 11 August 2017.

the subsidiary was incorporated on 27 August 2017.

the subsidiaries were acquired on 8 May 2018.

the subsidiary was acquired on 11 July 2018.

the subsidiary was acquired on 30 October 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

17 ME~E (&)

(a) Material non-controlling interests () EXFEEZERER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BT R AREET T
By subsidiaries: ZHEB AR :
Fujian Fangke Network Technology BEREBEPEE RN
Co. Ltd (“Fujian Fangke"”) ERAAR([BEER]) 14,868 14,401
Others Hh (2,188) (6,432)
12,680 7,969

Summarised financial information on a

subsidiary with material non-controlling interests

Set out below are the summarised financial information

for a subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that

are material to the Group.

BREEAFEZEREZNHELR
ANMBERBE
TXHEHINEEHAKEMSBEX
HY I P2 RO 2 1) 5 PR BB 8 ) O B 7S
BERBE-

Summarised balance sheets for Fujian Fangke BEEENEELSBERYE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Current: Ve
Assets BE 28,951 27,172
Liabilities afE (4,030) (3,267)
Net current assets mEEEFE 24,921 23,905
Non-current: ERE
Assets BE 5,423 5,486
Net assets BEFE 30,344 29,391

212  SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

17

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

MELR (&)

(a) EAEEBRES (H)

Summarised statements of comprehensive income BREENE2EHKEREE
for Fujian Fangke
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR¥ET T
Revenue Wz 29,929 31,103
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B A1 A 1,287 2,807
Income tax expense Friefimx (335) (713)
Profit for the year F A 5 A 952 2,094
Other comprehensive income H b2 - -
Total comprehensive income THE W EERE 952 2,094
Total comprehensive income allocated to EIEERER D
non-controlling interests i@%—( A RE 466 1,026
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IR R = AR B
interests - -
+7‘5rﬂ{iﬁl3ﬁ |
 jiajrpiy=pe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

17 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17 WE AR (&)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () EAXFEEZERER (HF)
Summarised cash flow statements for Fujian BREENRERERBE
Fangke
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Cash flows from operating activities &ZFEHFEBRESARE

Cash (used in)/generated from operations A& %% (FTA) FBIRE (2,896) 639
Interest received 2 H A 44 7
Income tax paid EASFR1EH (588) (28)
Net cash (used in)/generated from meSE R (FTA)

operating activities FriSIR & %58 (3,440) 618
Net cash used in investing activities WEERESFARSFH (73) (346)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFTAREFHE - (688)
Net decrease in RekBReEHEER

cash and cash equivalents WD FEE (3,513) (416)
Cash and cash equivalents FHNReRRESFMEIEAE

at beginning of year 6,847 7,263
Cash and cash equivalents FRNBERBESEFEIER

at end of year 3,334 6,847
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

18 IEFEFRISH
EIEFGBRENITIT -

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Deferred income tax liabilities RS EE
— to be reversed after more than — R B E121E B & B[O
12 months 50,861 -
— to be reversed within 12 months — #1218 A AR 862 120
51,723 120
The movements on the deferred income tax liabilities are as REMSHaEZeHMT :
follows:
Intangible assets
BLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFIT
At 1 January n—H—H 120 240
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) Uk BE B BB A A (B 5E33) 52,571 -
Recognised in the consolidated statement of R & Hf 2 E U R N IER
comprehensive income (Note 27) (Kt5E27) (968) (120)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 51,723 120

No deferred income tax asset has been recognised in
respect of estimated tax losses of RMB108,285,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB111,547,000) as it is
not probable that the relevant subsidiaries of the Group
will generate taxable profit to utilise the tax losses in the
foreseeable future. Such tax losses have an expiry period of

five years.

RZZE—N\F+ZA=1+—0 BREE
E BRI B N B T Al RE R E A PR AR B R
FIAR A R R FI AR IEE 18 - B ULt &
AR #108,285,0007T (T —+4:
AR #111,547,0007T ) /9 {4 51 Fi TH &5 18
RELEREHEE - ZEBHEEENE
mEERASF -

THERERAR
—E - N\FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

19 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 19 ESREMARIE HMEMNRKE
ACCRUED EXPENSES R X

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR T

Trade payables E 5 RIE 4,597 4,513
Other payables and accrued expenses: H A E AR SRIE R EET R X
Accrued utility expenses and other liabilities — FE&F A H &R iEF
kEMEE 3,026 3,495
Accrued salaries and welfare EatE e MEH 7.436 5,675
Value added tax and other taxes payable 128 R R B FE A R I8 3,886 3,716
Other payables E A FE A 5RI8 9,830 10,517
Deposits from customers KEREPHZES 1,317 816
Receipt in advance T8 Jc W B A B IE - 6,245
Contract liabilities (Note 5) EHEE (MFES) 5,649 -
Provision for an onerous operating lease BRUEGEHEE 2 BIERE 2,902 -
_____ el 30464
38,643 34,977
Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly cash on HEFGTONFIEREELRERNER
delivery and on credit. The credit periods range from 30 days RUAGEERA AR - EE BB ELERER
to 365 days after end of the month in which the relevant BE AGREBHNT30BE365H 1%

purchase occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

20

ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

The aging analysis of the trade payables based on the invoice

date is as follows:

BB MR

19 EFEARIE - Htt BN KA
RFES B (M)
H 5 14 OB R 15 B B HI R0 R B AT
mT

2018 2017

—E-N\E —ET—+F

RMB‘000 RMB'000

AR T AREFIT

1 — 30 days 1230H 641 547
31 - 90 days 31£90H 406 598
Over 90 days 90H A E 3,550 3,368
4,597 4,513

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are all

denominated in RMB.

AKE R FOR MR A 2 35 A
RUEHHE -

BORROWINGS 20 &
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T ARBTT

Secured bank borrowings — current (Note (i) B ERIBIT1E

— BDE (P 3EG)) 6,877 9,113
Other borrowing — current (Note (ii)) H b & 5% — B AR (B EE (i) 1,500 -
8,377 9,113
THERBRA A

N
—E-N\FFRH
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20 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note (i):

The maturity of the bank borrowings based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements and excluding the repayment

on demand clause is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

20 B (%)

IS O)

BRRERGHMATATEERD R MR EES
REE R ERRTERNBIAALLT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T R ARBTT

Within 1 year —F R 2,229 2,229
Between 1 and 2 years —EMF 2,230 2,230
Between 2 and 5 years MZERF 2,418 4,654
6,877 9,113

As at 31 December 2018, the mortgage loans were classified as
current liabilities due to the related loan agreements containing a
repayment on demand clause which gives the bank unconditional

right to call the loans at any time.

The mortgage loans are secured by the ownership rights of the
properties and the personal guarantee of Zheng Bai Ling and Zhang
Hui, a key management and the spouse of a key management of a

subsidiary of the Group.

The mortgage terms are 7 years and are denominated in RMB. The
mortgage loans are carried at quarterly adjusted floating interest
rate of 1.15 times the benchmark loan interest rate as prescribed
by the People’s Bank of China for loans of a similar length. The
effective interest rate for the year is 7.15% (2017: 5.71%) per

annum.
Note (ii):
As at 31 December 2018, the balance is unsecured, carries an

interest rate at 6% per annum with a term of 2 years, and is

repayable on demand. The balance is denominated in RMB.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 PROMISSORY NOTES

On 8 May 2018, promissory notes with principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 was issued by the Company, which carries
interest at 5.5% per annum and repayable on the third
anniversary of the date of issue, to the sellers of Supreme
Glory Limited to satisfy part of the consideration for the
acquisition (Note 33). The fair value of the promissory notes
amounted to approximately HK$88,740,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB71,982,000) on 8 May 2018 and was
estimated by discounted cash flow model. The fair value
estimates are based on discounted rate of 9.1% to 10.2%
(depending on the time to the expected coupon or principal
payment) with reference to yield-to-maturity of similar bonds
in the market which is a level 3 fair value measurement in

the fair value hierarchy.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, interest payable
of approximately RMB5,096,000 was charged to “finance
costs” (31 December 2017: Nil). For the year ended 31
December 2018, the effective interest rate of the promissory

notes is 10.7%.

The carrying amounts of the promissory notes are as follows:

21

RO R MIEE

ARLEE

RZZE-—NEFRAANB KAREITAR
% %8 /3100,000,0007 7T 2 # L E i - &
RS SEMFENERG R WAREITHH
B = BAFERRRERERAAER
%H’MQHW%$EZ%”RE(W%
33) AKREBER-_ZE—N\FERA/NABZ
Ajﬂamﬁw&7mumm%m(mjﬁﬁ@
AR#71,982,0007T) RigiTIRE 2 IME
AN TUAEET - RABEMBETIERIN%E
10.2% (RIFZREHEEL AL AR
ﬁ)%ﬁﬁ%'m%%ﬁ%tﬁw%%z
IH R EBRANERBERNE

—W&%ﬁﬁ%

BE-_Z-—"NE+_A=tHILEE"
A8 AN RKS5,096, OOOfEZF‘éEWLﬂ B

FATHBRA] (ZF—EF+ A
=t—H:E) HE— ”*ﬂ¢+ A
ST HLEFE ALRENERMNES

10.7% °

ALEBEOREENT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

R=F-N\F RKR_ZE—+F

+=A +=A

=+—H =+—~H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AR T T

Promissory notes BB 81,552 -
+7‘:‘T*HQEI3E |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

22 OTHER INCOME 22 Him A
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Other income: H AU A -
Compensation income fHEWA 472 =
Government grants (Note a) BT B (MisEa) 339 554
Sundry income HIRMA 106 33
917 587
Note B 5
(@) The Group obtained and recognised as income government (@ HBHEZZ-N\F+ZA=1+—HIL#F
grants of RMB339,000 (2017: RMB554,000) from the Fujian 0 AR EE D RN R BUT # B MR
government authority for the year ended 31 December 2018. B BT #8 Bh AR #5339,0007T ( =& —+

£ AR¥554,0007T) BUWA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

23 EXPENSES BY NATURE 23 RHEISHEAX

Loss before income tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the

BRETS R AT E 1B &R, (G A) AT IE

following: B ARK:
2018 2017
=—EB-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTF T
Cost of newspaper advertising WMAES KA
~ Media costs — R AR 2,879 4,008
Cost of printing services: Ef ] A 75 A A
- Raw materials — R E 3,621 2,018
- Other costs — B A AR 507 435
Depreciation (Note 7) e (H3E7) 4,284 5,394
Amortisation (Note 8) B (FI5ES) 4,129 488
Auditor’s remuneration ZER &
— Audit services —FBZRE 3,437 3,675
— Non-audit services —IEEERTE 1,142 -
Operating lease charges in respect of land and 7 B -1 R iEF &Y
buildings KEHERSE 8,403 13,318
Net loss on disposal of property, LEWME - HEREED
plant and equipment (Note 30(b)) B8 F 5 (M5E30(b)) - 222
Gain on disposals of properties held for sale  HEFIELEMEN IR (193) (753)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables, & 5 [fE U 3k I8 il (B B 45
net of trade receivables written back MR E 5K FKIBRE L
(Note 13) (FfEE13) (607) (293)
Provision for impairment of contract assets SHREERERE 25 =
Provision for impairment of property, Y- WEREERERE
plant and equipment (Note 7) (MF5E7) 3,029 =
Provision for an onerous operating lease FEREREHE 2 BERE 8,958 =
Provision for impairment of BIELEMERERE
properties held for sale (Note 11) (KgsE11) 4,252 =
Legal and professional fee FENBEEER 13,266 3,395
Net foreign exchange losses SNEE B 1R F 5 6,328 11,584
Employee benefit expenses EERAFX
(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 24) (BEEZE) (MsE24) 46,099 43,531
Business tax BEW 1,471 437
+7‘5T*HQEFE AT

“=_n

F F R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

24 BERANAX (BEESMH

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) £)

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Salaries and other allowances e hHE e 43,512 41,382
Defined contribution plan FEHKEE 128 239
Social security costs IR E A 1,559 1,206
Retirement scheme contribution RRET B3R 900 704
46,099 43,531

(a) Five highest paid individuals () EEESHAL

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the five

individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

Group included 3 directors (2017: 3 directors), whose

emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented

above and Note 38. The emoluments paid/payable to

the remaining 2 (2017: 2 individuals) individuals during

the year ended 31 December 2018 were as follows:

HE-_FT-N\F+=ZA=+—H
FFE rXEEREZEsHALE
=R (22 —tF: ZR)ESF-
BER ST X RWE3I8ETE 5
BT RBE - REE=_T—N\F
+-A=+—BLEE BN &
N TmE (ZE—tF :-MEB)A
THMES T

2018 2017

—E-[\F —T £

RMB’‘000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Salaries and other allowances e LA 1,111 1,394
Defined contribution plan REM-KETE 23 49
1,134 1,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 24 EEGRABEX (BREEEME)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (#&)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (o) EEREHAL (E)
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, HE_Z-\FRZ_Z—tF+=
the emoluments of the highest paid individuals of the A=+—HLEFE AEBESH
Group fall within the following bands: ATHB SN F TEE :
Number of individuals
AE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
Nil to HK$500,000 078 7T £500,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 8 TE
1,000,000/ 7T 1 2
2 2
25 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 25 RAKEBER S
The employees of the Group's subsidiaries established in REBEFEKIONBEARNEES R
the PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated 5 TR P ) R RGR KB EH IR
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are KE -BHRNBARAREEELRFER
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’ TEMGAETED AP RRIKSFE/H
basic salaries and wages to the central pension scheme o AR AT IR ORAR ) o Hb 75 T IR o e
to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal BEBAWBRAIMNMBIRA RRIKENR
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits EERMRKBINEFE BEWBERRFR
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of RRRE BN ME—BETRETEME
these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries P AR TE B K e
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet the
required contributions under the scheme.
The total contributions incurred in this connection for HE-ZE-N\F+-A=+—HLFE"
the year ended 31 December 2018 were approximately BULEE B H AL R AKE900,000
RMB900,000 (2017: RMB704,000). No forfeited T(ZE—tF: AR¥704,0005T) ° #f
contributions are available to reduce the contribution BRI AT BIER D RREEREE
payable by the Group in the future years. FET LR o
+7‘5rﬂ'iﬁ|35'<’l}a,|

—E-N\FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

26 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME - NET

26 B (RAE) A —FE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARE T AREETF T
Finance income: B A UR A
Interest income on short-term 5 EISRIT I B m9 F B U A
bank deposits 111 430
Interest income on available-for-sale AHESREEN
financial asset B U A = 2,951
Total finance income M e m 3,381
Finance costs: B RS AS
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERZFERXZ (459) (585)
Less: amounts capitalised on B EBEREERT
qualifying assets (Note 9(i)) BEARR 2R (M) 356 585
(103) -
Interest expense on promissory notes EEEBA SR (5.096) -
Interest on loans from a related party B 7 B RS (2,061) -
Total finance costs Mk AKEw (72600 -
Finance (costs)/income — net B 75 (R AR) IR A —F 58 (7,149) 3,381

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 27 FiSBMAX
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+tF
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Current income tax expense BVER P15 % A 2
Mainland China enterprise income tax PR REDEREE
- Current tax expense —BVEATRIE A X 1,673 833
1,673 833
Deferred income tax credit BEMRGHER (968) (120)
705 713
The Group has no assessable income arising in or derived REBRBEZE_Z—NFR_ZF—tF
from Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2018 TZA=T—ALEFELARARBEEEL
and 2017. HEFERTA -
+7‘5rﬂ'iﬁ|‘5'<l\\7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

27 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 27

The taxation on the Group's loss before income tax differs

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as

follows:

Frie®ipe< (&)

7K 55 B B FT 15 B 31 65 1R 10 B 08 B4R R 3
A& R AR E 1A 0F 5 #% R
HPHOREFTERRET MO EH
mT

2018 2017
=—EB-N\F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTF T
Loss before income tax bR FT1S B R 18 (163,892) (55,618)
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable REARNSEREER
to profits of the entities in the respective ERER M A 7 B =
jurisdictions STERTIE (29,149) (10,263)
Tax effects of: NTHEENHIELE:
Income not subject to tax BAEHBA (5) (841)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AT 7 2 25,268 8,922
Tax losses for which no deferred income RIERIEEFTIS B
tax asset was recognised BEMBIARE 4,853 3,408
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax )R 2 Bl R FERR A
losses THIE &8 (262) (513)
705 713

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17.8% (2017:

18.5%). The decrease is mainly caused by certain subsidiaries

in Hong Kong which were entitled to lower applicable tax

rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basic
Basic loss per share for the years is calculated by

dividing the loss attributable to owners of the

RO R MIEE

28 BREE

(a) B
FANBREREBEIRARAINR
BEERLEBBERUNFABEITLA

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary MR FHEEE
shares in issue during the year.
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
(Restated)
(gg=5)
Loss attributable to owners of RABIFFEEEIEEE
the Company (RMB'000) (AR®ETT) (164,403) (56,493)
Weight average number of BEITIRG NiETFHE
shares in issue, including bonus (BREAMNT=) (TR)
element (thousands) 2,080,163 1,448,330
Basic loss per share (RMB per share) BRAXEBIE
(BBRARE) (0.0790) (0.0390)
(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has no dilutive
potential ordinary shares during the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: same).

29 DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company since its

incorporation.

BREEEE VIRABRBITENY
BARE INHE T BARR B BB
RS ENERARERBGHE -
BHE_ZT-N\F+_A=+—H1
FE -ARAWEAETHETE
MEBR(ZT—EF 48R) -

29 BB
7% 2 A 8 A 2 DA TR B 4 R A 1] B
B o

o

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a)

Cash used in operations

30 BERERME

() REXBFARS

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5F AR TR ARBF T
Loss before income tax BR P 1S 15 A B 1B (163,892) (55,618)
Adjustments for: RV R EELAE:
Depreciation e 7 4,284 5,394
Amortisation 5 8 4,129 488
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE BE R
plant and equipment HENEETE 23 - 222
Net gain on disposal of properties HERIELEMEN
held for sale W55 23 (193) -
Net reversal of for impairment of B 5 W KIBRE
trade receivables o= R EIDE = 23 (607) (293)
Provision for impairment of BRHEERBEREE
contract assets 23 25 -
Provision for impairment of BIELEMERBERE
properties held for sale 23 4,252 -
Provision for impairment of property, ¥ % HE &
plant and equipment R REREE 23 3,029 -
Provision for an onerous FHEBERILLE
operating lease MEZEBBERE 23 8,958 -
Foreign exchange losses on e EEMINERE
operating activities 23 6,328 11,584
Finance income BRI 26 (111) (3,381)
Finance costs B AR 26 7,260 -
Net fair value loss on financial assets ~ QA LEZLIEZFEE AL
at fair value through profit or loss CREENAAEEE
ek 84,498 -
Share of losses of an associate FEAE B2 1R R E 18 165 -
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30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

FLOWS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash used in operations (Continued)

(a)

30 BERERKE (&)

REXBRARE (&)

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B E AR¥T R ARETT
Changes in working capital: BB éf%“ib
— Trade receivables - B SR 31 9,977
— Contract assets —-AHEE (1,224) -
— Inventories -FE (196) (312)
-~ Prepayments, deposits and other —-BNFE Rek
receivables H ity fE W 5k E (2,400) (747)
— Amounts due from related parties — LRI A L+ 38 (80) (448)
— Trade payables —EHENHIA 84 343
— Other payables and accrued —HMENFRER
expenses fEF X (5,397) (1,294)
- Amounts due to related parties —ENBEEALTHE (6,366) (419)
Cash used in operations REEBMARS (57,423) (34,504)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment b) HEYWX BERRE
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds EHEENEXRFHEYVE BE
from disposal of property, plant and equipment RIEOFABAR:
comprise:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Net carrying amount (Note 7) ARMEFRE (MH5E7) 11 571
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWME BEREZED
plant and equipment (Note 23) B e F =8 (MI5E23) - (222)
Cash consideration from disposal of HEME BERZED
property, plant and equipment ReRE 11 349
+7‘5Tﬂ’iﬁl‘ﬁ

AT
—E-N\FEH

229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Non-cash transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the principal

non-cash transaction are:

o Transfer of properties held for sale to property,

plant and equipment (Note 7)

o Utilisation of prepayment to addition of property,

plant and equipment (Note 9(i))

o Utilisation of prepayment to addition of

intangible assets (Note 9(iii))

(d) Net debt reconciliation

The following section sets out an analysis of net debt

30 BERmERKHE (&)

c) ¥BEXS
HE-_Z—N\F+=-A

=+—HIt

FE TEFRERFIH:

s BERFLEVMEEDE B

B k&t (MaE7)

s PRAFEVE BERREHN

B RIR (KR

i)

s BRAREERVEEZENTIA

(B #¥9(iii) )

(d) EHFEYHEK

A THINEBFESMEE2F

and the movements in net debt for each of the years EEBFENES
presented.
2018 2017
—E-[\F —T £
RMB’000 RMB'000
Net debt B FE AR® T ARETF T
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSFMEER
(Note 14) (MfsE14) 33,880 60,178
Bank borrowings RITER (6,877) (9,113)
Other borrowing E M ER (1,500) -
Promissory notes T (81,552) -
Loans from a related party a5 (& 3R (87,132) -
Net debt B HER (143,181) 51,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (Continued)

(d)

30 BERERMHE (&)

Net debt reconciliation (Continued) (d) EBFEHE(E)
Cash Loans from
and cash Bank Other Promissory a related
equivalents borrowing borrowing notes party Total
BeRES
£EER RITEF Hitfesk RARE  BRAET @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT  AREFT ARETR  ARBTT ARETRT  ARETx
Net debt as at 1 January 2017 RZZ—+5-fA-H
HEBFE 182,833 (11,350) - - - 171,483
Cash flows Heng (115,286) 2,237 - - - (113,049)
Foreign exchange adjustments SERE (7,369) - - - - (7,369)
Net debt as at RZB-tf
31 December 2017 +=B=1-8
WERSE 60,178 (9,113) - - - 51,065
Net debt as at 1 January 2018 RZZE-\5-HA-A
ME®TE 60,178 (9,113) - - - 51,065
Cash flows Rene (27,875) 2,236 (1,500) (70,598) (80,113) (177,850
Foreign exchange adjustments MEFE 1,577 - - (5,858) (4,958) (9,239)
Other non-cash movements Hth#ne# - - - (5,096) (2,061) (7,157)
Net debt as at RZE-N\§
31 December 2018 +ZB=1-8
WEKFE 33,880 (6,877) (1,500) (81,552) (87,132) (143,181)
THERERAD A

—E-N\EFEF

iy
f=n}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

31 COMMITMENTS

31 AiE

(a) Operating lease commitments — as a lessee (a)

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

HeREARE-FRAHEA
TAREEEHEN A RZEHEE
B ERIT

2018 2017

—E-N\£F —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR®BT T

Not later than 1 year —F LR 5,232 12,952
Later than 1 year and not later than —FUERREFNAT

5 years 3,870 3,351

9,102 16,303

Provision for an onerous operating lease of
RMB2,902,000 (Note 19) as at 31 December 2018

is made for the abovementioned operating lease

commitments.

(b) Operating lease commitments — as a lessor (b)

The future aggregate minimum lease receipts under

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

R-_E—NE+-_A=+—80 'K
SER LMK EREREEDES
BHKEHECERBEBARY
2,902,0007T (HI5E19) °

KeHEARE-FREEA
TAHEEERENRRREEE
TR@EET

2018 2017

—EB-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Not later than 1 year —FUT 2,000 -
Later than 1 year and not later —FUAERAFUT

than 5 years 6,000 -

8,000 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

31 COMMITMENTS (Continued) 31 A&iE (&)
(c) Capital commitments (c) BEAREIE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the REmEMRETOERERRER
end of the reporting period but not recognised as ZERERNAIZNT:

liabilities is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARETF T
Property, plant and equipment W BB k&E 7,930 -
32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEALEXRS
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, MZEEHYBHREMS MEALHEE
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party NEREEEEVBREERETHEE
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant SEEHAEEBNERATE (R 2T
influence over the Group in making financial and operating R) R ATEWREEKNEEERHE
decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be individuals FEANTAIAREA (BIEEZERAS
(being members of key management personnel, significant FTERER SABEENOR)KEME
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other BoWASENEEALTAEA  RIEE
entities and include entities which are under the significant ATTMEEZIEEATERTENE
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties BoWBHAERIIHEEES THRR
are individuals. Parties are also considered to be related if B AL
they are subject to common control.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related RRAREERAE ZEBREALRH IR
party transactions were carried out in the normal course AE¥BRARTRBAEEESHEEA
of business and at terms mutually negotiated between the THEE R AR EETT

Group and the respective related parties.

+Erﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ
ZeRerq 23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) The directors of the Company are of the view that the (a)
following companies/individuals were related parties

that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2018:

Name

BB BE

32 MEALXRE (&)

ERRAEBEERR UTRAEA
BRBE_ZT—N\F+t-_A=1+—
BUEFERNEAKEETR S X
BRgpHBEAL:

Relationship with the Group
B BB R

Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming, Siuming

TRIBEA (BIE - 1R/NA) B A&

Mr. Chen Zhi

BRAESE A

Ms. Zheng Shou Ling

Brie +

Fujian ShiFang Digital Technology Co., Ltd

BE+THBIBRMARR A

Fujian Lanting Network Technology Holding
Limited Company

BEFEARMRKROBRAR

TopBig International Development Limited

ATERERER QA

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Executive director of the Company/Chief Executive
Officer of the Group

ARBATESE AEBTHRAH

Executive director of the Company

RRABHITES

Spouse of the Executive director of the Group

AEBRTEZNESE

Controlled by the Executive director of the Group

HAEERTEEZES

A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group

AEE-FHBRARNEEZRR
A company controlled by the Executive Director of the
Company

HARRMITEREFN —KAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

The directors of the Company are of the view that the (a)
following companies/individuals were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2018:

Name

BB A

RO R MIEE

32 BEAELRS (&)

AAREERR UTREEA
BRBE_ZT—N\F+t-_A=1—
BULEFEREAKEETR S X
BREsBmBEAL:

Relationship with the Group
BB ER

Mr. Yu Shi Quan

REFESRE

Mr. Chen Wei Dong

PRIZIR K4

Ms. Chen Min

BREUZ

Liaoning Baixin Media Company Limited
BEEOEERERAR

Ms. Chan Ching Yi
BREHE L L

Ms. Chen Xiao Min
BRI+

Mr. Zheng Bo Ling

EAte kE

Mr. Cai Jian Quan
BEEEEE

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren
BEEEE

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry
EMAATE

Executive director of the Company/Chief Financial
Officer of the Group

ARBRTES AEEERFEVBE

Non-executive director of the Company

ARFERITESR

Non-executive director of the Company

RRFERITES

A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group

AEE-ZRMBEBAGINEERR

Key management of the Group

AEEBTZERAR

Key management of the Group

REBXEZEEAE

Key management of the Group

AEBTXTEEIEAER

Independent non-executive director of the Company

RABBILIFARTES

Independent non-executive director of the Company

RRARVBILFATES

Independent non-executive director of the Company

AARBILIFAITES

The above names of certain related parties companies
represented the best effort by management of the
Company in translating their Chinese names as they do

not have official English names.

FIEFREEAL RAMEXH
MHARBEEBAERXAEE
hBEmRY REREHEALS
NEWEIE AR

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEALIXRS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties: (b) EBEBAEALETHRS:
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the Bk B 75 R 5% L At BB 0 AT B BR & S
financial statements, the following transactions were AEBREZ-_ZE—N\E+_HA
undertaken by the Group with related parties during =T —BIEFEHEEEATETIA
the year ended 31 December 2018: TR :
2018 2017
—E-N\£F —E—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREEF T
Key management compensation FEEEABSH M 7,990 8,389
Rental expenses to a related party mM—EEATHHASHASY 465 465
8,455 8,854
(c) Balances with related parties (c) EBEATEENER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR ARETT

Amounts due from related parties EWREEALTRIE

- non-trade -*E3
A non-controlling shareholder of AEBWNERRH

a subsidiary of the Group 1R AR R 470 470
Key management of the Group REFEFEERBAER 300 110
Directors of the Group REFES 50 160

820 740
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c)

32 BEAELRS (&)

Balances with related parties (Continued) (c)
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the balances are

unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

REEALTEAENGR (&)
RZB-N\FR-_ZF—tF+_-A
=t+—B #HRAEEA REKEA

SR -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Amounts due to directors: ERESRE:
Mr. Chen Zhi RELRE 9 9
Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming Siuming ®BE (B& R/NR) A& 263 11
272 20
Amounts due to related parties: ERBEALTRE:
Liaoning Baixin Media Company Limited FHEH{ZEHEAR QA 127 127
Ms. Zheng Shou Ling B SFER L 229 325
Fujian ShiFang Digital Technology BETABIBRENBRAA
Co., Ltd _ 3
628 475
Loans from a related party BEBEER
- non-trade (non-current portion) —¥ES (FERBHH2)
A company controlled by Mr. Chen Zhi  —REHBMELELES 2 A F] 87,132 =

(a) Amounts due to directors and related

parties

The balance due to a non-controlling shareholder

is unsecured, interest-free, with no fixed

repayment term and repayable upon mutual

agreement between the Group and the directors

and related parties.

(o) BENESERBEEALZRK

b

PN — B IR AR B R

EAH - % B R I [E & K

Hﬁ'jﬁfﬁﬁizﬁﬁgéﬁi%%&ﬁﬁ
BATHHEEBZEE

'I'Tﬂ"'ﬂ’iﬁﬁﬁ’/}j
—E - N\FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(b) Loans from a related party
The balances are unsecured, carried interest rate
at 5% per annum, and are repayable in two years

from the drawdown date.

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION
Acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited
On 8 May 2017, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement with the sellers of Supreme Glory Limited,
pursuant to which the Group has conditionally agreed to
acquire the entire equity interest in Supreme Glory Limited to

be satisfied by the followings:

(i)  Cash consideration of HK$102,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB83,144,000) including
HK$34,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB27,579,000) refundable deposit and remaining
cash consideration of HK$68,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB55,565,000);

(i) Promissory notes in principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB81,160,000) issued by the Company, which carries
interest at 5.5% per annum and repayable on the third

anniversary of the date of issue; and

(i) 550,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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BREBEATEFEENER (&)
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R-T—t&BANB FATREEE
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B RS R SRR AT 2 5
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(ii)

(iii)

R4 M {8102,500,000/ T (HEEFR
#ANR#83,144,0007T) * BIEAR
E¥2434,000,000/8 7T (HHE R4
ANER#27,579,0007T) M #p FIR &
K (868,500,000 7T (HHE R A A
R#55,565,0007T) :

KABBETZAE2EAR
100,000,000 7T (HHER DO AR
#81,160,0007T) 2 & H R B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited (Continued)

On 8 May 2018, all the conditions precedent under
the acquisition agreement have been fulfilled and the
entire equity interest of Supreme Glory Limited has been
transferred to the Company. The acquisition has been
completed on the same day, which the Group has acquired
the control over Supreme Glory Limited as the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. the activities that significantly affect

its variable returns.

Goodwill of approximately RMB66,058,000 arose from
the acquisition as the purchase consideration included
amounts in relation to the benefit of management expertise
of Supreme Glory Limited, eight signed cooperative
agreements and one cooperative agreements that are in
negotiation process, which cannot be recognised separately
from goodwill as they do not meet the recognition criteria
for identifiable intangible assets. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax

purpose.

RO R MIEE

33 XHEH/ (&)

WE=RERDE (&)
RZZF-NFRANB KEHHETH
PR R G EEEK - BFBBRAR
MEHEEEERETALR - WESFHED
REBZTK AEBERBHERER AT
MRS REARAEEZREENET
HAMEEEREES (MREZEH 2
Bl ¥k 2 55 ) 2 #E

WBEEMELERBERENHEY
AR #66,058,000t BIEHFRER A
ANEEER ERYN/N\DEFEGRER
THBEEN— 0 FHEN A B
R MAEBERREZEREDFER R
RRE W EFIL AR A A &5 8T & E A
RIRE - B\ O RER A B B IR A A (R
R PTG

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 33 £BAH (H)
Acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited (Continued) WE=RERDE (&)
The following table summarises the consideration paid and TR EARE RN E B B RER
the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed FTEEERFEAEBGENRANE:

recognised at the acquisition date:

HKD’000 RMB’000
As at 8 May 2018 NR-—ZE-—NEEZANAH Fi# T AR T T
Consideration: RE:
— Cash deposit —Beke 34,000 27,579
— Remaining cash consideration —HBTHESKE 68,500 55,565
— Fair value of the promissory notes (Note 21) —#& ¥ Z# 2 A&
(BfzE21) 87,034 70,598
— Fair value of the consideration shares —-RERHOZANE
(Note 15) (Kt3E15) 85,800 69,597
Fair value of consideration as at 8 May 2018 R _Z—N\&FHAN\H
REZARE 223339
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets Frus s el R & E &
acquired and liabilities assumed: FIAEEENERRSE:
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - WENMEE 16,900
- Right to a land lease — T E 193,439
— Financial asset at fair value through —ARELERE AR
profit or loss (Note 12) MemEE (KE12) 5,945
— Cash and cash equivalent - HekReEHEER 14
— Prepayments — B IR 84
- Accruals and other payables —EFtE R & H M E 3 IE an
— Amount due to a related party — B — R BEATFIE (6,519)
— Deferred income tax liabilities —REFRBHARE (52,571)
Total identifiable net assets AR EEFELRRE 157,281
Goodwill & 66,058

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RO R MIEE

33 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 33 ¥Bast (&)

Acquisition of Supreme Glory Limited (Continued)

Wi BERATF (&)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Cash consideration: REeRE:

— Cash deposit - Reke = 29,945

- Remaining cash consideration - TRERE 55,565 -
Cash and cash equivalent in F G AN D)

subsidiaries acquired ReMREEEIER (14) -
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFAREREEMERS

included in cash flows from investing activity REZHR& MBS

HEEBRHFHE 55,551 29,945

For the acquired businesses, management engaged an
independent valuer in assisting the valuation of the

identifiable assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date.

The acquired businesses contributed revenue of
RMB6,388,000 and net profit of RMB1,404,000 recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the period from 8 May 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Had Supreme Glory Limited been consolidated from 1
January 2018, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2018 would show
pro-forma loss for the year of RMB165,786,000.

ST T S  BREZRRBEAE
B - DA 15 B a¥ A7 AT S8Rl & E & B (B UL
HEIRfA(E -

B \FHEANABEZE=Z—N
F+Z A=+ BB FREBEKE
Bf a5 A R #6,388,0007T K FiH FIA R
#1,404,0007T - )N & OF 2 H W 55 = A B

27
u?JLL\ °©

HERERATA-_E—N\FE—A—H
BEAAER ABEZ-Z—N\F+=A
ZS+-HULEFENEHZERRREE
BFENEZEEARK165,786,0007T °

THERERAR
—E-N\FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

34 ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 34 ZBRE-—HBNEATWREE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 9 Oct 2018, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of

the Group entered into an acquisition agreement with an
independent third party for the acquisition of 82% equity
interest in Fuzhou Niaoyulin Youle Company Limited for

E

R-ZE-N\FtTALR AEEREEE
B AREBE =TI LB RE - A
WERMNSEMERLER R ES2%H K
¥ RER/AKRE4,100,0007T - ZWHEE

a consideration of RMB$4,100,000. The acquisition was HRZZE—N\F+A=+HZEK"

completed on 30 October 2018.

ARPEZRA WEFHEL LAY TE
R—IBEB Bt ZWBEEEER
BRPRE-—RKMBARMBEE  MIEX

of assets through acquisition of a subsidiary rather than a Ha oo

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
acquisition did not constitute a business in substance.
Therefore, the acquisition was determined to be acquisitions

business combination.

TREANYE B HRERMAEE

The following table summarises the consideration paid and

the assets acquired at the acquisition date: B
2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
ARB T
Consideration: RE:
— Cash consideration —ReRE 4,100
Recognised amounts of identifiable FRURE R BRI EEH O R S5 -
assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment W WEREE 5,000
Net identifiable net assets acquired FIT 4 B8 7T 38 BT & B VF R 5,000
Less: Non-controlling interests B IR IR E (900)
Net assets acquired BT Y 8 & B 4,100
2018
—ZE-N\F
RMB’000
ARBT T
Cash consideration ReRE: 4,100
Less: Cash and cash equivalent B FTWENBARMIRE R
in the subsidiary acquired HeEEER -
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included FTAREBEFEFAEREREZRER
in cash flows from investing activity ReEEBEERLFE 4,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when should contingent liabilities be recognised, which

requires significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it
is not possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any
contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed
could have a material impact on the Group’s financial

position.

The Group reviews for any significant outstanding litigations
in order to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors
considered are the nature of the litigation, legal processes
and potential level of damages, the opinions and views
of the legal counsel, and the management’s intentions to
respond to the litigations. To the extent the estimates and
judgements do not reflect the actual outcome, this could
materially affect the results for the year and the financial

position.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no

material contingent liabilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(i)  On 24 January 2019, the Company entered into the

convertible bond subscription agreement with TopBig
International Development Limited (the “Subscriber”),
a company wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi, the
Executive Director and a shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to issue, and the Subscriber conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, the 3% convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$250,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB215,750,000).

35

36

RO R MIEE

HEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The initial conversion price of the Convertible Bonds
is HK$0.24 per conversion share following the Capital
Reorganisation (equivalent to HK$0.06 per share prior
to the Capital Reorganisation) subject to adjustment.
The Convertible Bond matures at the day falling on the
third anniversary of the date of issue of the convertible
bonds and the conversion period covers the period
commencing on the date of issue of the Convertible

Bonds and ending on maturity date.

Assuming full conversion of the Convertible Bonds at
the initial conversion price of HK$0.24 per conversion
following the Capital Reorganisation, the Convertible
Bonds will be convertible into up to 1,041,666,666
shares (on the basis of the consolidated shares after

the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective).

The Convertible Bonds and the new Shares to be
issued upon conversion of the Convertible Bonds (The
“Conversion Shares”) shall be allotted and issued by
the Company pursuant to the specific mandate granted
by the independent shareholders of the Company to
the Directors at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 8 March 2019.

On 15 November 2018, a 60%-owned subsidiary of
the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with certain sellers to acquire 71.43% equity interest
in Zhang Ping Nong Bo Hui New Specialized Farmers’
Cooperative (the “Target Company”) at a consideration
of RMB3,000,000. The conditions precedent to the
acquisition are not fully fulfilled and the acquisition has
not been completed as at 31 December 2018 and up

to the date of this report.

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

(iii)  On 1 February 2019, the Board of Directors proposed
to implement a capital reorganisation (“Capital

Reorganisation”) which involves:

(@) the share consolidation of every four issued and
unissued existing shares of HK$0.10 each into

one consolidated share of HK$0.40 each;

(b) the capital reduction such that the nominal value
of each issued consolidated share be reduced
from HK$0.40 to HK$0.01; and

(c) the share subdivision of each unissued
consolidated share of HK$0.40 each into forty
new shares of HK$0.01 each.

The Capital Reorganisation is subject to the fulfilment of
conditions, and the expected effective date of the Capital
Reorganisation is 10 April 2019. Upon completion of the
Capital Reorganisation (including the four-to-one share
consolidation), the weighted average number of shares in
issue shall be adjusted for the effect of share consolidation.
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all

years presented will also be adjusted retrospectively.

For the purposes of these notes, all references to share
numbers and price per share refer to the status of share
capital prior to the Capital Reorganisation, unless otherwise

stated or the context otherwise requires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

37 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 37 XRFNEEABRRRESE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 3]

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

Note RMB’'000 RMB'000

P = ARBTR AR T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Available-for-sale financial asset A HESHEE - 84,726
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR E 17 223,340 =
Deposit for a proposed acquisition BREREFENZS 9(ii) - 28,315
223,340 113,041
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TETRRIE R H A
JE U5 5k I8 118 118
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U BT B8~ B FRIE 110,932 71,070
Amount due from a director el —REERIE 50 160
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEEE 1,795 27,799
112,895 99,147
Total assets BEE 336,235 212,188
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to KRAEHEEAEGESR
owners of the Company
Share capital fig A 191,994 123,919
Share premium f& 15 % B 851,682 816,907
Other reserves H b e a = (7,063)
Accumulated deficits ZEETE A a (879,128) (724,456)
Total equity RREE 164,548 209,307
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RARM

37 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

37 ARFAMEERERKRERESE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B (&)
(Continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\E&E —tF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR% T ARBT T
LIABILITIES =R+
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Promissory notes ST 81,552 -
Loans from a related party B8 B 77 (55X 87,132 -
pIGE.684N -
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E b B 3B 2,635 2,745
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT B A~ B 139 136
Amount due to a related party e — R E /\i
RIE 229 -
3,003 . 2 _?%1_
Total liabilities was 171,687 2,881
Total equity and liabilities EERAELHE 336,235 212,188

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the

Board of Directors on 28 March 2019 and was signed on its

behalf:

Siuming Tsui

/N BA

Director

EF

Yu Shi Quan
R

EREREEFEN_FT—AN
—H\ BHbE YR TIEERRK

Director

EF

+7‘:‘T*HQEI3E

AT
—E-N\FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

37 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B (4&)
(Continued)

Note a: Reserve movement of the Company FffsEa : /NI RO S

37 ARFMEERERKRERESE

Accumulated Other

deficits reserves

ey Hib @&

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARBETF T

At 1 January 2017 R=ZZT—tF—H—H (650,956) (7,063)

Loss for the year FAERE (73,500) =
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—+F+-A=+—H

1 January 2018 rE=F—-NF—HF—H (724,456) (7,063)
Changes in accounting policies GETBE 2 #E) (Mi5E2.2(b)

(Note 2.2(b)) (7,063) 7,063

Restated equity as at RZZE—-NF—H—H

1 January 2018 KE s (731,519) -

Loss for the year FREE (147,609) -

At 31 December 2018 RZZT-NFE+ZA=+—H (879,128) -

SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION

(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(A)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of every directors and the chief

executive is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

BB MR

38 EENmRER (FE (AF

RBI) (58622F ) 5E383#%
QR (HBEESMDER) RO
(B622CE)REBEMRAY
RENKE)

(A) EBSRTHREARNMS
BEEFRTHEASINFH B S5 0
T

BE-Z- )\ t+-A=+—H
IR

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking:

REARE (FRRALAAHMEL ) EEFRADRRCAARUNNE

Emoluments
paid or
receivable

in respect

of director's
other services
in connection
with the
receivable  management
inrespect of  of the affairs
accepting  of the company

Remunerations

paid or

Employer's

Estimated  contribution to
money  aretirement

Discretionary Housing value of benefit office as or its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits scheme director undertaking Total
HES
EBEE
LV
HHEAT
AEREE  ERARMN
BRI BHER BfiBfd HtBRHEHE
Name #e e #e BiEEa AERE  AHEMEE HENEIHX EUHHH LG #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBT R ARETR ARBT T ARETR ARETR ARBT R ARBTR ARETR
Executive directors anEs
Mr. Chen Zhi REEE 180 1,620 - - - - - 1,800
Mr. Yu Shiguan AL 180 720 - 36 8 - - 944
Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming Siuming (CEO)  /R1E% (54 : #/1A)
ik (TBEH) 217 2817 - - 165 - - 3,199
Non-executive directors FinES
Mr. Chen Wei Dong RERES 120 - - - - - - 120
Ms. Chen Min Rext 120 - - - - - - 120
Independent and BUfunES
non-executive directors
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren AECEE 120 - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry ENREE 120 - - - - - - 120
Mr. Cai Jianquan EREks 120 - - - - - - 120
THERARDA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Or R R TR

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EBRERER (FE (A
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION kBl) (£622F) 383k -
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES RE (HEEENRER) RO
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (5£622CGE) REAR LWHRAI
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT RENEKE) (&)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
(Continued)

(A) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (A) EERITHREAINHE (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017: BE-Z—tHFt+ZA=1t—
HIEFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking:
REARE (FRRALAZEMBAR) ESMRHENBHEE R ABUHWE

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director's

other services

Remunerations  in connection

paid or with the
receivable management
Employer's inrespect of  of the affairs of
Estimated  contribution to accepting the company
Discretionary Housing ~ money value of a retirement office  or its subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance  other benefits  benefit scheme as director undertaking Total
HE%
BRER
ARAS
EHBAR

REZEE  FHAREN

LR g BENT ERBHEA
Name 23 #e E MigTea EERE  BHEMRE RUMEIHR RAOEH  BhRoB: h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTL  ARETR ARETL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETZ  ARETR AREFT

Executive directors HrES
Mr. Chen Zhi RERE 180 1,620 - - - - - - 1,800
Mr. Yu Shiquan RFEEE 180 720 - - 36 8 - - 944
Mr. Tsui Yiu Ming Siuming (CEO) %428 (5% : 4 /)#)

& (BEH) 217 2,89 - - - 179 - - 3292
Non-executive directors F4nES
Mr. Chen Wei Dong REREE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Ms. Chen Min Rext 120 - - - - - - - 120
Independent and BUFHAES

non-executive directors

Mr. Zhou Chang Ren AELEE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry ERREE 120 - - - - - - - 120
Mr. Cai Jianquan BRigts 120 - - - - - - - 120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION

(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
(Continued)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any

retirement benefits during the year (2017: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any

termination benefits during the year (2017: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third parties

for making available directors’ services (2017: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There is no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by and entities connected with all directors
of the Company as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

BB MR

38 EENmRER (FE (AF
RBI) (58622F ) 5E383#%
QR (HBEESMDER) RO
(B622CE)REBEMRAY
RENKE) (&)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

EERAKER
FAMEESE D EEH K EUE
RKREN(ZF—LF &) -

ESRLEREER
FA-BEEEC WK H KRR
EAREEREN(ZT—LF:
&) -

RREMESREAE=ZFXHN
HRE
RBE-ZFT-N\F+-_A=1—
BILEFE A r#ERREHRES
RBAEFAE=ZTIXNRE(ZF
—LEFE)e

FHENEE XZRSESEHN
FABERRZEEENRER

BERAZHRANER EERRH

R—_E—NEFE+-_A=+—8"#
BERANES ZARAMEBES
BRI EAEBRAAGIMBEES
MEEEBAS R ANEMER.
EERREMRGEH(ZZ—t
Fifm)o

THERARDA
=N

251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B OB IRRME

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EENERER (T8 (2F
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION kBl) (£622F) 383k -
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES RE (HEEENRER) RO
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (8622CGE)REEB LHRA
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT RENEKE) (&)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)
(Continued)

(F) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (F) EERRE ZHIAGHMEKX
arrangements or contracts =
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts A 2R B8 6F 1A {A] e i 7 8 1 1] B
in relation to the Group's business to which the RARRAEBERKET L MARA]
Company was a party and in which a director of the EXEESHAEREEARRNE
Company had a material interest, whether directly or ARG REEHEHTFE -

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any

time during the year.
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